

# Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro

Centro Biomédico Instituto de Biologia Roberto Alcantara Gomes

Bianca Butter Zorger

O papel ecológico de eventos de molhabilidade foliar na resposta de plantas à seca: Respostas funcionais entre ecossistemas e cenários climáticos

> Rio de Janeiro 2022

Bianca Butter Zorger

# O papel ecológico de eventos de molhabilidade foliar na resposta de plantas à seca: Respostas funcionais entre ecossistemas e cenários climáticos

Tese apresentada, como requisito parcial para obtenção do título de Doutora, ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Ecologia e Evolução da Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro. Área de concentração: Ecologia de Comunidades e Ecossistemas.

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Bruno Henrique Pimentel Rosado

Rio de Janeiro 2022

# CATALOGAÇÃO NA FONTE UERJ / REDE SIRIUS / BIBLIOTECA CTC-A

Z88	Zorger, Bianca Butter. O papel ecológico de eventos de molhabilidade foliar na resposta de plantas à seca: respostas funcionais entre ecossistemas e cenários climáticos / Butter Bianca Zorger – 2022. 136 f. : il.
	Orientador: Bruno Henrique Pimentel Rosado. Tese (Doutorado em Ecologia e Evolução) - Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Instituto de Biologia Roberto Alcantara Gomes.
	1. Ecologia Vegetal – Teses 2. Ecofisiologia vegetal - Teses. I. Rosado, Bruno Henrique Pimentel. II. Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro. Instituto de Biologia Roberto Alcantara Gomes. III. Título.
	CDU 581.5

Patricia Bello Meijinhos CRB7/5217 - Bibliotecária responsável pela elaboração da ficha catalográfica

Autorizo, apenas para fins acadêmicos e científicos, a reprodução total ou parcial desta tese, desde que citada a fonte

Assinatura

Data

**Bianca Butter Zorger** 

# O papel ecológico de eventos de molhabilidade foliar na resposta de plantas à seca: Respostas funcionais entre ecossistemas e cenários climáticos

Tese apresentada, como requisito parcial para obtenção do título de Doutora, ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Ecologia e Evolução da Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro. Área de concentração: Ecologia de Comunidades e Ecossistemas.

Aprovada em 24 de fevereiro de 2022.

Banca Examinadora:

Prof. Dr. Bruno Henrique Pimentel Rosado Instituto de Biologia Roberto Alcântara Gomes - UERJ

Prof. Dr. Jayme Augusto Prevedello Instituto de Biologia Roberto Alcântara Gomes - UERJ

Prof. Dr. Leandro Freitas

Instituto de Pesquisas Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro - JBRJ

Prof. Dr. Rafael Silva Oliveira Universidade Estadual de Campinas - UNICAMP

> Rio de Janeiro 2022

## DEDICATÓRIA

À minha avó Oreni por compartilhar o seu amor pelas plantas e pelo campo e a me inspirar a entender como a natureza funciona. À minha mãe Léa por ser como a água que chega no deserto permitindo que meus sonhos floresçam.

## AGRADECIMENTOS

Chegar até aqui tem sido uma longa jornada, no entanto sou muito sortuda porque durante essa caminhada de quatro anos de descobertas e aprendizado, mas também de turbulência e tortuosidade tive a oportunidade de encontrar e ter ao meu lado pessoas que tornaram a realização desse trabalho, tal como ele é agora, possível. Finalmente cheguei aqui e posso sentir os primeiros raios de sol entre as nuvens no topo da montanha.

Antes de tudo, agradeço aos órgãos de fomento por financiar e tornar possível essa pesquisa, através da concessão de bolsa de doutorado pela Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) e da bolsa nota 10 concedida pela Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (FAPERJ).

Agradeço também a equipe técnica do Parque Nacional da Tijuca (PNT) e do Parque Nacional do Itatiaia (PNI) pelo apoio logístico, receptividade e proatividade durante as visitas de campo para a coleta de amostras e de dados.

Ao meu orientador, Bruno Rosado, por aceitar me orientar e me apresentar pessoalmente essa universidade fantástica que é a UERJ. Agradeço imensamente e genuínamente por todo o suporte fornecido à mim durante o doutorado e por sempre ter se esforçado para fornecer as melhores oportunidades sempre que possível. Você é uma inspiração pra mim não só como professor e orientador, mas também pela pessoa incrível que você é.

À Imma Oliveras e a Ilaíne Silveira Matos por aceitarem contribuir com os manuscritos aqui presentes. Pela proatividade, gentileza e competência em suas contribuições.

À Cleiton Eller e Jayme Prevedello pelas importantes contribuições feitas no processo de qualificação. Essas contribuições me ajudaram a reorganizar algumas rotas para que o meu trabalho chegasse até aqui.

Aos membros titulares Jayme Prevedello, Leandro Freitas e Rafael Oliveira e também aos suplentes André Mantovani e Helena Bergallo por terem aceitado compor a banca dessa tese.

À todos os professores do departamento de ecologia da UERJ que tanto contribuíram para a minha formação acadêmica e pessoal e às técnicas Verusca e Sônia pela assistência e proatividade mesmo em tempos desfavoráveis.

Aos queridos amigos do Laboratório de Ecologia Vegetal da UERJ por junto ao Bruno oferecem um lugar amigável e prazeroso para o desenvolvimento de nossos trabalhos.

À Luiz Bondì e a Yan Nunes por dividirem o árduo trabalho de campo e principalmente de bancada comigo e por conseguirem transformar um trabalho repetitivo em algo leve e prazeroso! Vocês foram essenciais para que o capítulo das curvas fosse possível.

Agradeço imensamente a melhor parceira de doutorado que poderia ter, a Lidiane Almeida, obrigada pela proatividade, conselhos, suporte, dicas e gentileza durante todo o doutorado, tudo isso me deu força para que conseguisse chegar até aqui e espero que nossa amizade permaneça para além do doutorado.

Às incríveis alunas de IC e agora biólogas, Beatriz Prado, Andressa Cotta e Rayssa de Freitas por mesmo em meio a tantas demandas conseguirem usar o tempo de vocês para me ajudaram nos experimentos. Agradeço em especial a Andressa também pela oportunidade de aprender a orientar. Foi um prazer e um orgulho enorme coorientar você durante os nossos projetos!

À Thiago Amorim por toda contribuição na descrição de espécies e por compartilhar o seu conhecimento sobre estatística comigo.

E a todos os amigos pela contribuição seja no multiuso, nas medidas realizadas em campo ou discutindo ciência. Muito obrigada, Carol Reis, Julia Drummond, Helena Roland, Samuel Mendes, Walquiria Felipe e Yan Moraes.

Obrigada também a todos os queridos amigos mesmo aqueles longe geograficamente, mas presentes sempre que possível.

Finalmente agradeço ao Cleber e a Linda pelo amor, paciência e suporte durante esses quatro anos e durante minhas ausências. Cleber, sem o seu apoio não existiria esse trabalho. Obrigada! Obrigada a minha mãe Léa e a minha irmã Beatriz por sempre me apoiarem e estarem presentes em minha vida apesar da distância.

Several possible explanations worthy of investigation come to mind. It was decided, however, to consider only one at this time, the possibility that aerial portions of these plants take up water from the atmosphere

#### RESUMO

ZORGER, B. B. *O papel ecológico de eventos de molhabilidade foliar na resposta de plantas à seca:* respostas funcionais entre ecossistemas e cenários climáticos. 2022. 136 f. Tese (Doutorado em Ecologia e Evolução) – Instituto de Biologia Roberto Alcantara Gomes, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, 2022.

Investigar os mecanismos por trás da vulnerabilidade de organismos à seca permanece como um intrigante e crescente tópico na ecologia. No entanto, o impacto da seca, seja natural ou intensificada pelas mudanças climáticas na vegetação, é ainda focado nas flutuações na precipitação, enquanto o papel ecológico dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar (i.e. recursos complementares de água absorvidos via folha, como neblina e orvalho) é ainda negligenciado. Nesse sentido, o objetivo dessa tese foi avaliar o papel ecológico das fontes complementares de obtenção de água na vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca em diferentes ecossistemas e cenários climáticos. Para alcançar esse objetivo, no primeiro capítulo, nós avaliamos os benefícios e custos dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar em plantas, usando cinco características funcionais ecofisiológicas (i.e. potencial hídrico foliar, fotossíntese, condutância estomática, transpiração foliar e fluxo de seiva). Após a análise de 252 observações pertencentes à 45 estudos ao longo de oito fitofisionomias, identificamos que eventos de molhabilidade foliar elevam a hidratação de plantas, embora não influenciem na fotossíntese e na transpiração foliar. Adicionalmente, verificamos que a hidratação se torna menos eficiente à medida que a altitude aumenta e as chuvas fracas diminuem, sugerindo que estes fatores são importantes mediadores dos efeitos de molhabilidade foliar na vegetação. No segundo capítulo nós investigamos quais espécies de plantas, se em campos de altitude ou floresta tropical chuvosa, são mais vulneráveis à seca. Através de 13 características funcionais morfo-fisiológicas nós identificamos que plantas de floresta são mais vulneráveis à seca em relação as de campos. No entanto, apesar da maior sensibilidade à seca na floresta, ambos ambientes podem se tornar mais vulneráveis à seca nas próximas décadas, uma vez que os campos estarão menos expostos à neblina, o que já pode estar sendo experienciado com base nos poucos eventos de neblina registrados no período de estudo em campos. Por fim, no capítulo 3 se apresenta modelos paleoclimáticos com base em características funcionais de plantas que não só são capazes de reconstruir o clima passado, como podem indicar mudanças futuras na flora. Tais modelos evidenciaram que ecossistemas nebulares de altitude quando sob maior temperatura e precipitação exibiram uma maior proporção de plantas com características conservativas sugerindo que o aumento da precipitação não é capaz de minimizar os efeitos da temperatura e da altitude no modelo de estudo. Além disso, os mecanismos por trás das predições foram melhor compreendidos quando descritos por características fisiológicas. Os resultados dessa tese trouxeram evidências de que eventos de molhabilidade foliar influenciam na vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca entre ambientes e cenários climáticos, de forma que tais eventos já não devem ser negligenciados e sim considerados na avaliação de vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca e na construção de modelos climáticos mais realísticos.

Palavras-chave: Absorção hídrica foliar. Aumento da altitude da neblina. Características funcionais econômicas. Deficit de pressão de vapor. Mata atlântica. Resistência ao Embolismo. Vias de fotossíntese.

## ABSTRACT

ZORGER, B. B. *The ecological role of leaf wetting events in plant responses to drought:* functional responses between ecosystems and climate scenarios. 2022. 136 f. Tese (Doutorado em Ecologia e Evolução) – Instituto de Biologia Roberto Alcantara Gomes, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, 2022.

Investigating the mechanisms behind organism vulnerability to drought remains one intriguing and increasing topic in ecology. However, the impact of drought, natural or intensified by climate change on vegetation, is still focused on precipitation fluctuations. In this sense, the ecological role of wetting events (i.e. complementary resources of water uptake via leaves, such as fog or dew) in vegetation is still neglected. This thesis aimed to evaluate the ecological role of complementary resources of water in plant vulnerability to drought in different ecosystems and climate change scenarios. To achieve this goal, the first chapter assessed the benefits and costs of leaf wetting events in vegetation using five ecophysiological traits (i.e. leaf water potential, photosynthesis, stomatal conductance, leaf transpiration and sap flow). After analyses of 252 observations from 45 studies across eight vegetation types, we identified that leaf wetting events improved plant water status, even though that phenomenon did not influence photosynthesis and leaf transpiration. In addition, we found a progressive reduction of wetting events on plant water status with an increase of altitude and decrease of light rains, which means they were essential mediators of leaf wetting effects on vegetation. The second chapter investigated which contrasting cloud ecosystems (tropical montane forest or tropical rainforest) would be the most vulnerable vegetation to drought. Using 13 morpho-physiological traits, we found that forest plants are more sensitive to drought than grassland ones. Despite higher drought sensitivity in the forest, both environments can become more vulnerable in the future since grassland would be less exposed to fog in the following decades, based on a few fog events recorded in the study period. Finally, the third chapter showed that paleoclimatic models based on traits not only are able to reconstruct the climate in the past but also can indicate changes in vegetation in the future. Such models showed that cloud ecosystems at high altitudes under higher temperature and precipitation scenarios exhibit a higher proportion of plants with conservative traits, which suggests that an increase in precipitation cannot minimize the temperature and altitude effects in the study model. Also, we verified that the mechanisms behind the patterns found are better explained when described by ecophysiological traits. In conclusion, this thesis showed evidence that leaf wetting events influence the plant vulnerability to drought between environments and climate scenarios. In this sense, such events should not be neglected, but considered in plant vulnerability to drought evaluation and development of more realistic climate models.

Keywords: Atlantic rainforest. Fog-uplift. Foliar water uptake. Leaf economic traits. Photosynthetic pathways. Resistance to embolism. Vapour pressure déficit.

## LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

Ψ-	Potencial hídrico foliar
AB -	abaxial
AD -	adaxial
AICc -	Variante de segunda ordem do critério de informação
ANOVA –	Análise de variância
asl –	Acima do nível do mar
CAM –	Metabolismo ácido das crassuláceas
CAPES -	Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior
CI –	Intervalo de confiança
CLAMP -	Programa de analises multivariadas climático – foliar
DF –	Grau de liberdade
ECMWF-	Centro europeu para previsões do clima de média amplitude
ERA5 -	Quinta geração do "ECMWF Reanalysis"
FAPERJ –	Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro
FU –	Absorção foliar
FWU –	Absorção hídrica foliar
FWU rate –	Average rate of foliar water uptake
Gs -	Condutância estomática
INMET -	Instituto Nacional de Meteorologia
L:W-3 -4:1 -	Quatro vezes o comprimento de uma folha pela largura
LA –	Área foliar
LD –	Densidade foliar
LDMC –	Conteúdo de matéria seca na folha
LEV –	Laboratório de ecologia vegetal
Lth	Espessura foliar
LWR –	leaf water repellency
LWU -	Absorção hídrica foliar
MAP –	Média da precipitação em um ano
MAT -	Média da temperatura em um ano
MD –	Meio dia
p50 –	Potencial hídrico em que a planta perde 50% de sua condutividade hidráulica

p88 –	Potencial hídrico em que a planta perde 88% de sua condutividade hidráulica
PD –	Antes do amanhecer
pmin	Potencial mínimo (mais negativo) mensurado
PNI –	Parque Naional do Itatiaia
PNT –	Parque Nacional da Tijuca
RJ –	Rio de Janeiro
SLA –	Área foliar específica
SM –	Margem de segurança
SM50 –	Margem de segurança hidráulica a partir do p50
SM88 -	Margem de segurança hidráulica a partir do p88
SPAC –	Continuum solo – planta – atmosfera
TCMF –	Floresta tropical montana nebular
Three–DRY-	Média de precipitação nos três meses mais secos
TLP –	Potencial hídrico em que ocorre a perda de turgor na folha
UERJ -	Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro
VPD –	Déficit de pressão de vapor
WD –	Densidade da madeira

# SUMÁRIO

	INTRODUÇÃO GERAL
1	ELEVATION AND PRECIPITATION MEDIATE LEAF WETTING
	BENEFITS IN PLANTS – A GLOBAL META-ANALYSIS
1.1	Introduction
1.2	Materials and Methods
1.2.1	Literature search and data extraction
1.2.2	Effect size and selection models
1.2.3	Sensitive analyses
1.3	Results
1.3.1	Distribution of leaf wetness studies in the world
1.3.2	Leaf wetness contributes to water status of plants
1.4	Discussion
1.4.1	Future paths and gaps about leaf wetting events in plants
1.5	Conclusion
	REFERENCES
2	CLOUD ECOSYSTEMS ARE DIFFERENTLY AFFECTED BY
	DROUGHT: AN INTEGRATED APPROACH CONSIDERING PLANT
	ECONOMICS SPECTRUM, RESISTANCE TO EMBOLISM AND
	FOLIAR WATER UPTAKE
2.1	Introduction
2.2	Materials and Methods
2.2.1	Study area and species
2.2.2	Meteorological data
2.2.3	Morphological functional traits
2.2.4	Foliar Water Uptake;;
2.2.5	Leaf Water Repellency
2.2.6	Susceptibility of xylem to embolism and safety margin
2.2.7	Data analysis
2.3	Results
2.3.1	Meteorological data
2.3.2	Morphological functional traits and foliar water uptake

2.3.3	Susceptibility of xylem to embolism and safety margin	75
2.3.4	Relationships between p50/p88, stem wood density and foliar water uptake	78
2.3.5	Conservation degree of functional traits in phylogeny	78
2.4	Discussion	78
	REFERENCES	81
3	PALEOCLIMATE MODELS PREDICT THE FUNCTIONAL	
	PROFILE OF VEGETATION ON CLIMATE CHANGE	
	SCENARIOS	99
3.1	Introduction	101
3.2	Materials and Methods	104
3.2.1	Data collection	104
3.2.2	Data analyses	107
3.3	Results	108
3.4	Discussion	114
	REFERENCES	116
	CONCLUSÃO GERAL	131
	GLOSSÁRIO	134

## INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

O aquecimento global decorrente do aumento da emissão de gases estufa e poluentes atmosféricos pelo Homem, tem aumentado a frequência de ondas de calor e flutuações pluviométricas acentuadamente a partir da década de 1980 (IPCC 2021). A aceleração de tais desequilíbrios tem causado eventos climáticos extremos de diferentes intensidades e magnitudes ao redor do mundo (e.g. inundações, aumento de ondas de calor, secas prolongadas, ciclones, Knutson et al. 2010; Dai 2011; Eccles et al. 2019; IPCC 2021). Nesse ritmo são previstos desequilíbrios ainda mais intensos, onde um aumento de 1.5°C é indicado nos próximos 20 anos no cenário climático brando, enquanto um aumento em 3.3 à 5.7°C é esperado até 2100 em um cenário climático extremo (IPCC 2021). Um aumento na temperatura rápido em um curto período tem como um dos desdobramentos a rápida intensificação de secas (i.e hidrológica, agrícola, ecológica e atmosférica, Novick et al. 2016; Konapala et al. 2020; IPCC 2021) com consequências catastróficas para o mundo (e.g. desde a perda de biodiversidade à escassez de alimentos, Allen et al. 2010; Bellard et al. 2012; Tito et al. 2018).

Particularmente, nos trópicos, é esperado um aumento da intensidade de chuvas (Kao and Ganguly 2011; Lyra et al. 2018) porém, mesmo que ocorra o aumento da precipitação em determinadas regiões, esta pode ocorrer de forma sazonal, podendo ocorrer chuvas concentradas em maiores intensidades intercaladas por períodos de seca (Feng et al. 2013; Lyra et al. 2018). O aumento da intensidade e duração da estiagem associada a altas temperaturas pode não apenas aumentar a demanda evaporativa do ar resultando no aumento da transpiração vegetal, mas também estreitar o filtro ambiental associado à disponibilidade hídrica (Novick et al. 2016; Brodribb et al. 2020; Konapala et al. 2020). Tal cenário de redução na disponibilidade hídrica e aumento da transpiração foliar conduz a um aumento da tensão na coluna da água no xilema (McDowell et al. 2008; Brodribb et al. 2020) favorecendo o embolismo (i.e. ruptura na coluna dá água por formação de bolhas de ar) (Tyree e Sperry 1989). Quando essas bolhas de ar são distribuídas entre os vasos do xilema, elas impedem a chegada de água nas folhas limitando a assimilação de carbono, o que pode ocasionar a morte de indivíduos e a extinção de populações (McDowell et al. 2008; Choat et al. 2018). Dentre os desdobramentos da morte de plantas por seca existem evidências de mudanças na distribuição de espécies (Engelbrecht et al. 2007), na estruturação de comunidades (Trugman et al. 2020; Matos et al. 2020) no ciclo da água e na produtividade primária em vegetações (Boisvenue and Running 2006; Allen et al. 2010; Bruijnzeel et al. 2011).

No entanto, mesmo na ausência de precipitação, a água pode continuar entrando no sistema através da água em suspensão na atmosfera, por neblina (água em suspensão na atmosfera em relação a superfície terrestre que possui visibilidade abaixo de 1000 m), névoa (menos densa em relação a neblina, com visibilidade entre 1000 m e 11000 m) (National oceanic and atmospheric administration, 1995) ou orvalho (condensação e deposição do vapor de água em uma superfície mais fria) (Agam e Berliner 2006), além de chuvas fracas (com menos de 5 mm ver Wu et al. 2016). Tais fontes de água quando depositadas na folha ou como vapor de água podem minimizar a perda de água por transpiração através do resfriamento foliar (Monteith 1957; Monteith and Butler 1979) (1) podem umedecer o solo tornando a água disponível para as raízes superficiais através do escoamento de gotículas da folha para o solo (Baguskas et al. 2017) (2) ou podem ser absorvidas passivamente via estômato (Guzmán-Delgado et al. 2021), hidatódio (Martin and von Willert 2000), cutícula (Eller et al. 2013) ou demais estruturas epidérmicas na folha (Tan et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2016; Boanares et al. 2018; Bryant et al. 2021) (3).

A absorção de água em suspensão na atmosfera pelas folhas é mais evidente na estação seca quando os solos estão mais secos devido a menor ocorrência de chuvas (Rundel 1982). Dessa forma, as folhas se tornam menos saturadas o que favorece a entrada de água da atmosfera (mais saturada devido ao evento de molhabilidade foliar) para o mesofilo (menos saturado) devido a diferença de gradiente osmótico (Rundel 1982). Após a absorção de água pela folha (*FWU*, foliar water uptake,), a água pode voltar para a atmosfera por transpiração foliar ou ser redistribuída para os demais órgãos da planta no sentido reverso ao continuum solo – planta – atmosfera (SPAC, *soil-plant-atmosphere continuum*) (Eller et al. 2013; Goldsmith 2013; Berry et al. 2019). Enquanto a água obtida por FWU é redistribuída ela pode elevar o potencial hídrico (Schreel et al. 2019), repreencher vasos cavitados pela seca (Laur and Hacke 2014) , contribuir para manutenção da abertura estomática (Berry et al. 2014; Binks et al. 2019).

Apesar de parte dos estudos evidenciarem efeitos positivos dos eventos de molhabilidade em plantas, principalmente nos descritores do status hídrico (e.g. potencial hídrico, sap flow) (Gouvra and Grammatikopoulos 2003; Burgess and Dawson 2004; Goldsmith et al. 2013; Schreel et al. 2019), parte deles tem verificado efeitos negativos na fotossíntese (Reinhardt and Smith 2008; Berry and Goldsmith 2020). Por exemplo, estudos na

última década evidenciaram uma redução na taxa fotossintética em alguns ecossistemas, uma vez que eventos de neblina de maior densidade podem dificultar a chegada de luz na folha (Berry e Goldsmith 2020). Somado a isso a presença de água sobre a folha pode obstruir os estômatos, reduzindo a difusão de gás carbônico da atmosfera para o mesofilo (Fogg 1947; Ishibashi e Terashima 1995), o que pode comprometer a assimilação de carbono por plantas. Ainda, estudos sugerem que folhas úmidas também são mais propensas a deposição de poluentes (Burkhardt et al. 2012) e proliferação de patógenos (Arnold e Engelbrecht 2007), o que pode contribuir para maiores chances de morte em plantas.

Independente das nuances de benefícios gerados por eventos de molhabilidade, é evidente que tais eventos podem resultar em mudanças no grau de vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca, podendo trazer benefícios ou custos. Por exemplo, se duas espécies possuem o mesmo valor de p50 (potencial hídrico em que a planta perde 50% de sua condutividade hidráulica devido à cavitação por seca) (Figura 1-A, B) e, no entanto, uma delas é capaz de absorver mais água pela folha (Figura 1-B, B.2) que a outra (Figura 1-A, A.2), a planta capaz de absorver mais água pela folha seria menos vulnerável à seca, uma vez que poderia aumentar seu status hídrico (pfwu) sem depender exclusivamente da água retida no solo. Portanto, caso não considerado a performance do FWU nas plantas ambas poderiam ser categorizadas equivocadamente com similares graus de vulnerabilidade à seca (Figura 1).

Figura 1 - Representação da influência da capacidade de absorção hídrica foliar na vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca.



Legenda: Exemplo hipotético de um estudo com duas plantas A e B, onde a planta A possui uma performance insignificante de FWU, enquanto a planta B possui uma maior performance de FWU. No primeiro cenário A.1 e B.1 não foi considerado a influência de eventos de molhabilidade foliar o que resultou em uma similar vulnerabilidade à seca segundo o valor de p50. No segundo cenário foi considerado a influência dos eventos de molhabilidade em ambas as plantas. Como a planta B é capaz de um maior FWU, essa planta foi capaz de minimizar a redução do potencial hídrico impedindo que ele alcançasse o valor de p50, o que sugere que na realidade a planta B é menos vulnerável à seca que a planta A. Setas azuis indicam maior performance de FWU.pfwu significa potencial hídrico pós exposição a evento de molhabilidade foliar.

Fonte: O autor, 2022.

Em uma escala de maior complexidade biológica, a performance do FWU pode estar sujeita a estratégia ecológica predominante em um dado ecossistema. Nesse sentido, estudos recentes tem associado a capacidade de performar FWU ao espectro econômico de plantas (e.g. Matos et al. 2020) proposto por Reich (2014) com base no espectro econômico de folhas de Wright et al. (2004). Nesse espectro é possível identificar, ao longo dos gradientes de recursos (e.g. quantidade de água e nutrientes no solo) qual seria a estratégia ecológica preponderante em um determinado ecossistema (Wright et al. 2004; Reich 2014). Por exemplo, em áreas com alto teor de recursos predominam plantas com estratégias de uso rápido de recursos, o que reflete em um rápido crescimento (*fast-strategy*, Reich 2014). Tais plantas geralmente possuem características relacionadas a aquisição de recursos, como folhas finas e com maior área foliar específica (SLA, *specific leaf area*), com madeira menos densa, maior condutância estomática, investimento em eficiência hidráulica no xilema e aquisição de recursos por folha e raiz (Reich 2014; Pierce et al. 2017; Matos et al. 2020; Oliveira et al. 2021). Por outro lado, plantas que ocupam ambientes com poucos recursos, possuem o uso

lento de recursos como estratégia predominante, o que consequentemente reflete em um lento crescimento da planta (*slow-strategy*, Reich 2014) (Figura 2). A maioria dessas plantas possuem uma alta capacidade de conservar recursos em seus órgãos (i.e. folha, caule e raiz) ou mesmo minimizar a perda de recursos para o ambiente (Wright et al. 2004; Reich 2014), uma vez que exibem menor condutância estomática que as plantas de estratégia rápida (Oliveira et al. 2021). Geralmente também possuem folhas grossas e com baixo SLA, madeira densa, maior investimento em segurança hidráulica e lenta aquisição de recursos por folha (FWU) e raiz (Reich 2014; Pierce et al. 2017; Matos et al. 2020; Oliveira et al. 2021) (Figura 2). Portanto de forma geral, com base na estratégia de uso de recursos predominante em cada ecossistema, é sugerido que plantas de rápido uso de recursos sejam aquelas com maior sensibilidade à seca, enquanto as de uso lento aquelas mais resistentes à seca. Apesar dos estudos apontarem nessa direção, aspectos relacionados a influência dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar em ecossistemas permanecem pouco esclarecidos meta-analiticamente e empiricamente.

Figura 2 - Representação do espectro econômico de plantas com inclusão do FWU



Folhas grossas Maior segurança hidráulica Menor condutância estomática Menor FWU Maior SLA Folhas finas Maior eficiência hidráulica Maior condutância estomática Maior FWU

Legenda: Espécies de plantas com estratégia de lenta aquisição de recursos (em laranja, descrito por menor SLA, folhas grossas, maior investimento em segurança hidráulica e menor condutância estomática) performam menos FWU. Enquanto plantas com estratégia de rápida aquisição de recursos (em verde, descrita por maior SLA, folhas finas e maior investimento em eficiência hidráulica e condutância estomática) são capazes de performar mais FWU. Setas azuis indicam maior performance de FWU. Fonte: O autor, 2022.

Além da inclusão de eventos de molhabilidade em estudos entre ecossistemas no presente, tais eventos podem ser propostos para diferentes cenários climáticos. Modelos climáticos atmosféricos apesar de abrangentes, não consideram aspectos como eventos de neblina, muitas vezes ocorrentes em ambientes em maiores altitudes. Além da maior propensão a eventos de neblina, ecossistemas em maior altitude são sujeitos a uma maior aridez devido a maior demanda evaporativa, radiação solar, ar rarefeito e solos rasos, condições e recursos diferentes do entorno (Leuschner 2000; Körner 2007) e que podem não ser abrangidos por modelos atmosféricos. Por outro lado, modelos com base na relação clima x características funcionais são uma alternativa interessante na descrição da flora futura em regiões de elevada altitude, o que pode evitar projeções equivocadas. Um exemplo de modelos com base em clima x características funcionais são aqueles aplicados na reconstrução climática com base em características morfológicas de folhas fósseis. Dessa forma, características como tamanho e espessura da folha tem sido importantes descritoras do clima (Wolfe 1993) em estudos sobre reconstrução climática (Bailey e Sinnott 1915; Wolfe 1993; Peppe et al. 2011). Por exemplo, plantas com folhas simples, estreitas e não denteadas (com menor superfície foliar) têm sido relacionadas a ambientes mais secos ou frios (Bailey e Sinnott 1915), onde existe uma maior necessidade de conservação de agua pelas plantas devido à falta desse recurso no solo, devido à estiagem ou congelamento (Royer et al. 2012). Além disso, através do uso de características funcionais coletadas atualmente e projetadas em cenários futuros, é possível projetar quais plantas seriam mais ou menos resistentes à seca em cenários de mudanças climáticas.

Somado a isso, embora o uso de características funcionais morfológicas na descrição de respostas de plantas a mudanças ambientais no presente e como base para modelos climáticos seja muito presente na literatura, ainda existe uma incerteza se o uso de apenas características morfológicas é suficientemente robusto em previsões da flora. Isso porque características ecofisiológicas (e.g. potencial hídrico foliar, FWU, p50, condutância estomática) possuem maior especificidade em menores escalas de tempo e/ou espaço (Rosado and de Mattos 2017; Volaire 2018; Volaire et al. 2020), uma vez que capturam maiores flutuações ambientais, o que pode abranger áreas sujeitas à rápidas variações climáticas (Volaire et al. 2020), como áreas com variação altitudinal. Inclusive, apesar de dificilmente conseguirmos usar descritores ecofisiológicos para o passado, ainda que alguns autores consigam usar algumas características como proxy de características ecofisiológicas (e.g. densidade e tamanho estomático como proxy de absorção de CO2, como obervado em Roth-Nebelsick e Konrad

2019), nós podemos usar a relação proposta por modelos paleoclimáticos entre clima e características funcionais morfo-fisiológicas coletadas atualmente em projeções. Dessa forma é possível obter respostas mais precisas sobre a vulnerabilidade de plantas, também, futuramente.

Em geral, entender os potenciais efeitos dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar não só no presente, mas também na flora futura pode contribuir para o entendimento a respeito do papel ecológico dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar na vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca a médio e a longo prazo. Tal abordagem é ainda mais relevante quando considerada a predições de redução do orvalho (Tomaszkiewicz et al. 2016; Feng et al. 2021) e do aumento da altitude de nuvens em relação a superfície terrestre (Pounds et al. 1999; Still et al. 1999), o que resulta na redução do contato da neblina com a vegetação. Esse cenário poderá, junto ao aumento da temperatura global nas próximas décadas, maximizar o grau de vulnerabilidade à seca em plantas. Isso, principalmente nas plantas mais dependentes da neblina como fonte de obtenção de água, uma vez que as plantas que mais performam FWU são aquelas mais propensas a perder água para a atmosfera (Matos et al. 2020). Dessa forma, vegetações que usam eventos de molhabilidade foliar como fonte complementar de água, e especialmente as de maior altitude que enfrentam naturalmente uma maior demanda evaporativa e solos mais secos durante o ano, podem ser tornar mais vulneráveis nas próximas décadas.

Levando em consideração que as predições climáticas indicam aumento acelerado da temperatura conduzindo a formação de ondas de calor e secas de maiores duração (através da redução da precipitação, maior demanda evaporativa e aumento da altitude da neblina), essa tese trouxe como objetivo geral avaliar o papel ecológico das fontes complementares de obtenção de água na vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca em diferentes ecossistemas e cenários climáticos. Para alcançar esse objetivo, essa tese foi subdivida em três capítulos.

O primeiro capítulo se intitula "*Elevation and precipitation mediate leaf wetting benefits in plants – a global meta-analysis* e foi desenvolvido a partir da necessidade de buscar um real entendimento sobre benefícios ou prejuízos da exposição de plantas a eventos de molhabilidade foliar (i.e. neblina, névoa, orvalho ou chuvas fracas). Por meio de uma abordagem meta-analítica nós quantificamos o efeito dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar em cinco caraterísticas ecofisiológicas de plantas com base em 252 observações de 45 estudos distribuídos em oito fitofisionomias. Em seguida, nós buscamos entender os efeitos de fatores abióticos e biológicos na resposta ecofisiológica das plantas expostas a eventos de molhabilidade foliar. Finalmente, avaliamos aspectos relacionados a limitações ainda

persistentes nesse tópico, bem como propomos direcionamentos relativos a futuras pesquisas sobre o papel de eventos de molhabilidade em plantas.

O segundo capítulo intitulado "Cloud ecosystems are differently affected by drought: An integrated approach considering plant economic-spectrum, resistance to embolism and foliar water uptake" objetivou entender como pares filogenéticos de plantas ocorrentes em dois ambientes contrastantes sujeitos a eventos de neblina (uma floresta tropical acima de 700 m do nível do mar e uma área de campos de altitude acima de 2000 m do nível do mar no sudeste brasileiro) respondem à seca. Para isso nós usamos uma combinação de 13 características funcionais morfo-fisiológicas como descritores de vulnerabilidade à seca.

Finalmente o terceiro capítulo "Paleoclimate models predict the functional profile of vegetations on climate change scenarios" investigou se modelos climáticos com base em características funcionais de plantas não apenas são capazes de reconstruir o clima no passado, como também podem ser usados na previsão de mudanças climáticas. Adicionalmente, esse capítulo investigou a importância da inserção de características funcionais fisiológicas como mecanismo explicativo para mudanças na flora em cenários climáticos futuros. Nós usamos como modelo uma região de altitude (acima de 2000 m do nível do mar) no sudeste brasileiro sujeita a neblina e com condições e recursos que conferem maior aridez a esse ambiente em relação ao entorno. As características específicas desse ambiente muitas vezes podem conduzir a resultados pouco precisos por modelos atmosféricos tradicionais, e por isso, essa área foi escolhida para o emprego de um modelo com base em clima x característica funcional.

Como obervado buscamos avaliar desde a escala global até a local o grau de vulnerabilidade à seca em plantas, considerando o papel dos efeitos de fontes complementares de água na vegetação. Os dados obtidos aqui são valiosos para avançarmos no entendimento teórico sobre as respostas de plantas à seca, assim como podem ser base para modelos climáticos em uma abordagem aplicada.

## REFERÊNCIAS

Agam N, Berliner PR. 2006. Dew formation and water vapor adsorption in semi-arid environments—A review. J Arid Environ. 65(4):572–590. doi:10.1016/j.jaridenv.2005.09.004. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140196305002235.

Allen CD, Macalady AK, Chenchouni H, Bachelet D, McDowell N, Vennetier M, Kitzberger T, Rigling A, Breshears DD, Hogg EH (Ted), et al. 2010. A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. For Ecol Manage. 259(4):660–684. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2009.09.001. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S037811270900615X.

Arnold AE, Engelbrecht BMJ. 2007. Fungal endophytes nearly double minimum leaf conductance in seedlings of a neotropical tree species. J Trop Ecol. 23(3):369–372. doi:10.1017/S0266467407004038.

Baguskas SA, King JY, Fischer DT, D'Antonio CM, Still CJ. 2017. Impact of fog drip versus fog immersion on the physiology of Bishop pine saplings. Funct Plant Biol. 44(3):339. doi:10.1071/FP16234. http://www.publish.csiro.au/?paper=FP16234.

Bailey IW, Sinnott EW. 1915. A Botanical Index of Cretaceous and Terciary Climates. Science (80-). 41(1066):831–834. doi:10.1126/science.41.1066.831. http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.41.1066.831.

Begon M, Townsend CR, Harper JL. Ecologia: de indivíduos a ecossistemas. Artmed Editora; 2009.

Bellard C, Bertelsmeier C, Leadley P, Thuiller W, Courchamp F. 2012. Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. Ecol Lett. 15(4):365–377. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01736.x.

Berry ZC, Emery NC, Gotsch SG, Goldsmith GR. 2019. Foliar water uptake: Processes, pathways, and integration into plant water budgets. Plant Cell Environ. 42(2):410–423. doi:10.1111/pce.13439. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/pce.13439.

Berry ZC, Goldsmith GR. 2020. Diffuse light and wetting differentially affect tropical tree leaf photosynthesis. New Phytol. 225(1):143–153. doi:10.1111/nph.16121.

Berry ZC, White JC, Smith WK. 2014. Foliar uptake, carbon fluxes and water status are affected by the timing of daily fog in saplings from a threatened cloud forest. J Refug Stud. 34(5):459–470. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpu032.

Binks O, Mencuccini M, Rowland L, da Costa ACL, de Carvalho CJR, Bittencourt P, Eller C, Teodoro GS, Carvalho EJM, Soza A, et al. 2019. Foliar water uptake in Amazonian trees: Evidence and consequences. Glob Chang Biol. 25(8):2678–2690. doi:10.1111/gcb.14666.

Boanares D, Isaias RRMS, de Sousa HC, Kozovits AR. 2018. Strategies of leaf water uptake

based on anatomical traits. Pfautsch S, editor. Plant Biol. 20(5):848–856. doi:10.1111/plb.12832. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/plb.12832.

Brodribb TJ, Powers J, Cochard H, Choat B. 2020. Hanging by a thread? Forests and drought. Science (80-). 368(6488):261–266. doi:10.1126/science.aat7631. https://www.sciencemag.org/lookup/doi/10.1126/science.aat7631.

Bruijnzeel LA, Mulligan M, Scatena FN. 2011. Hydrometeorology of tropical montane cloud forests : emerging patterns †.

Bryant C, Fuenzalida TI, Zavafer A, Nguyen HT, Brothers N, Harris RJ, Beckett HAA, Holmlund HI, Binks O, Ball MC. 2021. Foliar water uptake via cork warts in mangroves of the Sonneratia genus.

Burgess SSO, Dawson TE. 2004. The contribution of fog to the water relations of Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don): Foliar uptake and prevention of dehydration. Plant, Cell Environ. 27(8):1023–1034. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2004.01207.x.

Burkhardt J, Basi S, Pariyar S, Hunsche M. 2012. Stomatal penetration by aqueous solutions – an update involving leaf surface particles. New Phytol. 196:774–787.

Cane MA, Braconnot P, Clement A, Gildor H, Joussaume S, Kageyama M, Khodri M, Paillard D, Tett S, Zorita E. 2006. Progress in paleoclimate modeling. Journal of Climate. Oct 15;19(20):5031-57.

Choat B, Brodribb T, Brodersen C, Duursma R, López R, Medlyn B. 2018. Triggers of tree mortality under drought drought and forest mortality. Nature. 558:531–539. doi:10.1038/s41586-018-0240-x. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0240-x.

Dai A. 2011. Drought under global warming: a review. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Chang. 2(1):45–65. doi:10.1002/wcc.81. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/wcc.81.

Dawson TE, Goldsmith GR. 2018. The value of wet leaves. New Phytol. 219(4):1156–1169. doi:10.1111/nph.15307.

Dawson TP, Jackson ST, House JI, Prentice IC, Mace GM. 2011. Beyond Predictions: Biodiversity Conservation in a Changing Climate. Science (80-). 332(6025):53–58. doi:10.1126/science.1200303. http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1200303.

Eccles R, Zhang H, Hamilton D. 2019. A review of the effects of climate change on riverine flooding in subtropical and tropical regions. J Water Clim Chang. 10(4):687–707. doi:10.2166/wcc.2019.175.

Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS. 2013. Foliar uptake of fog water and transport belowground alleviates drought effects in the cloud forest tree species, Drimys brasiliensis (Winteraceae). New Phytol. 199(1):151–162. doi:10.1111/nph.12248.

Engelbrecht BMJ, Comita LS, Condit R, Kursar TA, Tyree MT, Turner BL, Hubbell SP. 2007. Drought sensitivity shapes species distribution patterns in tropical forests. Nature. 447(7140):80–82. doi:10.1038/nature05747. http://www.nature.com/articles/nature05747.

Feng T, Zhang L, Chen Q, Ma Z, Wang H, Shangguan Z, Wang L, He JS. 2021. Dew

formation reduction in global warming experiments and the potential consequences. J Hydrol. 593(December 2020):125819. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2020.125819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2020.125819.

Feng X, Porporato A, Rodriguez-Iturbe I. 2013. Changes in rainfall seasonality in the tropics.NatClimChang.3(9):811–815.doi:10.1038/nclimate1907.http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1907.

Fogg GE, B PRSL. 1947. Quantitative Studies on the Wetting of Leaves by Water. :503–522. doi:10.1098/rspb.1947.0028.

Goldsmith GR. 2013. Changing directions: The atmosphere-plant-soil continuum. New Phytol. 199(1):4–6. doi:10.1111/nph.12332.

Goldsmith GR, Matzke NJ, Dawson TE. 2013. The incidence and implications of clouds for cloud forest plant water relations. Ecol Lett. 16(3):307–314. doi:10.1111/ele.12039.

Gouvra E, Grammatikopoulos G. 2003. Beneficial effects of direct foliar water uptake on shoot water potential of five chasmophytes. Can J Bot. 81(12):1278–1284. doi:10.1139/b03-108.

Grime JP. 2001. Plant strategies, vegetation processes, and ecosystem properties. John Wiley & Sons.

Guzmán-Delgado P, Laca E, Zwieniecki MA. 2021. Unravelling foliar water uptake pathways: The contribution of stomata and the cuticle. Plant Cell Environ. 44(6):1728–1740. doi:10.1111/pce.14041. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/pce.14041.

IPCC, 2021: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.

Ishibashi M, Terashima I. 1995. Effects of continuous leaf wetness on photosynthesis: adverse aspects of rainfall. Plant Cell Environ. 18(4):431–438. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.1995.tb00377.x.

Kao SC, Ganguly AR. 2011. Intensity, duration, and frequency of precipitation extremes under 21st-century warming scenarios. J Geophys Res Atmos. 116(16):1–14. doi:10.1029/2010JD015529.

Knutson TR, McBride JL, Chan J, Emanuel K, Holland G, Landsea C, Held I, Kossin JP, Srivastava AK, Sugi M. 2010. Tropical cyclones and climate change. Nat Geosci. 3(3):157–163. doi:10.1038/ngeo779.

Konapala G, Mishra AK, Wada Y, Mann ME. 2020. Climate change will affect global water availability through compounding changes in seasonal precipitation and evaporation. Nat Commun. 11(1):3044. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-16757-w. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16757-w.

Körner C. 2007. The use of 'altitude' in ecological research. Trends Ecol Evol. 22(11):569– 574. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2007.09.006. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0169534707002819.

Laur J, Hacke UG. 2014. Exploring P icea glauca aquaporins in the context of needle water uptake and xylem refilling. New Phytol. 203(2):388–400. doi:10.1111/nph.12806. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/nph.12806.

Lyra A, Tavares P, Chou SC, Sueiro G, Dereczynski C, Sondermann M, Silva A, Marengo J, Giarolla A. 2018. Climate change projections over three metropolitan regions in Southeast Brazil using the non-hydrostatic Eta regional climate model at 5-km resolution. Theor Appl Climatol. 132(1–2):663–682. doi:10.1007/s00704-017-2067-z. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00704-017-2067-z.

Martin CE, von Willert and DJ. 2000. Leaf Epidermal Hydathodes and the Ecophysiological Consequences of Foliar Water Uptake in Species of Crassula from the Namib Desert in Southern Africa. Plant Biol. 2(2):229–242. doi:10.1055/s-2000-9163. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1055/s-2000-9163.

Matos IS, Eller CB, Oliveras I, Mantuano D, Rosado BHP. 2020. Three eco-physiological strategies of response to drought maintain the form and function of a tropical montane grassland. J Ecol.:1365-2745.13481. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.13481. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1365-2745.13481.

McDowell N, Pockman WT, Allen CD, Breshears DD, Cobb N, Kolb T, Plaut J, Sperry J, West A, Williams DG, et al. 2008. Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? New Phytol. 178(4):719–739. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02436.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02436.x.

Monteith JL. 1957. Dew. Q J R Meteorol Soc. 83(357):322–341. doi:10.1002/qj.49708335706. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/qj.49708335706.

Monteith JL, Butler DR. 1979. Dew and thermal lag: A model for cocoa pods. Q J R Meteorol Soc. 105(443):207–215. doi:10.1002/qj.49710544313.

Novick KA, Ficklin DL, Stoy PC, Williams CA, Bohrer G, Oishi AC, Papuga SA, Blanken PD, Noormets A, Sulman BN, et al. 2016. The increasing importance of atmospheric demand for ecosystem water and carbon fluxes. Nat Clim Chang. 6(11):1023–1027. doi:10.1038/nclimate3114.

Oliveira RS, Eller CB, Barros F de V., Hirota M, Brum M, Bittencourt P. 2021. Linking plant hydraulics and the fast–slow continuum to understand resilience to drought in tropical ecosystems. New Phytol. 230(3):904–923. doi:10.1111/nph.17266. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/nph.17266.

Peppe DJ, Royer DL, Cariglino B, Oliver SY, Newman S, Leight E, Enikolopov G, Fernandez-Burgos M, Herrera F, Adams JM, et al. 2011. Sensitivity of leaf size and shape to climate: global patterns and paleoclimatic applications. New Phytol. 190(3):724–739. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03615.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03615.x.

Pierce S, Negreiros D, Cerabolini BEL, Kattge J, Díaz S, Kleyer M, Shipley B, Wright SJ, Soudzilovskaia NA, Onipchenko VG, et al. 2017. A global method for calculating plant CSR ecological strategies applied across biomes world-wide. Baltzer J, editor. Funct Ecol. 31(2):444–457. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12722. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1365-2435.12722.

Pounds JA, Fogden MPL, Campbell JH. 1999. Biological response to climate change on a tropical mountain. Nature. 398(6728):611–615. doi:10.1038/19297.

Reich PB. 2014. The world-wide "fast-slow" plant economics spectrum: A traits manifesto. J Ecol. 102(2):275–301. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12211.

Reinhardt K, Smith WK. 2008. Impacts of cloud immersion on microclimate, photosynthesis and water relations of Abies fraseri (Pursh.) Poiret in a temperate mountain cloud forest. Oecologia. 158(2):229–238. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1128-5.

Rosado BHP, de Mattos EA. 2017. On the relative importance of CSR ecological strategies and integrative traits to explain species dominance at local scales. Baltzer J, editor. Funct Ecol. 31(10):1969–1974. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12894. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1365-2435.12894.

Roth-Nebelsick A, Konrad W. 2019. Fossil leaf traits as archives for the past — and lessons for the future? Flora. 254(July):59–70. doi:10.1016/j.flora.2018.08.006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.flora.2018.08.006.

Royer DL, Peppe DJ, Wheeler EA, Niinemets Ü. 2012. Roles of climate and functional traits in controlling toothed vs. untoothed leaf margins. Am J Bot. 99(5):915–922. doi:10.3732/ajb.1100428. http://doi.wiley.com/10.3732/ajb.1100428.

Rundel PW. 1982. Water Uptake by Organs Other Than Roots. In: Physiological Plant Ecology II. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 111–134. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-68150-9\_5.

Schreel JDM, Van de Wal BAE, Hervé-Fernandez P, Boeckx P, Steppe K. 2019. Hydraulic redistribution of foliar absorbed water causes turgor-driven growth in mangrove seedlings. Plant Cell Environ.:0–2. doi:10.1111/pce.13556. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13556.

Still CJ, Foster PN, Schneider SH. 1999. Simulating the effects of climate change on tropical montane cloud forests. Nature. 398(6728):608–610. doi:10.1038/19293. http://www.nature.com/articles/19293.

Tan WK, Lin Q, Lim TM, Kumar P, Loh CS. 2013. Dynamic secretion changes in the salt glands of the mangrove tree species Avicennia officinalis in response to a changing saline environment. Plant, Cell Environ. 36(8):1410–1422. doi:10.1111/pce.12068.

Tilman D. 1982. Resource Competition and Community Structure. Princeton university press, NJ.

Tito R, Vasconcelos HL, Feeley KJ. 2018. Global climate change increases risk of crop yield losses and food insecurity in the tropical Andes. Glob Chang Biol. 24(2):42–49. doi:10.1111/gcb.13959. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jlh.12426.

Tomaszkiewicz M, Abou Najm M, Beysens D, Alameddine I, Bou Zeid E, El-Fadel M. 2016. Projected climate change impacts upon dew yield in the Mediterranean basin. Sci Total Environ. 566–567:1339–1348. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.195. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.195.

Trenberth KE, Fasullo JT, Shepherd TG. 2015. Attribution of climate extreme events. Nature Climate Change. Aug;5(8):725-30.

Trugman AT, Anderegg LDL, Shaw JD, Anderegg WRL. 2020. Trait velocities reveal that mortality has driven widespread coordinated shifts in forest hydraulic trait composition. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 117(15):8532–8538. doi:10.1073/pnas.1917521117. http://www.pnas.org/lookup/doi/10.1073/pnas.1917521117.

Tyree MT, Sperry JS. 1989. Vulnerability of Xylem to Cavitation and Embolism. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol. 40(1):19–36.

Volaire F. 2018. A unified framework of plant adaptive strategies to drought: Crossing scales and disciplines. Glob Chang Biol. 24(7):2929–2938. doi:10.1111/gcb.14062. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ijlh.12426.

Volaire F, Gleason SM, Delzon S. 2020. What do you mean "functional" in ecology? Patterns versus processes. (August):1–11. doi:10.1002/ece3.6781.

Wang X, Xiao H, Cheng Y, Ren J. 2016. Leaf epidermal water-absorbing scales and their absorption of unsaturated atmospheric water in Reaumuria soongorica, a desert plant from the northwest arid region of China. J Arid Environ. 128:17–29. doi:10.1016/j.jaridenv.2016.01.005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2016.01.005. Weiher E., Keddy PA. 2004. Ecological assembly rules, perspectives, advances, retreats. Cambridge University Press, 2004.

Wolfe J. 1993. A method of obtaining climatic parameters from leaf assemblages. https://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/b2040.

Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, Cavender-Bares J, Chapin T, Cornelissen JHC, Diemer M, et al. 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature. 428(6985):821–827. doi:10.1038/nature02403. http://www.nature.com/articles/nature02403.

Yang J, Spicer RA, Spicer TE V., Arens NC, Jacques FMB, Su T, Kennedy EM, Herman AB, Steart DC, Srivastava G, et al. 2015. Leaf form-climate relationships on the global stage: an ensemble of characters. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 24(10):1113–1125. doi:10.1111/geb.12334. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/geb.12334.

# 1 ELEVATION AND PRECIPITATION MEDIATE LEAF WETTING BENEFITS IN PLANTS – A GLOBAL META-ANALYSIS

Manuscrito a ser submetido na revista científica Ecology Letters

Bianca Butter Zorger<sup>1</sup>, Imma Oliveras<sup>2</sup>, Bruno H. P. Rosado<sup>1</sup>

 Department of Ecology, IBRAG, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (UERJ), Rua São Francisco Xavier 524, PHLC, Sala 220, Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
Environmental Change Institute, School of Geography and the Environment, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

\***Corresponding author:** Bruno H. P. Rosado, Phone: +55 123340260, Fax: +55 2123340260, email: brunorosado@gmail.com

## Abstract

Wetting events (i.e. fog, mist, dew or light rain) play a key-ecological role in nature since they are a complementary water resource via leaf uptake in plants. However, despite interest in this subject over the last decades, the actual benefits and costs of leaf wetting events in plant functioning are not clear. Our study aims (1) to evaluate the actual benefits/costs of leaf wetting to plants through five ecophysiological traits (leaf water potential, photosynthesis, sap flow, stomatal conductance, and leaf transpiration); and (2) to understand the role of elevation, mean temperature, mean precipitation, duration and type of wetting events and, photosynthetic pathways in the physiological traits exposed to wetting events. From 252 observations of 45 articles, we showed that leaf wetting increases the water status and stomatal conductance while decreasing sap flow of plants. However, contrary to expected, leaf wetting events do not affect photosynthesis and leaf transpiration. Additionally, we assessed that precipitation, elevation and wetting duration are important moderators of responses of plants exposed to wetting events and should be considered in leaf wetting studies. Finally, we suggest more studies in drylands and high environments, investigations about dew events and standardization of foliar water uptake method allowing comparisons between vegetations.

**Keywords:** cloud ecosystems, cloud-uplift, drought, ECMWF *Reanalysis*, foliar water uptake (FWU), plant vulnerability, refilling.

## 1.1 Introduction

Wetting events from atmosphere (e. g. fog, mist, dew or short rains), also called "occult precipitation" (Nicholson 1930) or horizontal precipitation (Schellekens et al. 1998), occur since desertic ecosystems (Ebner et al. 2011; Li et al. 2014) to temperate forest (Dawson 1998; Burgess and Dawson 2004; Simonin et al. 2009), mangroves (Schreel et al. 2019; Hayes et al. 2020) tropical rainforest (Zhang et al. 2014; Binks et al. 2019) and tropical montane cloud forest (TMCFs) (Goldsmith et al. 2013; Oliveira et al. 2014; Gotsch et al. 2016). Across the different environments, these events may act as complementary water source for plants via (1) indirect absorption by roots, when water droplets on leaf surface runoff and drip to soil (Ingraham and Matthews 1995; Baguskas et al. 2017); (2) leaf direct vapour absorption (Stone et al. 1950; Guzmán-Delgado et al. 2021); (3) leaf direct absorption by water deposition (Dawson 1998; Eller et al. 2013). This water deposited on the foliar surfaces may be absorbed by a variety of leaf structures, such as stomata (Emery 2016; Guzmán-Delgado et al. 2021), trichomes (Boanares et al. 2019), scales (Wang et al. 2016), cuticle (Eller et al. 2013), cork warts (Bryant et al. 2021), hydathodes (Martin and Willert 2000) and salt glands (Tan et al. 2013). After leaf absorption, water from the atmosphere can be redistributed to other organs or returned to the atmosphere by leaf transpiration. Besides leaf epidemical structures, epiphylls (organisms that grow on or into foliar surface, such as bryophytes, fungi, bacteria, liverworts sensu Ruinen 1961) may also influence the water flow of between atmosphere plant tissues (Rosado and Almeida 2020), through a higher (Burgess and Dawson 2004) or lower uptake in plants (Shirtcliffe et al. 2006) depending on their hydrophilic potential (Rosado and Almeida 2020).

Although inferences about foliar water uptake have been dated since 1727, when Hales (1727) suggested that sunflower leaves increase their weight due to foliar uptake from dew, only in 1950 Stone showed empirically FWU based on an accurate scientific method (Stone et al. 1950). Despite these findings, studies about leaf wetting events and foliar water uptake started increasing rapidly from 2000s with the development of new methodologies and climate change concerns (Fig. 1). Such efforts have resulted in several reviews publications (Dawson et al. 2018; Berry et al. 2019; Schreel and Steppe 2020) and experimental studies (Gouvra and Grammatikopoulos 2003; Burgess and Dawson 2004; Eller et al. 2013; Cavallaro et al. 2020); which provided evidence of FWU in six biomes, 77 families and 233 species (Berry et al. 2019) so far. However, although the studies about leaf wetting have

increased rapidly over the literature and some hypotheses about costs and benefits of FWU to plants have been discussed (Dawson and Goldsmith 2018), there is still an unclear consensus about the actual contribution of leaf wetting on plant responses.

Studies performed in the last decades have shown beneficial effects of leaf wetting, such as an increase in water status (Limm et al. 2009; Schreel et al. 2019), via water drip (also called fog drip) (Baguskas et al. 2017) and via FWU followed by hydraulic redistribution toward other plant organs (Nadezhdina et al. 2010; Eller et al. 2013) colling down and increasing of photosynthesis in species (Berry et al. 2014; Berry et al. 2019) and gross primary productivity in ecosystem level (Binks et al. 2019). Although the leaf wetness effects in plant water status seem clear in the literature, they are still unclear in photosynthesis, where studies have also shown costs (Letts and Mulligan 2005; Reinhardt and Smith 2008; Berry and Goldsmith 2020). Fog/mist/dew decreases light availability for leaves lowering photosynthesis (Parkhurst and Loucks 1972; Berry and Goldsmith 2020). In addition, CO2 assimilation into the leaves is slow due to water film covering the stomata (Parkhurst and Loucks 1972), reducing the photosynthesis rate. Moreover, wetted leaves may be prone to pathogens growth (Arnold and Engelbrecht 2007) and pollute deposition (Burkhardt et al. 2012), which may decrease plant fitness in a given environment (Rosado and Almeida 2020)

Besides the plant responses per se, an arrange of factors could mediate the difference among responses of plants to wetting events, such as climate factors (precipitation, temperature), topography (elevation), type (fog, mist, dew, and short rain) and characteristics of wetting events (duration, intensity and frequency) and biological traits (e.g. leaf and root traits, photosynthetic pathways) (Berry et al. 2014; Dawson and Goldsmith 2018; Berry et al. 2019; Boanares et al. 2019; Cavallaro et al. 2020). For example, vegetation under higher solar radiation, temperature and low precipitation might have a higher foliar water uptake by wetting events than others vegetations, mostly in a via regardless of stomata opening control (e.g. cuticle, trichomes, etc.). More restrictive conditions and limited resources make the soils drier and decrease the water potential in the leaves, while the occurrence of wetting events increase air humidity around leaves. These changes in leaf water potential of atmosphere and leaves provide a reverse gradient to the soil-plant-atmosphere (Berry et al. 2019), which means a reverse water flow from the atmosphere (more positive water potential) into leaf (more negative water potential) (Berry et al. 2019). On the other hand, wetting events in rainy environments could result in a low difference between leaf and atmosphere, which decreases the foliar water uptake. The elevation is also a possible factor of FWU mediation since it relates to higher VPD, solar exposure, inclination, runoff, and shallow soils (Körner 2007;

Antonelli et al. 2018) which may cause a higher difference in the leaf-atmosphere gradient and reflect a higher FWU. And, if the wetting events exhibit a higher duration and intensity this effect could be maximized in nature.

Finally, the photosynthetic pathways (C3, C4 and CAM), could mediate FWU effects, through different ways of stomata control with consequences in the water-saving. Plants CAM could perform less FWU by wetting events once these plants save more water and open the stomata to CO2 uptake only during the night when the conditions are more favourable. In contrast, C3 could perform more FWU since these plants need higher CO2 entering the mesophyll to compensate photorespiration effects (a wasteful via based on enzyme rubisco preference in part by oxygen than CO2) (Keeley and Rundel 2003; Taiz & Zeiger 2004) and need to open the stomata, while loss water to atmosphere simultaneously. Differently, C4 could save more water than C3 but less than CAM. C4 have a mechanism of CO2 fixation spatially different, which avoid photorespiration and save more water due to lesser need for CO2 uptake via stomata. However, C4 opens the stomata during the day, such as C3, when needed (Keeley and Rundel 2003; Taiz & Zeiger 2004) losing water. Other biological factors could mediate the foliar water uptake (e.g. leaf traits, deep roots), as have been shown in previous studies (Boanares et al. 2019; Cavallaro et al. 2020), however there is still a small dataset for these types of traits in the literature.

Overall, the main goal of this study was to advance in the topic "how beneficial are wetting events to plants?". To achieve it, we used a meta-analysis approach, where it is possible to make quantitative comparisons between studies worldwide, considering the heterogeneity between them. Through this approach, we especifically sought (1) to evaluate which are benefits and costs of leaf wetting events (fog, mist, and dew) to plants and their respective magnitudes; (2) to discuss the main factors that mediate plant responses to leaf wetting events; and (3) to discuss methodological limitations and future directions in this topic. Especifically, we used five ecophysiological traits related to water use in plants (i.e. leaf water potential, photosynthesis, stomatal conductance, sap flow and leaf transpiration) as descriptors of cost and benefit of plant responses. Besides, we explored climate, topographical, leaf wetting events and biological factors that could influence the effect of leaf wetting events in plants. This approach becomes more needed when considering the cloud-uplift from Earth, as predicted by climate models which reduce the contact between fog/mist and vegetations in high altitudes (Pounds et al. 1999; Still et al. 1999). It, combined with a decrease in dew events (Tomaszkiewicz et al. 2016; Feng et al. 2021), makes an opportunity

to evaluate wetting event ecological role in plants and the possible consequences of their effectiveness in a hotter and drier world (IPCC 2021).

### **1.2 Materials and Methods**

## 1.2.1 Literature search and data extraction

We searched peer reviewed articles published between 1950-2020 (until July 29<sup>th</sup>) using the classic interface of Web of Science database (https://www.webofknowledge.com). On Web of Science, we used the keyword combinations (fog\* OR mist\* OR dew\* OR wet\* OR rain\*) AND (lwu OR fu OR fwu OR "leaf water uptake" OR "foliar water uptake" OR "leaf wet\*" OR "foliar absorption" OR "leaf absorption") AND (plant\* OR tree\* OR herb\* OR shrub\* OR grass\* OR epiphyte\*). These keywords were searched in abstract, title and in the abstract keyword. Subsequently, we refined the articles by idiom (English) and by document type (Original Article). We chose the year 1950 to start our research due to Stone's article published in this year (Stone et al. 1950), where was evaluated foliar water uptake from water in suspension in atmosphere through an experiment with plants of shrublands in California, USA (Stone 1950). Dew (condensation of water vapour on a colder surface), as well as fog (water in suspension in the atmosphere characterized by visibility below 1000 m) and mist (less dense than fog, characterized by visibility between 1000 m and 11000 m) (National oceanic and atmospheric administration, 1995, Agam and Berliner 2006), all three wetting events are related to saturated air mass that condense on a colder surface forming droplets (Stone 1957; Goldsmith et al. 2013). These wetting events, in addition to short rains (<5mm), are intercepted by leaves but, they do not usually reach root zone in soil (Wu et al. 2016). The droplets on leaf surface may be also uptake by leaf mostly in dry season, when the precipitation is less frequent. Aiming to obtain a higher range in our search, we used all those events in the literature search.

In the first collection, we obtained 579 articles on Web of Science platform. Secondly, we selected studies with (1) native and vascular species (2) with plant ecophysiological responses to leaf wetting events information and (3) mean, standard deviation (SD) and sample number (N) available. When data of criterion 3 was not available in the article, we

contacted the author correspondent to complete our database. After used the selection criteria, we obtained a total of 45 articles and 252 observations across eight vegetation types. When we analysed these articles A) In case of treatments with different wetting exposure, duration, and frequency we chose the one with higher duration and/or intensity/frequency and, B) In case of plants measured during many months we chose the month under conditions more restricted, C) Experimental and in-situ studies were selected in this meta-analysis, D) We only used observations that show the actual exposure of plants to leaf wetting events (not in potential or suggested). Regarding sap flow, we measured the difference between begin (about 12 AM) and end (we considered the up of pulse usually in midday) of each sap flow pulse from image available of studies. Pulses in which there were not wetting events were considered control and pulses during wetting events were considered treatment. In this sense, a negative effect in sap flow means smaller water pulses when the plants are exposed to wetting events, which indicates a decrease in sap flow when leaves are wetted. The numbers of pulses in control and treatment corresponded to number sample (N).

Besides wetting events *per se* other factors can influence how plants respond to wetting events, which include the capacity of performer FWU. Because of this, for each study, we chose climate (mean precipitation, mean temperature), topographic (elevation), wetting (type and duration of wetting events) and biologic variables (photosynthetic pathways) as moderators, totalling six moderators. All climate variables, except elevation, were directly downloaded from the ERA5 land reanalysis product (~ 9 km; ECMWF, 2019) from coordinates and moment/period of measurement of a given variable. We extracted elevation from articles and when this variable was not available in the studies, we obtained it through geoplaner (https://www.geoplaner.com/). In addition, the 2 variables linked to wetting events, type of wetting events (fog, mist, dew, or short rain) and leaf wetting duration in minutes and the biological variable correspondent to photosynthetic pathways (C3, C4 or CAM) were extracted from studies.

## 1.2.2 Effect size and selection models

We calculated the effect size of leaf wetness events in plants through Hedge's d that consider the difference between control and treatment means, standardized by the standard deviation (SD) and the sample size (N). Results of studies that used standard error as a measure of dispersion were transformed in SD before running effect size analysis. Hedge's d is an index that ranges from  $-\infty$  to  $+\infty$ . For example, in our study, a Hedge's d (-) means the negative influence of wetting events in ecophysiological responses of plants, while Hedge's d (+) means a positive effect in the traits. When the value is zero, there is no wetting event influence in the trait investigated. As this index consider SD and N, a higher weight is given to more precise studies. When the data were available only on figures, we used the ImageJ software v1.53a for data extraction. When the authors used a sample interval instead of the exact value to each set of species, we chose the intermediated value to effect size calculation. Hedge's d mean effect size was computed using random effects to each trait.

To understand how moderators could mediate the wetting events in plants, we used selection models (Burnhan & Anderson 2002). Firstly we fitted based on the eight moderators investigated (mean temperature, mean precipitation, elevation, duration and type of event and photosynthetic pathways). Secondly, we extracted the most important moderators from all models generated. In this case, more important moderators have a higher weight based on the sum of Akaike weights and appear more times in the set of models built. Moderators that crossed the red line in 0.8 are considered important for our study. We ran these analyses using "Metafor" and "Glmulti" Package on the R software version 4.1.0.

### 1.2.3 Sensitive analyses

We ran sensitives analyses to assess publication and locality bias e potential outliers in our database to avoid misleading results (see Appendix S2).

### 1.3 Results

#### 1.3.1 Distribution of leaf wetness studies in the world
Most studies were carried out on forests (69% of studies ), among Temperate forests (40%, 22 studies) and Tropical and Subtropical forests (29%, 16 studies) (Fig. 1). Desert and shrubland totalling 18%, ten studies. All other ecosystems (Grasslands, Mediterranean and Mangrove) exhibited a percentage of 13% together (Fig. 1). Studies about leaf wetness effects are supported mainly by the USA (46.7%, 21 studies), followed by Brazil (15.5%, seven studies) and China (8.8%, four studies), among a total of 13 countries. Data based on the first author.



Figure 1 – Distribution of leaf wetness studies in the world

Source: The author, 2022.

Despite interest increasing in this subject, we found different methods to measure foliar water uptake and their modifications over the years. The method more used in our database was based on changes in leaf water potential (11 studies), followed by changes in leaf mass (9 studies), sap flow (5 studies) and stable isotopes (3 studies) of a total of 28 studies. As field conditions can show a variety of factors, we did not consider leaf water potential as FWU measuring in our study. Among studies, some of them sought to understand the fog/dew/mist effect via chamber experiment (Berry et al. 2014; Emery 2016), experimental rains (Wu et al. 2016; Binks et al. 2019; Schreel et al. 2019) and the immersion in distilled water (in this case obtaining the maximum capacity of water uptake by leaves). The last one has been applied in the mass and in potential change methods (Limm et al. 2009; Goldsmith et al. 2013; Gotsch et al. 2015; Holanda et al. 2019). However, few studies sought to understand the dew effect, only two studies (a study of Pina et *al.* 2016) in a dry forest in Brazil and another one in a desert in China (Zhuang and Ratcliffe 2012).

## 1.3.2 Leaf wetness contributes to water status of plants

Leaf wetting events exerted a positive effect in leaf water potential (n = 98, mean = 2.06, CI = 1.55-2.46, p = <.0001, AICc = 479.69) and stomatal conductance (n = 57, mean = 0.53, CI = 0.20 - 0.86, p = 0.001, AICc = 198.62) as our expectations, but surprisingly exerted a negative effect in sap flow (n = 19, mean = -1.45, CI = -2.57 - 0.33, p = 0.01, AICc = 100.02). Besides photosynthesis and leaf transpiration were not affected by leaf wetting events (n = 37, mean = 0.82, CI = -0.99 - 2.63, p = 0.37 =, AICc = 242.31; n = 39, mean = 0.17, CI = -1.26 - 1.60, p = 0.82, AICc = 240.33, respectively) (Fig. 2). Overall, these results indicate a water status improved when plants are exposed to wetting events.



#### Figure 2 - Effect size of leaf wetting events in the ecophysiological traits of plants

Legend: Hedge's d effect size of leaf wetting events about leaf water potential, photosynthesis, stomatal conductance, sap flow and transpiration of vascular plants in the world. Variable followed by the number of observations. Source: The author, 2022.

All variables showed high heterogeneity. Photosynthesis was the most heterogeneous trait (99.33% of heterogeny), followed by leaf transpiration (96.80%), leaf water potential 94.14%, sap flow 86.38% and stomatal conductance 76.33%. The selection model showed that climate, topography, and wetting moderator categories explain heterogeneity observed in the plant ecophysiological traits exposed to wetting events. Among of moderators' precipitation, elevation and duration were the most important (Fig. 3) to explain the data heterogeneity. While mean precipitation contributed positively to leaf water potential, elevation contributed negatively to leaf water potential and photosynthesis. Besides elevation, leaf wetting duration also affected photosynthesis negatively. Stomatal conductance was not affected by moderators. We did not find moderators' contributions to sap flow and transpiration due to few data available over literature to use moderator analyses.

Figure 3 – Model-averaged of importance of the terms to ecophysiological traits with higher sample size



Legend: Importance of elevation, mean temperature (Temperature), mean precipitation (MeanPrec), duration of leaf wetting event (duration), type of leaf wetting event (Event) and photosynthetic pathways (PhotoVia) in (a) leaf water potential (b) photosynthesis and (c) stomatal conductance in plants exposed to wetting events at a global level assessed through model-averaged of the importance of terms. Highers bars include the factors included in a major number of models and consequently have a higher weight by AICc. Moderators that cross the red line (0.8) are considered important mediators of ecophysiological traits exposed to wetting events. There is no difference between PhotoVia and stomatal conductance samples. Hence the variable was omitted in the photosynthesis and stomatal conductance models.

## Source: The author, 2022.

## 1.4 Discussion

Our meta-analysis showed that leaf wetting events increase leaf water potential and stomatal conductance while decreasing the sap flow, which suggests a positive contribution to water status in plants. However, leaf wetting events do not affect photosynthesis and leaf transpiration in plants, different from the positive (Eller et al. 2013; Berry et al. 2014) or negative expectations of some studies (Gotsch et al. 2016; Berry and Goldsmith 2020), but according to Dawson and Goldsmith (2018). Precipitation, elevation, and wetting duration were important mediators of responses of plants and should be considered in studies about this topic. Additionally, we concluded there are few studies in dry ecosystems despite increasing interest in leaf wetting in the last 20 years. Also, few studies use dew as a leaf wetting event. Using different foliar water uptake measuring methodologies is still a challenge to vegetation comparisons.

A higher stomatal conductance in plants exposed to wetting events can be explained by higher water flow from the atmosphere (more saturated due to wetting events) to guard cells (less saturated due to drying soils), which lead to guard cell expanding, causing stomata opening. Hence, the stomata opening allows an increase in water flow, from water deposited on the leaf or as vapour (Berry et al. 2019) into mesophyll, causing an increase in leaf water potential in plants. However, different from our expectations, sap flow decreased during leaf wetting events. This result can be explained by a higher part of water absorbed by leaves being returned to the atmosphere by leaf transpiration (Berry et al. 2019). Another one is distributed to mesophyll and terminal branches, filling the capacitance of plant tissues (Burgess and Dawson 2004). In this way, when the water from FWU achieves the stems, where the sap flow sensors are localized, it is with a low magnitude, as Burgess and Dawson (2004) pointed out in their study with redwoods. Besides that, a low magnitude was found in different ecosystems such as temperate (5-7%, Burgess and Dawson 2004), drylands (10%; Li et al. 2014), subtropical (1-10% Cassana et al. 2016) and tropical rainforest (25%, Eller et al. 2013). It can be common even in different vegetation. Therefore, despite most plants exhibiting water status improved due to FWU in leaves and potentially in terminal branches, a smaller amount of water from FWU seems to be redistributed until stem and hence roots in most species.

Despite no influence of moderators in stomatal conductance, the leaf water potential ranged in magnitude when considering precipitation and elevation (Fig. 2). Plants located in high elevations and exposed to few short-rains (e.g. drizzly and slights orography rains) were less positively affected in their leaf water potential (Fig 2). Higher elevations are environments with shallow soils, rain seasonality, VPD and solar exposure, conditions that cause water loss to the atmosphere via cuticle, decreasing the leaf water potential. Besides that, when higher elevations are combined with few short-rains (about 0.003), the plants become less wetted. As a result, they could maintain their stomata close, which contributes to a lesser FWU when considered stomata via minimizing FWU magnitude effect. In this sense, the water absorbed from FWU could not compensate for negative values of leaf water potential in those plants at higher altitudes prone to short and low rains. This condition is more common in plants with thin leaves since they lose and gain water faster than thicker leaves (Boanares et al. 2019). However, there are many species with thicker leaves with wax (Körner et al. 1989). In plants with this characteristic, a lesser performance of FWU is expected due to higher leaf capacitance, which reduces the leaf-atmosphere gradient (Gotsch et al. 2015) and hydrophobic wax on leaves (Körner et al. 1989). Therefore, a higher altitude and few short-rains can reduce the leaf water potential benefit in plants even with different types of leaves in the vegetation.

Elevation also reduced photosynthesis under wetting events scenarios similar to leaf water potential. An explanation is that plants under higher elevations were often prone to fog or mist events in our database, which reduces the light that arrives on the leaf surface of plants, decreasing photosynthesis (Berry and Goldsmith 2020). In addition, the water in suspension is often deposited on the leaf surface, reducing carbon dioxide diffusion into leaves (Brewer and Smith 1997; Smith and Mcclean 2011; Holder 2012), resulting in lower photosynthesis (Letts and Mulligan 2005b; Reinhardt and Smith 2008). This negative effect in photosynthesis is maximized when the leaf wetting event duration is long since plants remain more time with obstructed stomata and lower light arriving on the leaf surface. On the other hand, plants in lower elevations and prone to shorter leaf wetting events can be beneficed once the wetting event waters the vegetation but does not reduce the CO2 entering by stomata or the light arriving on leaves. The influence of a high variety of elevations and leaf wetting duration in our database in photosynthesis can have contributed to a neutral response of wetting events in this variable. For example, we observed in our database plants in low altitudes exposed to long periods of leaf wetting events and plants in high altitudes exposed to short leaf wetting events.

Despite few of our data having enough information about moderators, we speculated about the potential effect of mediators in sap flow and leaf transpiration. For example, different duration and frequencies of wetting events in plants can cause different sap flows. Evidence is observed in Cassana et al. (2016), in which on the first day, there was a lower sap flow (only 1% of the maximum sap flow), and after 35 days, a higher sap flow was observed (about 10% of the maximum sap flow). Based on (Burgess and Dawson (2004), we speculated that the first wetting event could be used to refill embolized vessels and increase the capacitance over the days could be used to improve the sap flow. Besides that, this trait could be affected by the high of plants. Most studies with sap flow were done in trees (Burgess and Dawson 2004; Nadezhdina et al. 2010; Moore et al. 2018) with sap flow sensors in the stem. Therefore, it could cause a low magnitude of sap flow recorded. Regarding leaf transpiration, when plants are not exposed to wetting events, they possibly close their stomata to minimize the water loss, reducing the leaf transpiration (Alvarado-Barrientos et al. 2014). Similarly, leaf transpiration can remain low during leaf wetting events since plants do not need to cool down via leaf transpiration because leaf wetting reduces leaf temperature. Therefore, both scenarios can provide similar transpiration rates between plants exposed or not to wetting events, which cause a neutral effect of leaf wetting events in plants.

Although in low magnitude and prone to climate, topography and wetness mediators, the contribution from wetting events via FWU, remains important to whole-plant and vegetation. According to the magnitude of contribution, plants could be benefited at a leaf

level through cellular growth (Schreel et al. 2019), stomatal opening (Berry et al. 2014) and vessel refilling (Laur and Hacke 2014), which could be reflected in other levels of biological complexity. In this sense, the contribution to vessel refilling might contribute to avoiding hydraulic failure (one of the main processes behind plant mortality, McDowell et al. 2008), being a process that could impact predictions about the vulnerability of plants to drought with consequences in the biodiversity and ecosystem services (Klein et al. 2018). For example, FWU can contribute to 8% of the productivity of plants (Binks et al. 2019) as well as fog-drip contributes to higher soil moisture in until 40% achieving 15 cm in the soil deep, which can contribute to buffer drought effects in plants, especially during dry seasons (Carbone et al. 2013; Baguskas et al. 2017).

## 1.4.1 Future paths and gaps in leaf wetting events in plants

Considering FWU importance, we suggest more studies in high elevations (e.g. páramos, punas, tropical montane grasslands, alps) and drylands (dry forest and savannas) and deserts since most studies are concentrated in temperate ecosystems and tropical rainforest. As demonstrated in our study, environments in higher elevations exhibit difficulty coping with drought because of a set of conditions that make these vegetations susceptible to drought. Although many studies have been carried out in higher elevations, most of them were developed in the tropical cloud montane forests (TCMFs) (Eller et al. 2013; Gotsch et al. 2015; Darby et al. 2016; Aparecido et al. 2017; Berry and Goldsmith 2020), while other higher elevations ecosystems are still few explored.

Such environments are endemic spots and provide important resources for society (e.g. water source, carbon allocation, tourism) (Bruijnzeel 1998; Safford 1999; Palomo 2017). Moreover, the contribution of leaf wetting for those plants could provide data to a better understanding of vulnerability to drought and their effects on the vegetation. Similarly, environment extra-forest, such as desert and drylands under low and seasonal precipitation and land use than rainforest, is less studied, although occurring in most tropics (Murphy and Lugo 1986; Pennington et al. 2018). Such ecosystems are valorous to agriculture, and many families depend on them to survive (Murphy and Lugo 1986). Besides that, drylands and

highlands are rich in endemic species (Banda-R, Karina et al. 2016), being important environments to society and biodiversity.

Another point is, while fog and short rains have increased researchers' attention, dew is still less explored in literature. Studying dew could give us insights into foliar water uptake in areas with no occurrence of fog and during periods of drought. Besides, dew is a global phenomenon, so all ecosystems are prone to uptake water from dew. Lastly, we reinforce the importance of a standardized method to FWU measure. Our study described four methods used regardless of species, making difficult comparisons between studies. We support the use of a standardized method from now on, being the method of changes in mass a good choice because it allows handling a higher number of samples. Furthermore, it is the cheapest method among all methods reported, which could become FWU measure more popular to labs with few resources. Considering FWU's importance, we suggest more studies in high elevations (e.g. páramos, punas, tropical montane grasslands, alps) and drylands (dry forest and savannas) and deserts since most studies are concentrated in temperate ecosystems and tropical rainforest. As demonstrated in our research, environments in higher elevations exhibit difficulty coping with drought because of conditions that make these vegetations susceptible to drought. Although many studies have been carried out in higher elevations environments, most were developed in the tropical cloud montane forests (TCMFs) (Eller et al. 2013; Gotsch et al. 2015; Aparecido et al. 2017; Berry and Goldsmith 2020), while other higher elevations ecosystems are still few explored.

## 1.5 Conclusion

In 1950 Stone suggested that water in suspension from the atmosphere play an important ecological role across vegetation. However, most studies have been developed only in the last two decades, and so far, many incongruences about plant responses have been observed in the literature. Therefore, we contributed with evidence that FWU is beneficial for plants when improving their water status, as well as this effect is mediated by elevation and precipitation.

These findings show the importance of considering foliar water uptake in studies and predictions about the effect of environmental factors on plants. Such results can make patterns

more realistic in future studies about climate change effects in vegetation. Despite leaf water uptake mainly contributing to leaf-level, such contributions (e.g. resistance to cavitation and stomatal control) can cause effects in community structure and ecosystems services. In a world each day hotter and prone to a reduction of water input (by precipitation, dew and cloud-uplift), we hope this article contributes to untangling responses of plants to leaf wetness considering environmental factors mediating these responses. Besides that, we hope this meta-analysis helps other researchers to focus on the gaps, considering standardized methods and ecosystems still few explored.

## Acknowledgements

This paper is part of PhD thesis of BBZ. We are thankful to Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (Capes) (Finance code 88882.182450/2018-01) and Faperj nota 10 (Finance code E-26/200.368/2020) for her scholarship. BHPR was supported by Faperj (Bolsa Jovem Cientista do Nosso Estado-Faperj; E-26/202.722/2019) and Prociencia Program (UERJ). We do not have conflict of interest.

## REFERENCES

Agam N, Berliner PR. 2006. Dew formation and water vapor adsorption in semi-arid environments—A review. J Arid Environ. 65(4):572–590. doi:10.1016/j.jaridenv.2005.09.004. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140196305002235.

Alvarado-Barrientos MS, Holwerda F, Asbjornsen H, Dawson TE, Bruijnzeel LA. 2014. Suppression of transpiration due to cloud immersion in a seasonally dry Mexican weeping pine plantation. Agric For Meteorol. 186:12–25. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.11.002. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.11.002.

Aparecido LMT, Miller GR, Cahill AT, Moore GW. 2017. Leaf surface traits and water storage retention a ff ect photosynthetic responses to leaf surface wetness among wet tropical forest and semiarid savanna plants. :1–16. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpx092.

Arnold AE, Engelbrecht BMJ. 2007. Fungal endophytes nearly double minimum leaf

conductance in seedlings of a neotropical tree species. J Trop Ecol. 23(3):369–372. doi:10.1017/S0266467407004038.

Baguskas SA, King JY, Fischer DT, D'Antonio CM, Still CJ. 2017. Impact of fog drip versus fog immersion on the physiology of Bishop pine saplings. Funct Plant Biol. 44(3):339. doi:10.1071/FP16234. http://www.publish.csiro.au/?paper=FP16234.

Banda-R, Karina, Delgado-Salinas, Alfonso, Dexter, Kyle G., Linares-Palomino, Reynaldo, Oliveira-Filho, Ary, Prado, Pullan M, Quintana C, Ricarda R. 2016. Plant diversity patterns in neotropical dry forests and their conservation implications. Science (80-). 353(September). doi:10.1126/science.aaf5080.

Berry ZC, Emery NC, Gotsch SG, Goldsmith GR. 2019. Foliar water uptake: Processes, pathways, and integration into plant water budgets. Plant Cell Environ. 42(2):410–423. doi:10.1111/pce.13439. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/pce.13439.

Berry ZC, Goldsmith GR. 2020. Diffuse light and wetting differentially affect tropical tree leaf photosynthesis. New Phytol. 225(1):143–153. doi:10.1111/nph.16121.

Berry ZC, White JC, Smith WK. 2014. Foliar uptake, carbon fluxes and water status are affected by the timing of daily fog in saplings from a threatened cloud forest. J Refug Stud. 34(5):459–470. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpu032.

Binks O, Mencuccini M, Rowland L, da Costa ACL, de Carvalho CJR, Bittencourt P, Eller C, Teodoro GS, Carvalho EJM, Soza A, et al. 2019. Foliar water uptake in Amazonian trees: Evidence and consequences. Glob Chang Biol. 25(8):2678–2690. doi:10.1111/gcb.14666.

Boanares D, Kozovits AR, Lemos-Filho JP, Isaias RMS, Solar RRR, Duarte AA, Vilas-Boas T, França MGC. 2019. Foliar water-uptake strategies are related to leaf water status and gas exchange in plants from a ferruginous rupestrian field. Am J Bot. 106(7):ajb2.1322. doi:doi.org/10.1002/ajb2.1322. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajb2.1322.

Brewer CA, Smith WK. 1997. Patterns of leaf surface wetness for montane and subalpine plants. Plant, Cell Environ. 20(1):1–11. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3040.1997.d01-15.x.

Bruijnzeel LA. 1998. Climatic conditions and tropical, montane forest productivity: The fog has not lifted yet. The Structure and Functioning of Montane Tropical Forests: Control by Climate, Soils, and Disturbance. Ecology. 79(3):3–9. doi:10.1890/0012-9658(1998)079[0003:CCATMF]2.0.CO;2.

Bryant C, Fuenzalida TI, Zavafer A, Nguyen HT, Brothers N, Harris RJ, Beckett HAA, Holmlund HI, Binks O, Ball MC. 2021. Foliar water uptake via cork warts in mangroves of the Sonneratia genus.

Burgess SSO, Dawson TE. 2004. The contribution of fog to the water relations of Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don): Foliar uptake and prevention of dehydration. Plant, Cell Environ. 27(8):1023–1034. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2004.01207.x.

Burkhardt J, Basi S, Pariyar S, Hunsche M. 2012. Stomatal penetration by aqueous solutions – an update involving leaf surface particles. New Phytol. 196:774–787.

Carbone MS, Park Williams A, Ambrose AR, Boot CM, Bradley ES, Dawson TE, Schaeffer

SM, Schimel JP, Still CJ. 2013. Cloud shading and fog drip influence the metabolism of a coastal pine ecosystem. Glob Chang Biol. 19(2):484–497. doi:10.1111/gcb.12054.

Cassana FF, Eller CB, Oliveira RS, Dillenburg LR. 2016. Effects of soil water availability on foliar water uptake of Araucaria angustifolia. Plant Soil. 399(1–2):147–157. doi:10.1007/s11104-015-2685-0.

Cavallaro A, Carbonell Silleta L, Pereyra DA, Goldstein G, Scholz FG, Bucci SJ. 2020. Foliar water uptake in arid ecosystems: seasonal variability and ecophysiological consequences. Oecologia. 193(2):337–348. doi:10.1007/s00442-020-04673-1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04673-1.

Darby A, Draguljic D, Glunk A, Gotsch SG. 2016. Habitat moisture is an important driver of patterns of sap flow and water balance in tropical montane cloud forest epiphytes. :357–371. doi:10.1007/s00442-016-3659-5.

Dawson TE. 1998. Fog in the California redwood forest: ecosystem inputs and use by plants.Oecologia.117(4):476–485.doi:10.1007/s004420050683.http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s004420050683.

Dawson TE, Goldsmith GR. 2018. The value of wet leaves. New Phytol. 219(4):1156–1169. doi:10.1111/nph.15307.

Ebner M, Miranda T, Roth-Nebelsick A. 2011. Efficient fog harvesting by Stipagrostis sabulicola (Namib dune bushman grass). J Arid Environ. 75(6):524–531. doi:10.1016/j.jaridenv.2011.01.004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2011.01.004.

Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS. 2013. Foliar uptake of fog water and transport belowground alleviates drought effects in the cloud forest tree species, Drimys brasiliensis (Winteraceae). New Phytol. 199(1):151–162. doi:10.1111/nph.12248.

Emery NC. 2016. Foliar uptake of fog in coastal California shrub species. Oecologia. 182(3):731–742. doi:10.1007/s00442-016-3712-4.

Feng T, Zhang L, Chen Q, Ma Z, Wang H, Shangguan Z, Wang L, He JS. 2021. Dew formation reduction in global warming experiments and the potential consequences. J Hydrol. 593(December 2020):125819. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2020.125819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2020.125819.

Goldsmith GR, Matzke NJ, Dawson TE. 2013. The incidence and implications of clouds for cloud forest plant water relations. Ecol Lett. 16(3):307–314. doi:10.1111/ele.12039.

Gotsch SG, Asbjornsen H, Goldsmith GR. 2016. Plant carbon and water fluxes in tropical montane cloud forests. J Trop Ecol. 32(05):404–420. doi:10.1017/s0266467416000341.

Gotsch SG, Nadkarni N, Darby A, Glunk A, Dix M, Davidson K, Dawson TE. 2015. Life in the treetops: Ecophysiological strategies of canopy epiphytes in a tropical montane cloud forest. Ecol Monogr. 85(3):393–412. doi:10.1890/14-1076.1.

Gouvra E, Grammatikopoulos G. 2003. Beneficial effects of direct foliar water uptake on shoot water potential of five chasmophytes. Can J Bot. 81(12):1278–1284. doi:10.1139/b03-108.

Guzmán-Delgado P, Laca E, Zwieniecki MA. 2021. Unravelling foliar water uptake pathways: The contribution of stomata and the cuticle. Plant Cell Environ. 44(6):1728–1740. doi:10.1111/pce.14041. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/pce.14041.

Hales S. 1727. Vegetable Staticks. London, UK. Isaac Newton, editor.

Hayes MA, Chapman S, Jesse A, O'Brien E, Langley JA, Bardou R, Devaney J, Parker JD, Cavanaugh KC. 2020. Foliar water uptake by coastal wetland plants: A novel water acquisition mechanism in arid and humid subtropical mangroves. J Ecol. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.13398.

Holanda AER, Souza BC, Carvalho ECD, Oliveira RS. 2019. How do leaf wetting events affect gas exchange and leaf lifespan of plants from seasonally dry tropical vegetation? 21:1097–1109. doi:10.1111/plb.13023.

Holder CD. 2012. The relationship between leaf hydrophobicity, water droplet retention, andleaf angle of common species in a semi-arid region of the western United States. Agric ForMeteorol.152(1):11–16.doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.08.005.

Ingraham NL, Matthews RA. 1995. The importance of fog-drip water to vegetation: Point Reyes Peninsula, California. J Hydrol. 164(1–4):269–285. doi:10.1016/0022-1694(94)02538-M. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/002216949402538M.

Keeley JE, Rundel PW. 2003. Evolution of CAM and C 4 Carbon-Concentrating Mechanisms. Int J Plant Sci. 164(S3):S55–S77. doi:10.1086/374192. http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/374192.

Klein T, Zeppel MJB, Anderegg WRL, Bloemen J, Kauwe MG De, Hudson P, Ruehr NK, Powell TL. 2018. Xylem embolism refilling and resilience against drought-induced mortality in woody plants : processes and trade-offs. Ecol Res. doi:10.1007/s11284-018-1588-y. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-018-1588-y.

Körner C. 2007. The use of 'altitude' in ecological research. Trends Ecol Evol. 22(11):569– 574. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2007.09.006. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0169534707002819.

Körner C, Neumayer M, Menendez-Riedl SP, Smeets-Scheel A. 1989. Functional Morphology of Mountain Plants1)1Dedicated to Prof. H. Meusel, on the occasion of his 80th birthday. Flora. 182(5–6):353–383. doi:10.1016/S0367-2530(17)30426-7. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0367253017304267.

Laur J, Hacke UG. 2014. Exploring P icea glauca aquaporins in the context of needle water uptake and xylem refilling. New Phytol. 203(2):388–400. doi:10.1111/nph.12806. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/nph.12806.

Letts MG, Mulligan M. 2005a. The impact of light quality and leaf wetness on photosynthesis in north-west Andean tropical montane cloud forest. J Trop Ecol. 21(5):549–557. doi:10.1017/S0266467405002488.

https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S0266467405002488/type/journal\_article.

Letts MG, Mulligan M. 2005b. The impact of light quality and leaf wetness on photosynthesis

in north-west Andean tropical montane cloud forest. J Trop Ecol. 21(5):549–557. doi:10.1017/S0266467405002488.

Li S, Xiao HL, Zhao L, Zhou MX, Wang F. 2014. Foliar water uptake of tamarix ramosissima from an atmosphere of high humidity. Sci World J. 2014. doi:10.1155/2014/529308.

Limm EB, Simonin KA, Bothman AG, Dawson TE. 2009. Foliar water uptake: A common water acquisition strategy for plants of the redwood forest. Oecologia. 161(3):449–459. doi:10.1007/s00442-009-1400-3.

Martin CE, Willert DJ Von. 2000. Leaf Epidermal Hydathodes and the Ecophysiological Consequences of Foliar Water Uptake in Species of Crassula from the Namib Desert in Southern Africa. 2:229–242.

McDowell N, Pockman WT, Allen CD, Breshears DD, Cobb N, Kolb T, Plaut J, Sperry J, West A, Williams DG, et al. 2008. Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? New Phytol. 178(4):719–739. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02436.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02436.x.

Moore GW, Orozco G, Aparecido LMT, Miller GR. 2018. Upscaling transpiration in diverse forests: Insights from a tropical premontane site. Ecohydrology. 11(3). doi:10.1002/eco.1920.

Murphy PG, Lugo A. 1986. Ecology of Tropical Dry Forest. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst. 17:67--88.

Nadezhdina N, David TS, David JS, Ferreira MI, Dohnal M, Tesa<sup>\*</sup> M, Gartner K, Leitgeb E, Nadezhdin V. 2010. Trees never rest: the multiple facets of hydraulic redistribution. 444(July):431–444. doi:10.1002/eco.

Nicholson JW. 1930. Forests and Rainfall. Emp For J. 3(2):204–212. doi:42591899. https://www.jstor.org/stable/42591899.

Oliveira RS, Eller CB, Bittencourt PRL, Mulligan M. 2014. The hydroclimatic and ecophysiological basis of cloud forest distributions under current and projected climates. Ann Bot. 113(6):909–920. doi:10.1093/aob/mcu060. https://academic.oup.com/aob/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/aob/mcu060.

Palomo I. 2017. Climate Change Impacts on Ecosystem Services in High Mountain Areas: A Literature Review. Mt Res Dev. 37(2):179–187. doi:10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-16-00110.1. http://www.bioone.org/doi/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-16-00110.1.

Parkhurst DF, Loucks OL. 1972. Optimal Leaf Size in Relation to Environment. J Ecol. 60(2):505–537. doi:10.2307/2258359. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2258359%5Cnhttp://www.jstor.org/%5Cnhttp://www.jstor.org/act ion/showPublisher?publisherCode=briteco.%5Cnhttp://www.jstor.org.

Parkhurst DF, Loucks OL, Parkhurstt DF, Loucks L. 1972. Optimal Leaf Size in Relation to Environment OPTIMAL LEAF SIZE IN RELATION TO ENVIRONMENT\*. Source J Ecol. 60(2):505–537. doi:10.2307/2258359. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2258359%5Cnhttp://www.jstor.org/%5Cnhttp://www.jstor.org/act ion/showPublisher?publisherCode=briteco.%5Cnhttp://www.jstor.org. Pennington RT, Lehmann CER, Rowland LM. 2018. Tropical savannas and dry forests. CurrBiol.28(9):R541–R545.doi:10.1016/j.cub.2018.03.014.

Pina ALCB, Zandavalli RB, Oliveira RS, Martins FR, Soares AA. 2016. Dew absorption by the leaf trichomes of Combretum leprosum in the Brazilian semiarid region. Funct Plant Biol. 43(9):851–861. doi:10.1071/FP15337.

Reinhardt K, Smith WK. 2008. Impacts of cloud immersion on microclimate, photosynthesis and water relations of Abies fraseri (Pursh.) Poiret in a temperate mountain cloud forest. Oecologia. 158(2):229–238. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1128-5.

Rosado BHP, Almeida LC. 2020. The Importance of Phyllosphere on Foliar Water Uptake. Trends Plant Sci. 25(11):1058–1060. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2020.09.002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2020.09.002.

Ruinen J. 1961. The phyllosphere: I. An ecologically neglected milieu. 15(2):81–109.

Safford HDF. 1999. Brazilian Paramos I. An introduction to the physical environment and vegetation of the campos de altitude. J Biogeogr. 26(4):693–712. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2699.1999.00313.x.

Schellekens J, Bruijnzeel LA, Wickel AJ, Scatena FN, Silver WL, Schemenauer RS, Bridgman HA. 1998. Interception of horizontal precipitation by elfin cloud forest in the Luquillo Mountains, Eastern Puerto Rico. (May 2014):29–32. http://flow.geo.vu.nl/papers/vancouver.pdf.

Schreel JDM, Van de Wal BAE, Hervé-Fernandez P, Boeckx P, Steppe K. 2018. Hydraulic redistribution of foliar absorbed water causes turgor-driven growth in mangrove seedlings. Plant Cell Environ. Under revi:0–2. doi:10.1111/pce.13556.

Schreel JDM, Van de Wal BAE, Hervé-Fernandez P, Boeckx P, Steppe K. 2019. Hydraulic redistribution of foliar absorbed water causes turgor-driven growth in mangrove seedlings. Plant Cell Environ.:0–2. doi:10.1111/pce.13556. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13556.

Shirtcliffe NJ, Brian Pyatt F, Newton MI, McHale G. 2006. A lichen protected by a superhydrophobic and breathable structure. J Plant Physiol. 163(11):1193–1197. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2005.11.007.

Simonin KA, Santiago LS, Dawson TE. 2009. Fog interception by Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don) crowns decouples physiology from soil water deficit. Plant, Cell Environ. 32:882–892. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01967.x.

Smith AWK, Mcclean TM. 2011. Short Communications Adaptive Relationship Between Leaf Water Repellency , Stomatal Distribution , and Gas Exchange1. America (NY). 76(3):465–469.

Still CJ, Foster PN, Schneider SH. 1999. Simulating the effects of climate change on tropical montane cloud forests. Nature. 398(6728):608–610. doi:10.1038/19293. http://www.nature.com/articles/19293.

Stone E. 1957. Dew as an Ecological Factor: I. A Review of the Literature. Ecology.

38(3):407-413.

Stone EC, Went FW, Young CL. 1950. Water Absorption from the Atmosphere by Plants Growing in Dry Soil. Science (80-). 111(2890):546–548. doi:10.1126/science.111.2890.546. http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.111.2890.546.

Tan WK, Lin Q, Lim TM, Kumar P, Loh CS. 2013. Dynamic secretion changes in the salt glands of the mangrove tree species Avicennia officinalis in response to a changing saline environment. Plant, Cell Environ. 36(8):1410–1422. doi:10.1111/pce.12068.

Tomaszkiewicz M, Abou Najm M, Beysens D, Alameddine I, Bou Zeid E, El-Fadel M. 2016. Projected climate change impacts upon dew yield in the Mediterranean basin. Sci Total Environ. 566–567:1339–1348. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.195. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.195.

Wang X, Xiao H, Cheng Y, Ren J. 2016. Leaf epidermal water-absorbing scales and their absorption of unsaturated atmospheric water in Reaumuria soongorica, a desert plant from the northwest arid region of China. J Arid Environ. 128:17–29. doi:10.1016/j.jaridenv.2016.01.005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2016.01.005.

Wu Y, Zheng XJ, Li Y. 2016. Photosynthetic response of desert plants to small rainfall events in the Junggar Basin , northwest China. 54(1):3–11. doi:10.1007/s11099-015-0168-4.

Zhang YJ, Holbrook NM, Cao KF. 2014. Seasonal dynamics in photosynthesis of woody plants at the northern limit of Asian tropics: Potential role of fog in maintaining tropical rainforests and agriculture in Southwest China. Tree Physiol. 34(10):1069–1078. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpu083.

Zhuang Y, Ratcliffe S. 2012. Relationship between dew presence and Bassia dasyphylla plant growth. J Arid Land. 4(1):11–18. doi:10.3724/SP.J.1227.2012.00011.

Supplementary material

# **Appendix S1**

List with the 45 references of papers used in this article after selection criterion. Details about variables extracted in each article can be found in Excel database.

1 - Aparecido LMT, Miller GR, Cahill AT, Moore GW. 2017. Leaf surface traits and water storage retention a ff ect photosynthetic responses to leaf surface wetness among wet tropical forest and semiarid savanna plants. :1–16. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpx092.

2 - Aparecido LMT, Teodoro GS, Mosquera G, Brum M, Barros FD V, Pompeu PV, Rodas M, Lazo P, Müller CS, Mulligan M, et al. 2018. Ecohydrological drivers of Neotropical vegetation in montane ecosystems. Ecohydrology. 11(3):e1932. doi:10.1002/eco.1932. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/eco.1932.

3 - Baguskas SA, King JY, Fischer DT, D'Antonio CM, Still CJ. 2017. Impact of fog drip versus fog immersion on the physiology of Bishop pine saplings. Funct Plant Biol. 44(3):339. doi:10.1071/FP16234. http://www.publish.csiro.au/?paper=FP16234.

4 - Baguskas SA, Still CJ, Fischer DT, D'Antonio CM, King JY. 2016. Coastal fog during summer drought improves the water status of sapling trees more than adult trees in a California pine forest. Oecologia. 181(1):137–148. doi:10.1007/s00442-016-3556-y. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00442-016-3556-y.

5- Berry ZC, Emery NC, Gotsch SG, Goldsmith GR. 2019. Foliar water uptake: Processes, pathways, and integration into plant water budgets. Plant Cell Environ. 42(2):410–423. doi:10.1111/pce.13439. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/pce.13439.

6 - Berry ZC, Smith WK. 2012. Cloud pattern and water relations in Picea rubens and Abies fraseri, southern Appalachian Mountains, USA. Agric For Meteorol. 162–163:27–34. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.04.005.

7 - Berry ZC, Smith WK. 2013. Ecophysiological importance of cloud immersion in a relic spruce–fir forest at elevational limits, southern Appalachian Mountains, USA. Oecologia. 173(3):637–648. doi:10.1007/s00442-013-2653-4. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00442-013-2653-4.

8 - Berry ZC, Smith WK. 2014. Experimental cloud immersion and foliar water uptake in saplings of Abies fraseri and Picea rubens. Trees. 28(1):115–123. doi:10.1007/s00468-013-0934-5. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00468-013-0934-5.

9 - Berry ZC, White JC, Smith WK. 2014. Foliar uptake, carbon fluxes and water status are affected by the timing of daily fog in saplings from a threatened cloud forest. J Refug Stud. 34(5):459–470. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpu032.

10 - Binks O, Coughlin I, Mencuccini M, Meir P. 2020. Equivalence of foliar water uptake and stomatal conductance? Plant Cell Environ. 43(2):524–528. doi:10.1111/pce.13663. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/pce.13663.

11- Boanares D, Kozovits AR, Lemos-Filho JP, Isaias RMS, Solar RRR, Duarte AA, Vilas-Boas T, França MGC. 2019. Foliar water-uptake strategies are related to leaf water status and gas exchange in plants from a ferruginous rupestrian field. Am J Bot. 106(7):ajb2.1322. doi:doi.org/10.1002/ajb2.1322. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajb2.1322.

12 - Boucher JF, Munson AD, Bernier PY. 1995. Foliar absorption of dew influences shoot water potential and root growth in Pinus strobus seedlings. Tree Physiol. 15(12):819–823. doi:10.1093/treephys/15.12.819.

13 - Breshears DD, McDowell NG, Goddard KL, Dayem KE, Martens SN, Meyer CW, Brown KM. 2008. Foliar absorption of intercepted rainfall improves woody plant water status most during drought. Ecology. 89(1):41–47. doi:10.1890/07-0437.1. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1890/07-0437.1.

14 - Burgess SSO, Dawson TE. 2004. The contribution of fog to the water relations of

Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don): Foliar uptake and prevention of dehydration. Plant, Cell Environ. 27(8):1023–1034. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2004.01207.x.

15 - Cassana FF, Eller CB, Oliveira RS, Dillenburg LR. 2016. Effects of soil water availability on foliar water uptake of Araucaria angustifolia. Plant Soil. 399(1–2):147–157. doi:10.1007/s11104-015-2685-0.

16 - Cavallaro A, Carbonell Silleta L, Pereyra DA, Goldstein G, Scholz FG, Bucci SJ. 2020. Foliar water uptake in arid ecosystems: seasonal variability and ecophysiological consequences. Oecologia. 193(2):337–348. doi:10.1007/s00442-020-04673-1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04673-1.

17 - Darby A, Draguljic D, Glunk A, Gotsch SG. 2016. Habitat moisture is an important driver of patterns of sap flow and water balance in tropical montane cloud forest epiphytes. :357–371. doi:10.1007/s00442-016-3659-5.

18 - Díaz M, Granadillo E. 2005. The significance of episodic rains for reproductive phenology and productivity of trees in semiarid regions of northwestern Venezuela. Trees - Struct Funct. 19(3):336–348. doi:10.1007/s00468-004-0405-0.

19 - Ebner M, Miranda T, Roth-Nebelsick A. 2011. Efficient fog harvesting by Stipagrostis sabulicola (Namib dune bushman grass). J Arid Environ. 75(6):524–531. doi:10.1016/j.jaridenv.2011.01.004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2011.01.004.

20 - Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS. 2013. Foliar uptake of fog water and transport belowground alleviates drought effects in the cloud forest tree species, Drimys brasiliensis (Winteraceae). New Phytol. 199(1):151–162. doi:10.1111/nph.12248.

21 - Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS. 2016. Cloud forest trees with higher foliar water uptake capacity and anisohydric behavior are more vulnerable to drought and climate change. New Phytol. 211(2):489–501. doi:10.1111/nph.13952.

22 - Emery NC. 2016. Foliar uptake of fog in coastal California shrub species. Oecologia. 182(3):731–742. doi:10.1007/s00442-016-3712-4.

23 - Goldsmith GR, Matzke NJ, Dawson TE. 2013. The incidence and implications of clouds for cloud forest plant water relations. Ecol Lett. 16(3):307–314. doi:10.1111/ele.12039.

24 - Gotsch SG, Asbjornsen H, Holwerda F, Goldsmith GR, Weintraub AE, Dawson TE. 2014. Foggy days and dry nights determine crown-level water balance in a seasonal tropical montane cloud forest. Plant, Cell Environ. 37(1):261–272. doi:10.1111/pce.12151.

25 - Gotsch SG, Nadkarni N, Darby A, Glunk A, Dix M, Davidson K, Dawson TE. 2015. Life in the treetops: Ecophysiological strategies of canopy epiphytes in a tropical montane cloud forest. Ecol Monogr. 85(3):393–412. doi:10.1890/14-1076.1.

26 - Gouvra E, Grammatikopoulos G. 2003. Beneficial effects of direct foliar water uptake on shoot water potential of five chasmophytes. Can J Bot. 81(12):1278–1284. doi:10.1139/b03-108.

27 - Grammatikopoulos G, Manetas Y. 1994. Direct absorption of water by hairy leaves of Phlomis fruticosa and its contribution to drought avoidance. Can J Bot. 72(12):1805–1811. doi:10.1139/b94-222. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-24612-3\_302718.

28 - Holanda AER, Souza BC, Carvalho ECD, Oliveira RS. 2019. How do leaf wetting events affect gas exchange and leaf lifespan of plants from seasonally dry tropical vegetation?

21:1097-1109. doi:10.1111/plb.13023.

29 - Johnson DM, Smith WK. 2006. Low clouds and cloud immersion enhance photosynthesis in understory species of a southern Appalachian spruce-fir forest (USA). Am J Bot. 93(11):1625–1632. doi:10.3732/ajb.93.11.1625.

30 - Kangur O, Kupper P, Sellin A. 2017. Predawn disequilibrium between soil and plant water potentials in light of climate trends predicted for northern Europe. Reg Environ Chang. 17(7):2159–2168. doi:10.1007/s10113-017-1183-8.

31 - Letts MG, Mulligan M. 2005. The impact of light quality and leaf wetness on photosynthesis in north-west Andean tropical montane cloud forest. J Trop Ecol. 21(5):549–557. doi:10.1017/S0266467405002488.

32 - Li S, Xiao HL, Zhao L, Zhou MX, Wang F. 2014. Foliar water uptake of tamarix ramosissima from an atmosphere of high humidity. Sci World J. 2014. doi:10.1155/2014/529308.

33 - Limm EB, Simonin KA, Bothman AG, Dawson TE. 2009. Foliar water uptake: a common water acquisition strategy for plants of the redwood forest. Oecologia. 161(3):449–459. doi:10.1007/s00442-009-1400-3. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00442-009-1400-3.

34 - Moore GW, Orozco G, Aparecido LMT, Miller GR. 2018. Upscaling transpiration in diverse forests: Insights from a tropical premontane site. Ecohydrology. 11(3). doi:10.1002/eco.1920.

35 - Nadezhdina N, David TS, David JS, Ferreira MI, Dohnal M, Tesa<sup>\*</sup> M, Gartner K, Leitgeb E, Nadezhdin V. 2010. Trees never rest: the multiple facets of hydraulic redistribution. 444(July):431–444. doi:10.1002/eco.

36 - Pina ALCB, Zandavalli RB, Oliveira RS, Martins FR, Soares AA. 2016. Dew absorption by the leaf trichomes of Combretum leprosum in the Brazilian semiarid region. Funct Plant Biol. 43(9):851–861. doi:10.1071/FP15337.

37 - Reinhardt K, Smith WK. 2008. Impacts of cloud immersion on microclimate, photosynthesis and water relations of Abies fraseri (Pursh.) Poiret in a temperate mountain cloud forest. Oecologia. 158(2):229–238. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1128-5.

38 - Schreel JDM, Van de Wal BAE, Hervé-Fernandez P, Boeckx P, Steppe K. 2018. Hydraulic redistribution of foliar absorbed water causes turgor-driven growth in mangrove seedlings. Plant Cell Environ. Under revi:0–2. doi:10.1111/pce.13556.

39 - Simonin KA, Santiago LS, Dawson TE. 2009. Fog interception by Sequoia sempervirens (D. Don) crowns decouples physiology from soil water deficit. Plant, Cell Environ. 32:882–892. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01967.x.

40 - Steppe K, Vandegehuchte MW, Van De Wal BAE, Hoste P, Guyot A, Lovelock CE, Lockington DA. 2018. Direct uptake of canopy rainwater causes turgor-driven growth spurts in the mangrove Avicennia marina. Tree Physiol. 38(7):979–991. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpy024.

41 - Tange T, Yanaga K, Osawa H, Masumori M. 2009. Effects of evening and nighttime leaf wetting on stomatal behavior of Cryptomeria japonica growing in dry soil. Photosynthetica. 47(2):313–316. doi:10.1007/s11099-009-0049-9.

42 - Wu Y, Zheng XJ, Li Y. 2016. Photosynthetic response of desert plants to small rainfall

events in the Junggar Basin, northwest China. 54(1):3-11. doi:10.1007/s11099-015-0168-4.

43 - Yan X, Zhou M, Dong X, Zou S, Xiao H, Ma X. 2015. Molecular mechanisms of foliar water uptake in a desert tree. :1–14. doi:10.1093/aobpla/plv129.

44 - Yates DJ, Hutley LB. 1995. Foliar uptake of water by wet leaves of Sloanea woollsii, an Australian subtropical rainforest tree. Aust J Bot. 43(2):157–167. doi:10.1071/BT9950157.

45 - Zhuang Y, Ratcliffe S. 2012. Relationship between dew presence and Bassia dasyphylla plant growth. J Arid Land. 4(1):11–18. doi:10.3724/SP.J.1227.2012.00011.

**Appendix S2** Details of sensitive analyses - 1) outliers detection, 2) publication bias, and 3) locality bias

## 1) Outliers detection

Through function "influence" of Metafor package, we detected an outlier in photosynthesis (observation four on Letts and Mulligan 2005) and another one in Stomatal conductance (Eller et al. 2013). However, when we reran the analysis without outliers, only the outlier of photosynthesis showed a significant influence in the model results after comparisons between estimate, p-value, and percentage total of heterogeneity between studies (I<sup>2</sup>) with and without outliers. So we removed the photosynthesis outlier and kept all observations in the stomatal conductance variable.

	Variable	Estimate	p-value	<b>I</b> <sup>2</sup>
	Photosynthesis (all observations)	0.27	0.83	99.65
	Photosynthesis (without outlier)	0.82	0.37	99.33
	Stomatal conductance (all observations)	0.52	0.01	76.33
	Stomatal conductance (without outlier)	0.41	0.02	61.27
Source:	The author, 2022.			

## 2) Publication bias

We used Rosenthal's Fail-safe N (1979) to evaluate the publication bias. Rosenthal (1979) suggests that a meta-analysis is robust when N > 5k + 10, where the N=number of studies suggested by Rosenthal that would be necessary to become the p>0.05 (no significant) and K = number of studies in this meta-analysis. This analysis was run in R using the function "fsn" of the metaphor package. Results were robust to leaf water potential, stomatal conductance, sap flow, and marginally robust to photosynthesis (K was not higher than N, but p-value = 0.02). In contrast, our results were not robust to leaf transpiration, as indicated below:

- *Leaf water potential*: N > 5k + 10  $\rightarrow$  21960> 5(98) +10 = 500 (p<.0001)
- *Photosynthesis*: N > 5k + 10  $\rightarrow$  14 > 5(37) +10= 195 (p = 0.02)
- *Stomatal conductance*: N > 5k + 10 → 914>5 (57) +10=295 (p<.0001)
- Sap flow: N > 5k + 10  $\rightarrow$  299 > 5 (19) +10=105 (p<.0001)
- *Leaf transpiration*: N > 5k + 10  $\rightarrow$  0 > 5(39) +10=205 (p=0.49)

### 3) Locality bias

To verify locality bias, we ran two models, one independent model without considering the locality and another one regarding the study locality. As both models do not considerably change when compared estimate  $\pm$  SE, p-value and AICc, we considered that observations are independent.

Effect size	Independent model		Locality model			
	Estimate ± se	p-value	AICc	Estimate ± se	p-value	AICc
Leaf water potential	$2.05 \pm 0.25$	<.0001	479.69	$2.05 \pm 0.25$	<.0001	479.69
Photosynthesis	$0.82 \pm 0.92$	0.37	242.31	$0.82 \pm 0.95$	0.38	237.06
Stomatal conductance	0.52±0.16	0.0015	198.62	0.50±0.16	0.0031	195.86
Sap flow	-1.45±0.57	0.01	100.02	-1.45±0.57	0.01	100.02

Transpiration	0.16±0.72	0.82	240.33	$0.16 \pm 0.72$	0.82	240.33
Source: The author 20	าา					

Source: The author, 2022.

# 2 - CLOUD ECOSYSTEMS ARE DIFFERENTLY AFFECTED BY DROUGHT: AN INTEGRATED APPROACH CONSIDERING PLANT ECONOMICS SPECTRUM, RESISTANCE TO EMBOLISM AND FOLIAR WATER UPTAKE

Manuscrito a ser submetido na revista científica New Phytologist

Bianca B. Zorger<sup>1,2</sup> Ilaíne S. Matos<sup>3</sup> Luiz Bondi<sup>4</sup> Yan Nunes<sup>1</sup> Yan C. Moraes<sup>1</sup> Thiago S. Amorim<sup>5</sup> Bruno H. P. Rosado<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Ecology, IBRAG, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (UERJ), Rua Sao Francisco Xavier, PHLC, sala 220, 20550900, Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

<sup>2</sup> Ecology and Evolution Graduate Program, IBRAG, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (UERJ).

<sup>3</sup> Macrosystems Ecology Laboratory, Department of Environmental Science, Policy and Management, University of California Berkeley, 309 Hilgard Hall, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA.

<sup>4</sup> Abt. Allgemeine und Spezielle Botanik, Institut für Biowissenschaften, Universität Rostock, Germany

<sup>5</sup> Department of Botany, Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro, BR – 465, Km 7, Seropédica, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Author for correspondence: brunorosado@gmail.com

### Abstract

Precipitation reduction and fog-uplift (i. e. a water source to vegetation via leaf) are consequences of climate change which increase the risk of mortality of plants by drought worldwide. However, it is still unclear how co-occurring plants in contrasting fog-ecosystems (e.g. tropical montane grassland and tropical rainforest) respond to drought considering the role of fog in those vegetation. As tropical montane grassland plants grow from shallower soils and are exposed to higher solar radiation and evaporative demand due to higher elevation than forest (~2000 m above sea level in grassland and 700 m above sea level in forest), we hypothesized that (I) species in tropical montane grassland will be more resistant to drought and (II) they will be less dependent on fog by potentially exhibit more conservative traits than forest. We used 13 morpho-physiological traits to investigate the vulnerability to drought of 10 phylogenetic pairs of plants in the Atlantic rainforest and tropical montane grassland in the Brazilian Southeast. We found that plants in the tropical montane grassland exhibited more conservative traits (i.e. slow-strategy) and higher resistance to embolism, but different from expected, they performed more foliar water uptake (FWU) than tropical rainforest. Despite tropical rainforest species being more vulnerable to drought than grassland species, a higher vulnerability to drought in both environments is expected in the future. Even less sensitive to drought than forest, grassland plants might be prone to a low fog exposure in the next decades, which can be already happening based on few numbers of fog events recorded in this study.

**Keywords:** Campos de altitude, cloud ecosystems, functional trait, FWU, hydraulic failure, resistance to embolism, safety margin, vulnerability to drought.

### 2.1 Introduction

Although changes in precipitation regimes are among the most studied effects of global warming, complementary water sources to vegetation via leaf (e.g. fog, mist and dew) may also be affected due to climate change (Feng et al. 2013; Stilll et al. 1999; IPCC 2021). Climate models have predicted fog uplift in cloud ecosystems due to rises in air temperature, which reduce the contact fog-vegetation resulting in lower access of plants to fog (Pounds et al. 1999; Still et al. 1999). The lower exposure of plants to both water sources (i.e. precipitation and fog) may maximize the plant vulnerability to drought around the world since fog is absorbed by leaves and contribute up 25% to sap flow in plants (Eller et al. 2013). However, it is still unclear if co-occurring plants in distinct ecosystems respond similarly to drought and how variable would be their vulnerability considering the role of fog in vegetation.

Events of wettability are essential for the occurrence of foliar water uptake (FWU), resulting in increases in plant water status (Eller et al. 2013; Schreel et al. 2019) and xylem refilling (Laur and Hacke 2014; Fuenzalida et al. 2019). Moreover, such events can increase the photosynthetic rate and avoid carbon starvation in several species (Berry and Smith 2013; Eller et al. 2013; Berry et al. 2014). In this sense, fog events could play an essential role in minimizing the vulnerability of plants to drought, mainly across cloud environments, such as tropical montane rainforest, páramos, punas and tropical montane grassland (Körner 2007; Uehara et al. 2015; Aparecido et al. 2018) where fog events are commons. Although high FWU from fog is expected in higher altitudes, this process does not depend entirely on the frequency, duration, and intensity of fog events and different plant traits that affect this water uptake. For example, montane ecosystems with acquisitive traits (e.g. higher SLA, thin leaves and higher hydraulic efficiency) (Wright et al. 2004; Reich 2014; Oliveira et al. 2021) predominant in vegetation could exhibit a higher FWU. On the other hand, montane ecosystems with the predominance of species with conservative traits (i.e. lower SLA, thicker leaves and higher investment in xylem safe) (Wright et al. 2004; Reich 2014; Oliveira et al. 2021) tend to exhibit a lower FWU.

In the southeast of Brazil, two vegetation share plant families prone to fog events and can be affected by similar consequences of climate change (i.e. precipitation reduction and fog-uplift) (Still et al. 1999; Scarano 2002; Lyra et al. 2018), tropical rainforest about 700 m.a.s.l and tropical montane grassland above 2000 m.a.s.l, (Scarano 2002). Forest plants

occur in an environment historically with higher resources (e.g. water) in soils. In that vegetation, most species can exhibit acquisitive strategies such as higher hydraulic efficiency and lower xylem safety, which reflect fast growth (Sperry 2003; Hacke et al. 2006; Oliveira et al. 2021). On the other hand, grassland plants occur in an environment with higher atmospheric drought due to higher elevation. As a result, grassland species may have evolved more conservative traits and more embolism resistance and hence higher resistance to drought.

In those two environments, we used 13 morpho-physiological traits (Table 1) to investigate the vulnerability to drought in 10 phylogenetic pairs of plants in rainy and dry seasons. Despite both environments being exposed to fog events, we hypothesized that species in the forest will be more vulnerable to drought than in grassland. In contrast, as tropical montane grassland occurs in the poorest environment, it will be more resistant to drought, exhibiting more conservative traits and, hence, performing less foliar uptake from the fog.

Trait (Abbr., Unit)	Туре	Concept	Functional significance linked to drought	Reference
Leaf area (LA, cm <sup>2</sup> )	Morphological	One-sided area of an individual leaf	Plants with smaller leaves have smaller surface leaves which minimize the water loss to atmosphere	Perez- Harguinde guy <i>et al.</i> , 2013
Specific leaf area (SLA, cm² g-1)	Morphological	One-sided area of a fresh leaf, divided by its oven-dry mass	A low SLA is linked to a strategy conservative of use of resources (i.e. water)	Perez- Harguinde guy <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Pierce <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2013)
Leaf dry matter content (LDMC, %)	Morphological	oven-dry mass of a leaf (cm <sup>2</sup> ), divided by its water-saturated fresh mass (g) transformed in percentage (%).	A higher LDMC is linked to a strategy conservative of use of resources (i.e. water)	Perez- Harguinde guy <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Pierce <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2013
Leaf Density (LD, mg mm-3)	Morphological	1/SLA divided by thickness	A higher leaf density is linked to a strategy conservative of use of resources (i.e. water)	Niinemets 2001
Leaf thickness (Lth, mm)	Morphological	Thickness of one leaf	A higher leaf thickness is linked to a strategy conservative of use of resources (i.e. water)	Perez- Harguinde guy <i>et al.</i> , 2013
Foliar Water Uptake (MPa)	Physiological	Flux of water uptake via leaf during a given period.	During wetting events plants tend to uptake more water via leaf during periods of drought, when the soils are driest.	Berry <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2019
Adaxial leaf water repellency (LHR, °)	Wetting	Angle between a water drop and the adaxial leaf surface	A low adaxial leaf water repellency in some species can contribute to higher leaf water uptake and higher colling down. However, it can contribute to a low CO2 uptake and	Holder 2020

Table 1 - Trait (abbreviation, unit), its type, its description, its functional significance linked to water availability, reference.

			hence decrease of photosynthesis rate.	
Abaxial leaf water repellency (LHR, °)	Wetting	Angle between a water drop and the abaxial leaf surface	A low abaxial leaf water repellency in some species can contribute to higher leaf water uptake and higher colling down. However, it can contribute to a low CO2 uptake and hence decrease of photosynthesis rate.	Holder 2020
Stem wood Density (WD, cm <sup>3</sup> )	Morphological	the oven-dry mass of a section of stem of a plant divided by the volume of the same section, when still fresh	Plants with high wood density are linked to high cavitation resistance by drought and have a slow water conductivity through xylem.	Reich, 2014
p50 (MPa)	Physiological	Leaf water potential at which the plant loss 50% of conductivity of xylem	Plants more vulnerable to drought reach 50% of cavitation in vases in water potential more positive.	Tyree & Ewers, 1991
p88 (MPa)	Physiological	Leaf water potential at which the plant loss 88% of conductivity of xylem	Plants more vulnerable to drought reach 88% of cavitation in vases in water potential more positive.	Urli <i>et al.</i> , 2013
SM50 (MPa)	Physiological	Difference between p50 and minimum water potential in a day.	Plants with a large SM50 can support more water fluctuations in environment than plants with a narrow SM50.	Meinzer et al. 2009
SM88 (MPa)	Physiological	Difference between p88 and minimum water potential in a day.	Plants with a large SM88 can support more water fluctuations in environment than plants with a narrow SM88.	Meinzer et al. 2009

Source: The author, 2022.

### 2.2.1 Study area and species

The study was carried out in two areas prone to fog events from September/2018 to August/2019. One of the areas is a montane tropical rainforest at Tijuca National Park (22°57'S, 43°18'W) and another one is a tropical montane grassland (i.e. campos de altitude) at Itatiaia National Park (22°21'S, 44°40'W), both in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (Fig. 1). the montane rainforest has about 700 - 1000 m (ICMBio 2008) is a remaining Atlantic tropical Climate is wet tropical (Aw, Köppen classification), with rainy summer rainforest. (December - February) and dry winter (June - August) (ICMBio 2008), mean annual temperature (MAT) between 18°- 26°C and mean annual precipitation (MAP) of 2500 mm (ICMBio 2008). Campos de altitude is an ecosystem associated with the Atlantic tropical rainforest occurring in areas above 2000-2300 m.a.s (Safford 1999; Scarano 2002). The climate is tropical of altitude (Cw, Köppen classification) (Safford 1999), mean annual temperature of 14.4°C and mean annual precipitation 2400 mm (Segadas-Vianna and Dau 1965), with a rainy summer (December - February) and a dry winter (May-September) (Segadas-Vianna and Dau 1965; ICMBio 2014). Frost events are often in this ecosystem with a mean of 56 days a year (Segadas-Vianna and Dau 1965) and natural fires may be common during the dry season (Safford 2001). In this region, besides fog events decreasing according to models to high altitudes (Still et al. 1999), models have also predicted a decrease of 3 - 6mm in precipitation by day until 2100, with lower precipitation input in high altitudes. When considered an extreme scenario is expected a reduction of 50% in rains, with greater rains in short-time periods followed by periods of drought and heatwaves in this region (Lyra et al. 2018).in vegetation.

To carry out this study, we selected ten phylogenetic pairs of 10 families of eudicotyledons, totalling 19 species of tropical rainforest and tropical montane grassland. The pairs of grass, herbs, shrubs, and small trees encompass the botanical families, Asteraceae, Cyperaceae Fabaceae, Iridaceae, Melastomataceae, Myrtaceae, Poaceae, Primulaceae, Proteaceae and Rubiaceae (Table 2).



Figure 1 – Tijuca National Park and Itatiaia National Park location in Rio de Janeiro, southeast of Brazil.

Legend: Tropical montane grassland identified as tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannas and shrubland based on WWF ecoregions, localized at Itatiaia National Park (A) and tropical rainforest identified as Tropical and subtropical moist broadleaf forest based on WWF ecoregions, located at Tijuca National Park (B) in Rio de Janeiro, southeast (C) of Brazil (D). The blue dot means Tijuca National Park (Parque Nacional da Tijuca, PNT) and the red dot means Itatiaia National Park (Parque Nacional de Itatiaia, PNI).

Source: The author, 2022.

Table 2 - The 19 species used in this study, their botanical family, their life form and site, tropical rainforest (Forest) or tropical montane grassland (Grassland) in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Life form Site	Species	Family
Life form Site	Species	Family

Asteraceae	Critoniopsis stellata (Spring) H. Rob., DC.,	Shrub	Forest
	Baccharis uncinella DC.,	Shrub	Grassland
Cyperaceae	Pleurostachys tenuiflora Brong.,	Grass	Forest
	Machaerina ensifolia (Boeckeler) T. Koyama,	Grass	Grassland
Fabaceae	Pseudopeptadenia leptostachya (Benth)	Tree	Forest
	Rauschert,		
	Mimosa monticola Dusén,	Shrub	Grassland
Iridaceae	Neomarica longifolia (Link & Otto) Sprague.,	Herb	Forest
	Sisyrinchium palmifolium L. var. nidulare	Herb	Grassland
	HandMazz.		
Melastomat	Leandra variabilis Raddi.,	Shrub	Forest
aceae	Pleroma hospita (Schrank et Mart. ex DC.)	shrub	Grassland
	Triana,		
Myrtaceae	Plinia cauliflora (Mart.) Kauser	Tree	Forest
	Myrceugenia alpigena (DC.) Landrum,	Shrub	Grassland
Poaceae	Chusquea bambusoides McClure & L.B.Sm.,	Grass	Forest
	Chusquea pinifolia (Nees) Nees,	Grass	Grassland
Primulaceae	Myrsine cf. gardneriana A. DC,	Shrub	Forest
	Myrsine cf. gardneriana A. DC.	Shrub	Grassland
Proteaceae	Roupala cf. sculpta Sleumer,	Tree	Forest
	Roupala montana Aubl.,	Shrub	Grassland
Rubiaceae	Psychotria leiocarpa Cham. & Schltdl.,	Shrub	Forest
	Galium humile Cham. & Schltdl.,	Shrub	Grassland

Source: The author, 2022.

## 2.2.2 Meteorological data

To calculate the frequency of fog events in tropical rainforest and tropical montane grassland we used meteorological data from Itatiaia meteorological station (22°22'S, 44°42'W), 300 m near the grassland study area, and we used data from Alto da Boa Vista (22° 47'S, 43°16'W) 5 km near of the forest study area. These data, from September/2018 to December/2019, were available by INMET (www.inmet.gov.br) and Alerta Rio

(www.alertario.rio.rj.gov.br), respectively. From these data, we selected air temperature and relative humidity of every hour/month, when available, to vapour pressure deficit (VPD) calculation. We stipulated the fog events from VPD (Rosado et al. 2010) and precipitation events. When VPD was close to zero and the pluviometer did not record precipitation at the moment, we classified this as a fog event (Rosado et al. 2010).

## 2.2.3 Morphological functional traits

In each area, during the rainy and dry season of 2018 and 2019, we sampled five individuals of each species and one branch of each individual - ~ 1 meter length. At Plant Ecology Laboratory at UERJ, we cut the branches off under water and rehydrated them for 12 hours. We sampled five mature leaves of each branch and obtained the fresh mass using a balance (g). we measured the leaf thickness with a digital calliper (mm), digitalized the leaves using a scanner and put them in the oven for 72h to obtain the leaf dry mass. From these data, we measured the leaf area (LA cm<sup>2</sup>) with ImageJ software (version 1.51) and calculated the leaf dry matter content (LDMC %), specific leaf area (SLA cm<sup>2</sup> g-1) and leaf density (LD mg mm-3) (Perez-Harguindeguy et al., (2013). To stem wood density, we sampled a section about 4 cm length and 1 cm of diameter of each branch, we removed the bark and rehydrated it for 30 min. The volume was obtained using the Archimedes Principle using a balance (0,01g). Wood samples were put in the oven for 72 h to obtain the dry mass. From these data (volume and mass) we calculated stem wood density (WD g. cm<sup>3</sup>) (Perez-Harguindeguy et al., 2013). In addition, we completed the data with leaf traits and stem wood density of montane tropical grassland from lab database. Such data were sampled during the dry season of 2015 and 2016.

### 2.2.4 Foliar Water Uptake

During the rainy (February/2019) and dry season (June/2019), we sampled a branch of five individuals of 10 species. In the laboratory, we cut branches off underwater and

rehydrated them for 12h. Leaf water potential of one of the leaves of each branch was measured by Scholander Pressure Chamber (model 1505D-EXP, PMS, Albany, OR, USA) to verify if the leaves were saturated (pfwu1). Subsequently, two new leaves from the same branch and individual to each species were detached and bench dried for 3h. After, we measured the leaf water potential of one of the bench dried leaves (Pfwu2) and simultaneously, we submerged another one in distilled water for 3h with the petiole sealed with parafilm and Vaseline, similar to Eller et al. (2016). We maintained the sample covered with black plastic to avoid stomatal opening. In the last, we measured the water potential of rehydrated leaf using the Scholander Pressure Chamber (pfwu3). The difference between the last leaf water potential after rehydration (pfwu3) and leaf water potential after bench dried (pfwu2), resulted in the FWU of each species.

### 2.2.5 Leaf Water Repellency

In rainy (November-February/2019) and dry season (June/2019), we sampled a branch of each one of five individuals of 10 species. After the the branches rehydrated for 12h, five leaves were detached and placed on a Styrofoam. We added a distilled water droplet (5 $\mu$ L) (P10, Pipetman, Gilson SAS, Villiers-le-Bel) in abaxial and adaxial leaf surfaces. We took photos of each droplet with a digital camera (Nikon D3200, 24.2 mpx, AF-S NIKKOR 18-55mm 1:3.5-5.6G VR II, CMOS) to calculate leaf water repellency (ImageJ software, Version 1.51). Since *Galium humile* (Rubiaceae) present smaller leaves than droplet volume recommended (Matos & Rosado 2016), we removed this species from the analysis.

### 2.2.6 Susceptibility of xylem to embolism and safety margin

To resistance of xylem to embolism, we sampled a branch of three-five individuals of six species in both environments in dry season (September/2018). At laboratory, we obtained sigmoid vulnerability curves (Fig. S1) following the protocol described by Pereira et al. (2016) and Zhang et al. (2018) and, subsequently, we extracted the p50 and p88 values from them. For safety margin calculation, we collected the samples during rainy season (January,

February, and December/2019) in tropical rainforest. In addition, we used the leaf water potential of tropical montane grassland collected in December and January/2019 and in the first week of March/2020 to safety margin (SM) obtained in Moraes et al. in press. In both environments the leaf water potential was obtained between 12-14h using the Scholander pressure chamber, from three leaves of three individuals of six woody species. Safety margins of p50 (SM50) and p88 (SM88) were calculated through the difference between the minimum leaf water potential and p50 (SM50=pmin-p50) and the difference between minimum leaf water potential and p88 (SM88=pmin-p88), respectively.

### 2.2.7 Data analysis

We used paired t-test using phylogenetic independent contrast to evaluate differences in trait responses between environments. For LWR we used a Wilcox-Test. To describe where the resistance to embolism (p50 and p88) and safety margin (SM50 and SM88) of both sites are located among angiosperms global scale, we plotted our data in the global relationship between resistance to drought and MAP (Choat et al. 2012). To assess the conservatism degree of each trait in phylogeny, we built a phylogenetic tree with Phylocom 4.2 (Fig. S2) software, (super tree R20120829) available in Phylomatic v.3 (Webb and Donoghue 2005). We used this phylogeny in Blomberg' K statistics (Blomberg et al. 2003) to evaluate the phylogenetic conservatism degree (Picante Package in R). When Blomberg' K was higher for a given trait in phylogeny, this indicates a higher phylogenetic conservatism. When K>1 (high phylogenetic signal), while K<1 means traits with low conservatism in phylogeny. In addition to the K statistics, we ran a Mantel test (phylogenetic distance matrix x traits matrix) to detect phylogenetic signals of traits since for sample sizes below 20 species the metric K might be less robust Sedio et al. (2012). All analyses were running on R software (Version 3.5.3).

### 2.3 Results

As expected, precipitation was higher in the tropical rainforest than grassland (3430 mm from September/2018 to December/2019), with 396 mm during the driest three months (May – July/2019). In tropical montane grassland the precipitation was 2387 mm for the same period and of 155 mm during the driest three months (June – August/2019). However, different of expected, fog frequency was higher in forest, mainly from October to December/2018 (45 hours along 95 days). In the grassland, fog events were reduced and concentrated between September and November/2018 (16 hours along 5 days). Temperature in forest was higher than grassland 18°C (dry season) and 27°C (rainy season), while in grassland the lower temperature was 7°C (dry season) and the higher one 12°C (rainy season) in 2019. Regarding daytime, fog events occurred mainly between 12 AM and 6 AM in both sites (Fig. 2).



Figure 2 – Rains and fog event distribution during the study period

Legend: Sum of fog days and sum precipitation per month in tropical rainforest (A) and in tropical montane grassland (B), Sum of fog days and sum precipitation in tropical rainforest (C) and in tropical montane grassland (D), hours long the day in which plants are exposed to fog events in tropical rainforest (E) and in tropical montane grassland (F) during study period (September 2018 – December 2019).
Source: The author, 2022.
VPD was lower in the forest in May/2019 (0.33 KPa) and higher in January/2019 (1.66 KPa), while in grassland the VPD was lower in November/2018 (0.09 KPa) and higher in July/2019 (0.47 KPa). We also observed a decrease of VPD in tropical rainforest, while fog events increase in the same area during the study. Air relative humidity was higher and more constant in forest, where exhibited a lower percentage in January/2019 (70%) and a higher in May/2019 (89%). In contrast, grassland exhibited a higher VPD range, with lower air relative humidity in July/2019 (57%) and a higher in November/2018 (94%). Despite we have accessed data to major part of study period, two months (September/2019 and November/2019) were not computed in forest and three months (September/2019, December/2018 and January/2019) in grassland due to sensors failures.

# 2.3.2 Morphological functional traits and foliar water uptake

Most traits differed between ecosystems, where tropical montane grassland plants had lower LA, SLA and higher LDMC and Lth than tropical rainforest during rainy season (LA, t = 2.58, df = 9, t = 0.02; SLA, t = 5.82, df = 9, p = 0.0002; LDMC t = - 4.27, df = 9 p = 0.002, Lth t = -2.78, df = 9 p = 0.02) and dry season (LA, t = 5.45, df = 9, t=0.0004; SLA, t = 0.65, df= 9, p =0.0001; LDMC, t = - 3.86, df = 9, p = 0.003; Lth, t = - 3.60, df = 9, p = 0.005) (Fig. 3, 4). Although LD and FWU did not differ between ecosystems in the rainy season (LD, t = -2.00, df = 9, p = 0.07. FWU t = -2.05, df = 9, p = 0.07) (Fig. 3), both traits were higher in grassland in the dry season (t = - 3.69, df= 9, p = 0.004; FWU= t= - 2.28, df = 9, p = 0.04) (Fig. 4). We did not find differences for LWR and WD in both seasons (Fig. S3; S4, respectively). For more details about paired t-teste see Table S1; means of each functional trait are in Table S3 of supplementary material. Figure 3 - Phylogenetically comparison of leaf traits during rainy season between plants of tropical rainforest (Forest) and tropical montane grassland (Grassland), in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.



Legend: Phylogenetically independent contrast comparison of leaf area (LA) (A), specific leaf area (SLA) (B), leaf dry matter content (LDMC) (C), leaf density (LD) (D), leaf thickness (Lth) (E), foliar water uptake (FWU) (F) of 10 pairs phylogenetic of plants of each environment, tropical rainforest and tropical montane grassland in rainy season, in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Asteraceae = orange, Cyperaceae = yellow, Fabaceae = violet, Iridaceae = brown, Melastomataceae = green, Myrtaceae = Dark blue, Poaceae = pink, Primulaceae = red, Proteaceae = light blue, Rubiaceae = black).

Source: The author, 2022.

Figure 4 - Phylogenetically comparison of leaf traits during dry season between plants of tropical rainforest (Forest) and tropical montane grassland (Grassland), in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.



Legend: Phylogenetically independent contrast comparison of leaf area (LA) (A), specific leaf area (SLA) (B), leaf dry matter content (LDMC) (C), leaf density (LD) (D), leaf thickness (Lth) (E), foliar water uptake (FWU) (F) of 10 pairs phylogenetic of plants of each environment, tropical rainforest and tropical montane grassland in dry season, in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Asteraceae = orange, Cyperaceae = yellow, Fabaceae = violet, Iridaceae = brown, Melastomataceae = green, Myrtaceae = Dark blue, Poaceae = pink, Primulaceae = red, Proteaceae = light blue, Rubiaceae = black). Source: The author, 2022.

#### 2.3.3 Susceptibility of xylem to embolism

Plants studied here covered 43% (-4.37 MPa) of amplitude of p50 and 57% (-5.48 MPa) of amplitude of p88 of angiosperms of global database (-10.11MPa; -13.57 MPa, respectively) (Fig. 5 A-B). Similarly, SM50 covered 40% (3.58 MPa) and SM88 38% (5.71 MPa) of amplitude of angiosperms database (9.01 MPa, 15.12 MPa, respectively) (Fig. 5 C-D) that encompass about half of variability of embolism resistance in the global database. p88 values were more negative and SM88 were wider than plants of ecosystems with similar MAP (2000-3000 mm/year) at global level (Fig. 5 B, D). For example, the higher value achieved in global database to p88 and SM88 were -6.2 MPa and 4.2 MPa respectively, while our plants achieved higher values, with p88 and SM88 of - 9.6 MPa and 8.1 MPa respectively.

Figure 5 – Distribution of the percentage of loss of conductance in the xylem and margin safety of forest and grassland plants studied here and angiosperms from global database.



Legend: Distribution of leaf water potential at which 50% hydraulic conductivity is lost (p50) (A) leaf water potential at which 88% hydraulic conductivity is lost (p88), (B), safety margin from p50 (SM50) (C) and safety margin from p88 (SM88) (D) and mean annual precipitation (MAP) of plants studied here, and the angiosperms species at global level. Blue triangles mean tropical rainforest and red squares mean tropical montane grassland, localized in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Grey dots are angiosperms from database of Choat et al. (2012).
Source: The author, 2022.

Regarding all plants of our study, we did not find difference of p50 (t= 1.70, df = 5, p = 0.14) and p88 (t = 0.88, df = 5, p = 0.41) between grassland and forest (Fig. 6). However, to p88, we observed that only *Roupala sculpta* exhibited opposite direction reflected by a great difference of p88 between environments (-9.6 - - 4.90 MPa from forest to grassland species). When we ran the t-test again without *Roupala sculpta*, we found more negative p88 in grassland than forest (t = 3.13, df = 4, p = 0.03) (Fig. 6). Similarly, firstly, there was no difference of SM50 (t= 0.54, df = 4, p = 0.61) and SM88 (t= -0.18, df = 4, p = 0.86) between environments. When we ran the test without *Roupala sculpta*, we verified a higher SM50 in grassland (t= -4.1, df = 3, p = 0.02) than in forests (Fig. 6).

Among species studied *Mimosa montana* (p50 = -5.65 MPa; p88 = -8.52 MPa), *Pleroma hospita* (p50 = -4.13 MPa; p88 = -7.83 MPa) and *Baccharis uncinella* in tropical montane grassland (p50 = -4.07 MPa; p88 = -7.42 MPa) and *Roupala* cf. *sculpta* (p50 = -4.82 MPa; p88 = 9.6 MPa) in tropical rainforest were the species more resistance to drought. *Plinia cauliflora*, in the forest, was the most vulnerable plant to embolism (p50 = -1.25; p88 = -4.59) (For more details about paired t-teste see Table S1, means of each functional trait are in Table S4 of supplementary material).

Figure 6 - Phylogenetically comparison of percentage of loss of conductance and safety margin during dry season between plants of tropical rainforest (Forest) and tropical montane grassland (Grassland), in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.



Legend: Phylogenetically independent contrast comparison of leaf water potential at which 50% hydraulic conductivity is lost p50 (A), leaf water potential at which 88% hydraulic conductivity is lost, p88 (B), safety margin from p50, SM50 (C) and, safety margin from p88, SM88 (D), evaluated by paired t -test, of six phylogenetic pair of plants occurrents between tropical rainforest (Forest) and tropical montane grassland (Grassland), in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Asteraceae = Orange, Fabaceae = violet, Melastomataceae = green, Myrtaceae = Dark blue, Primulaceae = red, Proteaceae = light blue, outlier = grey.

Source: The author, 2022.

2.3.4 Relationships between p50/p88, stem wood density and foliar water uptake

We observed a negative relationship between p50 and FWU in tropical montane grassland in the rainy season ( $R^2 = 0.76 \text{ p} = 0.02$ , Fig. S5 A) but not in forest (Table S5, Fig. S5). There was not a significant relationship between p50 and FWU in dry season in both environments. We found relationship between p88 or WD and FWU in both seasons (Table S5, Fig. S5).

# 2.3.5 Conservation degree of functional traits in phylogeny

Traits of species used in this study were not conserved in the phylogeny, as evaluated (p>0.05) through Blomberg's K and Mantel's test (p>0.05) (Table S2).

## 2.4 **Discussion**

We found a significant difference between grassland and forest (Fig. 3,4). As expected, the most traits values in tropical montane grassland were associated with slow strategy (higher LDMC, LD, p88, SM50, Lth, and lower SLA and LA), suggesting that a strategy more conservative (Grime 1977; Pierce et al. 2013; Reich 2014; Oliveira et al. 2021) than the tropical rainforest. Different morphological traits sets between ecosystems (more conservative in grasslands and more acquisitive in the forest) explain a higher resistance to drought in grassland than in the forest. At the global level, we observed that plants in our study are more resistant to drought than other angiosperms under similar MAP.

The higher vulnerability in forests is maximized when considered the higher capacity of foliar water uptake of grassland than forest in the dry season. The higher FWU in grassland

plants could compensate for a lesser water input from precipitation during the dry season. Boanares et al. (2019) showed that terrestrial plants with thinner leaves and smaller water storage space in mesophyll have a higher velocity of FWU, which allows a rapid increase of water potential. That characteristic also explains a higher water quantity absorbed by FWU in thin leaves in epiphytical plants (Gotsch et al. 2015). However, as grassland plants had thicker leaves than the tropical rainforest and did not exhibit changes in leaf water repellency, the higher FWU in grassland in dry season can be explained by three main mechanisms: 1) changes in cuticle in response to higher aridity: plants deposit more hydrophilic substances in the leaf cuticle, increasing FWU performance during driest seasons (Goldsmith et al. 2013; Fernández et al. 2017); 2) stomata partially opened: In natural environment, plants can maintain stomata partially opened allowing gas conductance after few minutes under wetting events, which increase the water input from atmosphere (Merilo et al. 2014; Eller et al. 2016); 3) a strong reverse gradient atmosphere-plant due to altitude: Since these plants are exposed to higher evaporative demand and drying soils during this season than forest, such conditions not only can increase cuticle permeability and cause higher stomatal conductance, but also increase leaf transpiration becoming leaves less saturated (Rundel 1982; Fernández et al. 2017).

From this scenario, a reverse gradient is established when the atmosphere is saturated due to wetting event. As a result, the water deposited on the leaf from wetting events (higher saturation) flows into mesophyll (lower saturation) more easily (Rundel 1982; Cassana et al. 2016; Eller et al. 2016; Berry et al. 2019), buffering the water loss through leaf transpiration. On the other hand, as forest plants occur in an environment with lesser water limitation in dry season, the leaves maintain themselves more saturated, decreasing the gradient atmosphere–plant-soil, minimizing the FWU performance. These results also suggest that a strong difference between leaf-atmosphere osmotic gradient, stomatal opening and cuticle are more important than slow-fast strategies to FWU comparisons between ecosystems, once, even grassland exhibiting conservative traits it can perform more FWU than forest plants.

Despite FWU in grassland being higher than forest in the dry season, different from our expectations, the relationship between higher FWU and more negative p50 in this area was observed during rainy instead of dry season. Such results can be related to higher short-rains episodes (unable to achieve rootzone) during the rainy season, which contributes to guarding cell saturation, leads to stomatal opening and hence water absorption by leaves. This relationship was more evident in some species than other ones. Mimosa montana, a Fabaceae, was able to absorb 8MPa in the wet season with the most negative p50 (-5.65MPa). Plants as

*Mimosa montana* not only live in an environment that provides a strong leaf atmospheric osmotic gradient but also have thin leaves characterized by gain and loss of water easily by FWU, as discussed before. As such plants exhibit a more negative p50, they have a higher embolism resistance even during a drought without fog, when the water-loss is high due to their leaf transpiration. In a different way of FWU x embolism relationship, we did not find the influence of stem woody density in resistance to cavitation in plants. Some studies (Meinzer et al. 2009; Liang et al. 2021) have evaluated the relationship between the WD and resistance to embolism. However, our results are according to studies in local and regional scales (Blackman et al. 2010; Larter et al. 2017; Santiago et al. 2018) in which no relationship was found regardless of the set of plants or ecosystem type. In this case, the resistance to cavitation could be linked to xylem diameter and not necessarily to stem wood density (Larter et al. 2017). Therefore, other traits, such as lignin ornamentation around the xylem vessel, pit membrane thickness among vessels, and vessel length, can contribute to p88 difference between environments (Tyree & Zymmerman, 2013) on smaller one's scales.

Finally, despite grassland exhibiting a higher resistance to drought than forest, we must consider that grassland plants had a low fog exposure during the study period, which can already be a result of global warming. As vulnerability is a concept based on three components, sensitivity, exposure, and adaptation (Adger 2006; Dawson et al. 2011), and as the temperature increases, both environments could be more vulnerable in the next years. On the one hand, rainforest would be more vulnerable because it is more sensitive to drought as described by acquisitive traits values, however, this vegetation has been more exposed to fog regimes so far. On the other hand, grassland even more resistant to drought as described by conservative traits has been exposed to few fog events during study period, which can decrease according to predictions of warming global effects. The fast decrease of fog exposure in grassland may increase the drought vulnerability in these environments, especially because grassland plants evolved under fog exposure (Safford 1999). A similar result was observed in (Aguirre-Gutiérrez et al. 2020) in a comparative study between a dry and a rainforest under dry scenarios in Africa. In this study, dry forest plants with more conservative traits were less exposed to water resources than rainforest and hence had a lower taxonomic and functional diversity (i.e. fewer species and higher functional similarity) when exposed to drought. It indicates mortality of individuals and species by drought in arid vegetation, despite their conservative traits as we suggested here to grassland.

In conclusion, even that 1) both ecosystems being more resistant to drought than other angiosperms under similar MAP (Fig. 5), which is related to those plants have developed

strategies to cope with drought along with evolution due to high altitude and; 2) such plants being prone to similar exposure to climate change effects (i.e. similar changes in MAP, MAT and cloud-uplift) according to atmospheric models proposed. Our study showed that the vulnerability is differential between ecosystems with tropical rainforest species more vulnerable (p88 more positive, SM50 narrower and lesser FWU) to drought than grassland plants. However, we supported that a higher vulnerability to drought is expected in both environments when considering climate change scenarios. Even being more resistant than forest and exhibiting conservative traits, grassland might be prone to a lesser fog exposure in the next decades. Finally, our study showed the importance of considering FWU performance since it is a process that increases the resistance to drought in plants in general, and its contribution occurs regardless of the type of plant economics strategy.

## Acknowledgements

This paper is part of PhD thesis of BBZ. We are thankful to Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (Capes) (Finance code 88882.182450/2018-01) and Faperj nota 10 (Finance code E-26/200.368/2020) for financial support during this study development. We also thank Tijuca National Park and Itatiaia National Park for the logistic support and undergraduate and graduate students, especially BP, RF and AFC for helping with traits measurements. BHPR was supported by Faperj (Bolsa Jovem Cientista do Nosso Estado-Faperj; E-26/202.722/2019) and Prociencia Program (UERJ). We do not have conflict of interest.

# REFERENCES

Adger WN. 2006. Vulnerability. Glob Environ Chang. 16(3):268–281. oi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.02.006. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959378006000422.

Aguirre-Gutiérrez J, Malhi Y, Lewis SL, Fauset S, Adu-Bredu S, Affum-Baffoe K, Baker TR, Gvozdevaite A, Hubau W, Moore S, et al. 2020. Long-term droughts may drive drier tropical

forests towards increased functional, taxonomic and phylogenetic homogeneity. Nat Commun. 11(1):1–10. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-16973-4.

Aparecido LMT, Teodoro GS, Mosquera G, Brum M, Barros F de V., Pompeu PV, Rodas M, Lazo P, Müller CS, Mulligan M, et al. 2018. Ecohydrological drivers of Neotropical vegetation in montane ecosystems. Ecohydrology. 11(3). doi:10.1002/eco.1932.

Berry ZC, Emery NC, Gotsch SG, Goldsmith GR. 2019. Foliar water uptake: Processes, pathways, and integration into plant water budgets. Plant Cell Environ. 42(2):410–423. doi:10.1111/pce.13439. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/pce.13439.

Berry ZC, Smith WK. 2013. Ecophysiological importance of cloud immersion in a relic spruce–fir forest at elevational limits, southern Appalachian Mountains, USA. Oecologia. 173(3):637–648. doi:10.1007/s00442-013-2653-4. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00442-013-2653-4.

Berry ZC, White JC, Smith WK. 2014. Foliar uptake, carbon fluxes and water status are affected by the timing of daily fog in saplings from a threatened cloud forest. J Refug Stud. 34(5):459–470. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpu032.

Blackman CJ, Brodribb TJ, Jordan GJ. 2010. Leaf hydraulic vulnerability is related to conduit dimensions and drought resistance across a diverse range of woody angiosperms. New Phytol. 188(4):1113–1123. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03439.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03439.x.

Blomberg SP, Garland T, Ives AR. 2003. Testing for phylogenetic signal in comparative data: behavioral traits are more labile. Evolution (N Y). 57(4):717–745. doi:10.1111/j.0014-3820.2003.tb00285.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.0014-3820.2003.tb00285.x.

Boanares D, Kozovits AR, Lemos-Filho JP, Isaias RMS, Solar RRR, Duarte AA, Vilas-Boas T, França MGC. 2019. Foliar water-uptake strategies are related to leaf water status and gas exchange in plants from a ferruginous rupestrian field. Am J Bot. 106(7):ajb2.1322. doi:doi.org/10.1002/ajb2.1322. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ajb2.1322.

Cassana FF, Eller CB, Oliveira RS, Dillenburg LR. 2016. Effects of soil water availability on foliar water uptake of Araucaria angustifolia. Plant Soil. 399(1–2):147–157. doi:10.1007/s11104-015-2685-0.

Choat B, Jansen S, Brodribb TJ, Cochard H, Delzon S, Bhaskar R, Bucci SJ, Feild TS, Gleason SM, Hacke UG, et al. 2012. Global convergence in the vulnerability of forests to drought. Nature. 491(7426):752–755. doi:10.1038/nature11688.

Dawson TP, Jackson ST, House JI, Prentice IC, Mace GM. 2011. Beyond Predictions: Biodiversity Conservation in a Changing Climate. Science (80-). 332(6025):53–58. doi:10.1126/science.1200303. http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1200303.

Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS. 2013. Foliar uptake of fog water and transport belowground alleviates drought effects in the cloud forest tree species, Drimys brasiliensis (Winteraceae). New Phytol. 199(1):151–162. doi:10.1111/nph.12248.

Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS. 2016. Cloud forest trees with higher foliar water uptake capacity and anisohydric behavior are more vulnerable to drought and climate change. New

Phytol. 211(2):489–501. doi:10.1111/nph.13952.

Fernández V, Bahamonde HA, Peguero-Pina JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil L, Goldbach HE, Eichert T. 2017. Physico-chemical properties of plant cuticles and their functional and ecological significance. J Exp Bot. 68(19):5293–5306. doi:10.1093/jxb/erx302.

Fuenzalida TI, Bryant CJ, Ovington LI, Yoon HJ, Oliveira RS, Sack L, Ball MC. 2019. Shoot surface water uptake enables leaf hydraulic recovery in Avicennia marina. New Phytol. 224(4):1504–1511. doi:10.1111/nph.16126.

Goldsmith GR, Matzke NJ, Dawson TE. 2013. The incidence and implications of clouds for cloud forest plant water relations. Ecol Lett. 16(3):307–314. doi:10.1111/ele.12039.

Gotsch SG, Nadkarni N, Darby A, Glunk A, Dix M, Davidson K, Dawson TE. 2015. Life in the treetops: Ecophysiological strategies of canopy epiphytes in a tropical montane cloud forest. Ecol Monogr. 85(3):393–412. doi:10.1890/14-1076.1.

Grime JP. 1977. The University of Chicago Evidence for the Existence of Three Primary Strategies in Plants and Its Relevance to Ecological and Evolutionary Theory Author (s): J. P. Grime. Evol Theory.

Hacke UG, Sperry JS, Wheeler JK, Castro L. 2006. Scaling of angiosperm xylem structure with safety and efficiency. Tree Physiol. 26(6):689–701. doi:10.1093/treephys/26.6.689.

Holder CD. 2020. Advances and Future Research Directions in the Study of Leaf Water Repellency. InForest-Water Interactions (pp. 261-278). Springer, Cham.

ICMBio. 2008. Plano de manejo do Parque Nacional da Tijuca - volume I. I:1079.

ICMBio. 2014. Plano de Manejo do Parque Nacional do Itatiaia, Encarte 3 - Análise da Unidade de Conservação. :547.

IPCC, 2021: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.

Körner C. 2003. Limitation and stress - Always or never? J Veg Sci. 14(2):141–143. doi:10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02138.x.

Larter M, Pfautsch S, Domec JC, Trueba S, Nagalingum N, Delzon S. 2017. Aridity drove the evolution of extreme embolism resistance and the radiation of conifer genus Callitris. New Phytol. 215(1):97–112. doi:10.1111/nph.14545.

Laur J, Hacke UG. 2014. Exploring P icea glauca aquaporins in the context of needle water uptake and xylem refilling. New Phytol. 203(2):388–400. doi:10.1111/nph.12806. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/nph.12806.

Liang X, Ye Q, Liu H, Brodribb TJ. 2021. Wood density predicts mortality threshold for

diverse trees. New Phytol. 229(6):3053–3057. doi:10.1111/nph.17117. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/nph.17117.

Lyra A, Tavares P, Chou SC, Sueiro G, Dereczynski C, Sondermann M, Silva A, Marengo J, Giarolla A. 2018. Climate change projections over three metropolitan regions in Southeast Brazil using the non-hydrostatic Eta regional climate model at 5-km resolution. Theor Appl Climatol. 132(1–2):663–682. doi:10.1007/s00704-017-2067-z. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00704-017-2067-z.

Matos IS, Rosado BHP. 2016. Retain or repel? Droplet volume does matter when measuring leaf wetness traits. Ann Bot. 117(6):1045–1052. doi:10.1093/aob/mcw025.

Meinzer FC, Johnson DM, Lachenbruch B, McCulloh KA, Woodruff DR. 2009. Xylem hydraulic safety margins in woody plants: coordination of stomatal control of xylem tension with hydraulic capacitance. Funct Ecol. 23(5):922–930. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01577.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01577.x.

Merilo E, Jõesaar I, Brosché M, Kollist H. 2014. To open or to close: Species-specific stomatal responses to simultaneously applied opposing environmental factors. New Phytol. 202(2):499–508. doi:10.1111/nph.12667.

Niinemets, Ü. 2001. Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. Ecology, 82(2), 453-469.

Oliveira RS, Eller CB, Barros F de V., Hirota M, Brum M, Bittencourt P. 2021. Linking plant hydraulics and the fast–slow continuum to understand resilience to drought in tropical ecosystems. New Phytol. 230(3):904–923. doi:10.1111/nph.17266. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/nph.17266.

Perez-Harguindeguy N, Garnier E, Lavorel S, Poorter H, Jaureguiberry P, Cornwell WK, Craine JM, Gurvich DE, Urcelay C, Veneklaas EJ, et al. 2013. New handbook for standardised measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. Aust J Bot. 61:167–234. doi:10.1071/BT12225.

Pierce S, Brusa G, Vagge I, Cerabolini BEL. 2013. Allocating CSR plant functional types: the use of leaf economics and size traits to classify woody and herbaceous vascular plants. Thompson K, editor. Funct Ecol. 27(4):1002–1010. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12095. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1365-2435.12095.

Pounds JA, Fogden MPL, Campbell JH. 1999. Biological response to climate change on a tropical mountain. Nature. 398(6728):611–615. doi:10.1038/19297.

Reich PB. 2014. The world-wide "fast-slow" plant economics spectrum: A traits manifesto. J Ecol. 102(2):275–301. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12211.

Rosado BHP, Oliveira RS, Marinho Aidar MP. 2010. Is leaf water repellency related to vapor pressure deficit and crown exposure in tropical forests? Acta Oecologica. 36(6):645–649. doi:10.1016/j.actao.2010.10.001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2010.10.001.

Rundel PW. 1982. Water Uptake by Organs Other Than Roots. In: Physiological Plant Ecology II. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 111–134. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-68150-9\_5. Safford HD. 1999. Brazilian Páramos I. An introduction to the physical environment and vegetation of the campos de altitude. J Biogeogr. 26:693–712.

Safford HD. 2001. Brazilian Paramos. III. Patterns and Rates of Postfire Regeneration in the Campos de Altitude1. Biotropica. 33(2):282–302. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7429.2001.tb00179.x. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2001.tb00179.x.

Santiago LS, De Guzman ME, Baraloto C, Vogenberg JE, Brodie M, Hérault B, Fortunel C, Bonal D. 2018. Coordination and trade-offs among hydraulic safety, efficiency and drought avoidance traits in Amazonian rainforest canopy tree species. New Phytol. 218(3):1015–1024. doi:10.1111/nph.15058. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/nph.15058.

Scarano FR. 2002. Structure, function and floristic relationships of plant communities in stressful habitats marginal to the Brazilian Atlantic rainforest. Ann Bot. 90(4):517–524. doi:10.1093/aob/mcf189.

Schreel JDM, Van de Wal BAE, Hervé-Fernandez P, Boeckx P, Steppe K. 2019. Hydraulic redistribution of foliar absorbed water causes turgor-driven growth in mangrove seedlings. Plant Cell Environ.:0–2. doi:10.1111/pce.13556. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13556.

Sedio BE, Wright SJ, Dick CW. 2012. Trait evolution and the coexistence of a species swarm in the tropical forest understorey. J Ecol.:1183–1193. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2012.01993.x.

Segadas-Vianna F, Dau L. 1965. Ecology of the Itatiaia range, Southeastern Brazil. II – Climates and altitudinal climatic zonation. :53, 31–53.

Sperry JS. 2003. Evolution of Water Transport and Xylem Structure. Int J Plant Sci. 164(S3):S115–S127. doi:10.1086/368398. http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/368398.

Still CJ, Foster PN, Schneider SH. 1999. Simulating the effects of climate change on tropical montane cloud forests. Nature. 398(6728):608–610. doi:10.1038/19293.

Tyree MT, Zimmermann MH. 2013. Xylem structure and the ascent of sap. Springer Science & Business Media.

Uehara Y, Kume A, Chiwa M, Honoki H, Zhang J, Watanabe K. 2015. Atmospheric deposition and interactions with Pinus pumila Regal canopy on Mount Tateyama in the Northern Japanese Alps. Arctic, Antarct Alp Res. 47(2):389–399. doi:10.1657/AAAR0013-126.

Urli M, Porte AJ, Cochard H, Guengant Y, Burlett R, Delzon S. 2013. Xylem embolism threshold for catastrophic hydraulic failure in angiosperm trees. Tree Physiol. 33(7):672–683. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpt030. https://academic.oup.com/treephys/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/treephys/tpt030.

Webb CO, Donoghue MJ. 2005. Phylomatic: tree assembly for applied phylogenetics. Mol Ecol Notes. 5(1):181–183. doi:10.1111/j.1471-8286.2004.00829.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2004.00829.x.

Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, Cavender-Bares J, Chapin T, Cornelissen JHC, Diemer M, et al. 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum.

Nature. 428(6985):821–827. http://www.nature.com/articles/nature02403. doi:10.1038/nature02403.

	Rainy	v seasoi	1	Dry se	ason	
trait	t	df	р	t	df	р
LA	2.582	9	0.02*	5.4599	9	0.0004*
SLA	5.8212	9	0.0002	0.65	9	0.0001*
LDMC	-4.2767	9	0.002	-3.8679	9	0.003
LD	-2.0053	9	0.07	-3.6963	9	0.004*
LTH	-2.7861	9	0.02	-3.6064	9	0.005*
FWU	-2.0522	9	0.07*	-2.2889	9	0.047
Abaxial LWR			0.25			0.49
Adaxial LWR			0.16			0.49
WD	-0.712	5	0.50	-0.902	5	0.40
p50				1.70	5	0.14
p88				3.13	4	0.03
SM50	-4.10	3	0.02			
SM88	-0.18	4	0.86			

Table S1 - Summary of paired t – test

Legend: Leaf area (LA, cm<sup>2</sup>), specific leaf area (SLA, cm g-1), leaf dry matter content (LDMC, %), leaf thickness (Lth, mm), leaf density (LD, mg. mm3), foliar water uptake (FWU, MPa) and stem wood density (WD, g cm-3), value at which 50% of hydraulic conductivity is lost ( p50 MPa), value at which 88% of hydraulic conductivity is lost, (p88, MPa), safety margin from p50, (SM50, MPa) and safety margin from p88, (SM 88, MPa), as well as Wilcoxon-test to abaxial leaf water repellency (ab LWR, °), adaxial leaf water repellency (ab LWR, °) in each environment, tropical rainforest or tropical montane rainforest in a rainy and dry season, in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. t means t value, df means degrees of

freedom, p means p-value. p-value in bold means p<0.05. Values with \* were transformated with log to run analyses, except by LD which was transformed with exponential. Source: The author, 2022.

		Rainy season				Dry season			
Trait	K	р	R	р	K	р	R	р	
LA	0.47	0.37	0.01	0.38	0.42	0.46	0.001	0.44	
SLA	0.34	0.86	-0.01	0.45	0.30	0.95	-0.12	0.97	
LDMC	0.44	0.37	0.03	0.33	0.40	0.56	0.008	0.37	
LD	0.40	0.56	-0.04	0.66	0.40	0.54	-0.07	0.85	
Lth	0.39	0.64	0.08	0.18	0.33	0.84	0.022	0.40	
FWU	0.50	0.26	-0.01	0.49	0.45	0.36	0.02	0.47	
Abaxial LWR	0.49	0.33	0.01	0.30	0.54	0.20	0.009	0.42	
Adaxial LWR	0.47	0.41	-0.02	0.56	0.62	0.13	0.005	0.31	
WD	0.41	0.66	-0.31	1.00	0.51	0.41	-0.23	0.99	
p50					0.52	0.44	0.14	0.14	
p88					0.44	0.57	0.08	0.26	
SM50	0.76	0.13	-0.20	0.87					
SM88	0.55	0.31	-0.22	0.95					

Table S2 - Summary of Blomberg's K statistics and Mantel test

Legend: Blomberg's K statistics K and p-value and Mantel test R and p-value of leaf area (LA, cm<sup>2</sup>), specific leaf area (SLA, cm g-1), leaf dry matter content (LDMC, %), leaf thickness (Lth, mm), leaf density (LD, mg. mm3), FWU (foliar water uptake, MPa), abaxial leaf water repellency (ab LWR, °), adaxial leaf water repellency (ab LWR, °) stem wood density (WD, g cm-3), value at which 50% hydraulic conductivity is lost, (p50, MPa), value at which 88% hydraulic conductivity is lost p88 (MPa), safety margin from p50, (SM50,MPa) and safety margin from p88, (SM88,MPa) of 19 species, of 6 familes between tropical rainforest and tropical montane grassland in rainy and dry season, in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. p-value in bold means p<0.05.

Source: The author, 2022.

season	environment	family	species	LA (cm2)	SLA (cm2 g-1)	LDMC (%)	Lth (mm)	LD (mg.mm3	WD ) (gcm- 3)	Ab LWR (°)	ad LWR (°)	FWU (MPa)
rainy	Forest	Asteraceae	Critoniopsis stellata	195.16	340.37	15.25	0.13	0.22	0.22	62.79	5.68	0.86
rainy	Forest	Cyperaceae	Pleurostachys tenuiflora	39.07	273.11	28.67	0.16	0.22	NA	49.24	3.34	1.23
rainy	Forest	Fabaceae	Pseudopiptadenia leptostachya	94.36	229.13	34.17	0.11	0.39	0.58	53.08	10.53	2.14
rainy	Forest	Iridaceae	Neomarica longifolia	60.20	97.02	12.54	0.20	0.53	NA	50.52	7.35	0.49
rainy	Forest	Melastomataceae	Leandra variabilis	179.52	239.33	22.66	0.27	0.15	0.41	58.71	8.09	0.85
rainy	Forest	Myrtaceae	Plinia cauliflora	12.24	219.32	42.09	0.09	0.46	0.69	54.12	2.65	1.13
rainy	Forest	Poaceae	Chusquea bambusoides	29.07	317.55	41.55	0.09	0.34	NA	52.80	7.48	1.21
rainy	Forest	Primulaceae	Mysine gardneriana	48.40	242.03	17.08	0.25	0.14	0.42	50.11	2.64	0.20
rainy	Forest	Proteaceae	Roupala sculpta	401.09	91.37	42.63	0.33	0.56	0.58	43.93	4.93	1.33
rainy	Forest	Rubiaceae	Psychotria leiocarpa	9.10	308.17	29.23	0.10	0.31	0.43	NA	NA	0.85
rainy	Grassland	Asteraceae	Baccharis uncinella	0.39	92.43	41.53	0.27	0.83	0.58	53.66	5.76	0.72
rainy	Grassland	Cyperaceae	Machaerina ensifolia	29.05	36.73	34.07	0.90	0.30	NA	57.84	3.14	0.35
rainy	Grassland	Fabaceae	Mimosa montana	1.84	196.85	32.41	0.09	0.57	0.47	103.50	10.38	8.48
rainy	Grassland	Iridaceae	Sisyrinchium palmifolium	15.04	57.81	40.18	0.54	0.33	NA	96.60	8.14	0.41
rainy	Grassland	Melastomataceae	Pleroma hospita	0.88	108.05	37.47	0.33	0.2	8 0.45	56.20	7.10	1.98
rainy	Grassland	Myrtaceae	Myrceugenia alpigena	0.88	43.50	49.94	0.59	0.3	9 0.56	48.04	10.91	0.65
rainy	Grassland	Poaceae	Chusquea pinifolia	0.38	119.14	58.038	0.16	0.5	0 NA	60.84	10.66	6.20

Table S3 - Mean of leaf traits and stem woody density

rainy	Grassland	Primulaceae	Mysine gardneriana	14.89	83.18	33.63	0.36	0.33	0.55	58.35	3.65	0.22
rainy	Grassland	Proteaceae	Roupala montana	20.07	34.74	48.85	0.42	0.74	0.61	45.64	4.41	1.17
rainy	Grassland	Rubiaceae	Galium humile	0.06	142.65	36.83	0.20	0.37	NA	NA	NA	1.32
dry	Forest	Asteraceae	Critoniopsis stellata	196.41	390.25	14.30	0.21	0.11	0.29	60.99	75.10	0.55
dry	Forest	Cyperaceae	Pleurostachys tenuiflora	35.00	276.33	23.21	0.13	0.29	NA	41.98	46.92	1.88
dry	Forest	Fabaceae	Pseudopiptadenia leptostachya	122.72	212.47	39.81	0.09	0.49	0.54	41.33	47.94	2.37
dry	Forest	Iridaceae	Neomarica longifolia	124.61	200.46	12.55	0.18	0.27	NA	63.17	60.78	0.44
dry	Forest	Melastomataceae	Leandra variabilis	177.32	305.60	23.86	0.18	0.20	0.43	41.30	45.10	0.75
dry	Forest	Myrtaceae	Plinia cauliflora	9.910	222.04	43.11	0.10	0.44	0.73	47.01	46.71	0.86
dry	Forest	Poaceae	Chusquea bambusoides	20.13	244.47	40.47	0.10	0.44	NA	37.06	37.07	1.69
dry	Forest	Primulaceae	Mysine gardneriana	47.08	228.86	20.22	0.21	0.20	0.39	38.18	41.19	0.52
dry	Forest	Proteaceae	Roupala sculpta	331.87	126.09	39.42	0.21	0.37	0.72	42.84	37.93	0.42
dry	Forest	Rubiaceae	Psychotria leiocarpa	8.83	338.75	27.99	0.09	0.31	NA	NA	NA	0.17
dry	Grassland	Asteraceae	Baccharis uncinella	0.39	91.53	43.58	0.23	0.49	0.55	34.76	76.57	0.44
dry	Grassland	Cyperaceae	Machaerina ensifolia	27.28	66.53	42.49	0.35	0.48	NA	43.87	44.16	0.44
dry	Grassland	Fabaceae	Mimosa montana	2.10	251.92	35.05	0.08	0.50	0.70	104.94	104.26	4.34
dry	Grassland	Iridaceae	Sisyrinchium palmifolium	18.96	57.034	39.98	0.50	0.36	NA	107.41	103.07	0.51
dry	Grassland	Melastomataceae	Pleroma hospita	1.25	86.36	39.46	0.24	0.49	0.50	54.62	65.54	3.50
dry	Grassland	Myrtaceae	Myrceugenia alpigena	1.31	40.68	50.21	0.49	0.50	0.56	31.09	26.19	1.07
dry	Grassland	Poaceae	Chusquea pinifolia	0.39	113.18	53.87	0.13	0.50	NA	40.93	34.65	6.93
dry	Grassland	Primulaceae	Mysine	14.62	79.85	35.22	0.39	0.32	0.55	46.13	44.75	2.18

			gardneriana									
dry	Grassland	Proteaceae	Roupala montana	15.88	50.46	45.26	0.37	0.53	0.61	37.95	34.47	1.28
dry	Grassland	Rubiaceae	Galium humile	0.13	171.10	30.70	0.19	0.31	NA	NA	NA	2.56

Legend: Mean of leaf area (LA, cm<sup>2</sup>), specific leaf area (SLA, cm<sup>2</sup> g-1), leaf dry matter content (LDMC, %), leaf thickness (Lth, mm), leaf density (LD, mg. mm3), stem wood density (WD, g cm-3), abaxial leaf water repellency (ab LWR, °), adaxial leaf water repellency (ad LWR, °) and FWU (foliar water uptake, MPa) of each species of each family studied in each environment, tropical rainforest or tropical montane grassland, in rainy and dry season, in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
Source: The author, 2022.

Environment	Family	Species	p50	p88	sm50	sm88
Forest	Asteraceae	Critoniopsis stellata	-2.66	-4.12	1.53	3.00
		Pseudopiptadenia				
Forest	Fabaceae	leptostachya	-2.75	-4.29	NA	NA
Forest	Melastomataceae	Leandra variabilis	-3.32	-6.16	2.55	5.39
Forest	Myrtaceae	Plinia cauliflora	-1.25	-4.59	0.35	3.69
Forest	Primulaceae	Mysine gardneriana	-2.06	-4.40	1.18	3.52
Forest	Proteaceae	Roupala sculpta	-4.82	-9.60	3.93	8.71
Grassland	Asteraceae	Baccharis uncinella	-4.07	-7.42	2.58	5.94
Grassland	Fabaceae	Mimosa montana	-5.65	-8.52	NA	NA
Grassland	Melastomataceae	Pleroma hospita	-4.13	-7.83	3.41	7.12
Grassland	Myrtaceae	Myrceugenia alpigena	-2.67	-5.46	1.53	4.31
Grassland	Primulaceae	Mysine gardneriana	-2.49	-5.13	1.44	4.08
Grassland	Proteaceae	Roupala montana	-3.57	-4.90	2.73	4.06

Table S4 – Mean of resistance to embolism traits

Legend: Mean of leaf water potential in which 50% hydraulic conductivity is lost (p50), the leaf water potential in which 88% hydraulic conductivity is lost (p88), safety margin from p50 (SM50), and safety margin from p88 of 11 species of plants belonging to 6 botanical families between tropical rainforest and tropical montane grassland, in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Source: The author, 2022.

Environment	Season	Predictor	Responsive	Estimate	<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	p-value
		variable	variable			
Forest	Rainy	FWU	p50	-0.12	0.05	0.64
			p88	-0.57	0.00003	0.99
	Dry		p50	-0.1	0.02	0.75
			p88	34.25	0.13	0.47
	Rainy	WD	p50	0.01	0.006	0.87
			p88	-8.33	0.1	0.52
	Dry		p50	-0.02	0.01	0.79
			p88	-13.70	0.24	0.32
Grassland	Rainy	FWU	p50	-2.37	0.76	0.02
			p88	-1.39	0.48	0.12
	Dry		p50	-0.48	0.21	0.12
			p88	-0.18	0.11	0.51
	Rainy	WD	p50	0.03	0.30	0.25
			p88	0.03	0.54	0.09
	Dry		p50	-0.03	0.37	0.19
			p88	-0.009	0.05	0.66

Table S5 – Summary of simple regressions between FWU/WD and p50/p88

Legend: R means the coefficient of determination; p-value in bold means p<0.05. Source: The author, 2022.



Figure S1 - Vulnerability curves of 11 species belonging to six plant families of woody species

Legend: Plots (A, C, E, G, I, K) show occurring species in tropical rainforest (B, D, F, H, J, L) in tropical montane grassland in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Pairs (A, B) = Asteraceae, (C, D) = Fabaceae, (E, F) =

Melastomataceae, (G, H) = Myrtaceae, (I, J) = Primulaceae, (K, L) = Proteaceae. Blue circles mean the leaf water potential at which 50% of hydraulic conductivity is lost (P50), and triangle circles mean the leaf water potential at which 88% of hydraulic conductivity is lost (p88) in xylem vessels. Source: The author, 2022.

Figure S2 - Phylogenetic tree with pairs of plants used in this study



Legend: The first species of each pair occur in Tropical Rainforest, while the second species correspond to tropical montane grassland in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. The species Myrsine gardneriana occurs in both environments.

Figure S3 - Phylogenetically comparison of leaf water repellency during rainy and dry season between plants of tropical rainforest (Forest) and tropical montane grassland (Grassland), in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.



Legend: Phylogenetically independent contrast comparison of leaf water repellency during the rainy season on abaxial surface (A) and adaxial surface (B) and during dry season on abaxial surface (C) and adaxial surface (D) evaluated through Wilcoxon-test (P<0,05), of nine phylogenetic pairs of plants between a tropical rainforest (Forest) and a tropical montane grassland (Grassland) in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Asteraceae = Orange, Cyperaceae = yellow, Fabaceae = violet, Iridaceae = brown, Melastomataceae = green, Myrtaceae = dark blue, Poaceae = pink, Primulaceae = red, Proteaceae = light blue.

Source: The author, 2022.

Figure S4 - Phylogenetically comparison of stem woody density during rainy and dry season between plants of tropical rainforest (Forest) and tropical montane grassland (Grassland), in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.



Legend: Phylogenetically independent contrast of stem wood density (WD) in rainy season (A) and dry season (B), evaluated through paired t-test (P<0,05), between six phylogenetic pairs of plants in regard to occurrence environment, tropical rainforest (Forest) and tropical montane grassland (Grassland) in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Asteraceae = Orange, Fabaceae = violet, Melastomataceae = green, Myrtaceae = dark blue, Primulaceae = red, Proteaceae = light blue, outlier = grey. Source: The author, 2022.

Figure S5 - Correlations between p50 (MPa) and p88 (MPa) and foliar water uptake (FWU) and stem wood density (WD) of plants in tropical rainforest and tropical montane grassland in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.



Legend: Blue triangles mean the tropical rainforest plants and red squares mean the tropical montane grassland. R squared followed by (\*) means p<0.05. Source: The author, 2022.

# 3 PALEOCLIMATE MODELS PREDICT THE FUNCTIONAL PROFILE OF VEGETATIONS ON CLIMATE CHANGE SCENARIOS

Manuscrito a ser submetido na revista científica Annals of Botany

Bianca B. Zorger<sup>1</sup>, Ilaíne Silveira Matos<sup>2</sup>, Bruno H. P. Rosado<sup>1</sup>

1 - Department of Ecology, IBRAG, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (UERJ), Rua Sao Francisco Xavier, PHLC, sala 220, 20550900, Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

2 – Macrosystem Ecology Laboratory, University of California Berkeley, 309 Hilgard Hall,
 CA 94720, Berkeley, California, United States

Autor for correspondence: biancazorger@gmail.com

Running title: Paleoclimate models predict vegetation on scenarios of climate change

## Abstract

Atmospheric models have predicted an increase in temperature and precipitation in different regions around the world. However, such models do not consider environmental changes due to altitude. In this case, paleoclimate models based on morphological traits x climate can be an alternative to understanding the effects of climate change in high altitude ecosystems. Here, (1) we evaluated if species with higher resistance to drought (e.g. small and leaves with entire margins) will increase their proportion in function of increase of temperature (3°C) even with a slight increase in precipitation (in 15 mm) in the driest months – as proposed by PBMC (2013); (2) subsequently, we investigated if physiological traits explain changes in the proportion of species on current scenario, using a tropical montane grassland in the southeast of Brazil as a model, We correlated morphological traits (leaf size and leaf teeth) from localities of Southern Hemisphere, including the tropical montane grassland, with temperature and precipitation data. We evaluated if physiological traits (i.e. leaf water potential, stomatal conductance, foliar water uptake and turgor loss point) change in association with presence of teeth in leaves. In tropical montane grassland, an increase of temperature in 3°C associated with an increase in 15 mm in precipitation in 2100, increase the proportion of species with entire leaves from 38% to 75%, hence decreasing the proportion of species with leaf teeth margin from 62% to 25%, which indicate an increase of conservative strategy in that vegetation. In addition, although plants with leaf teeth have a higher leaf water potential, they also have a higher stomatal conductance than plants with entire leaves, which make these plants more vulnerable to drought in the future. In the future, an increase in the proportion of plants with conservative traits (more resistance to drought) and a decrease of acquisitive traits indicate a change in the turnover of species in tropical montane grassland. Therefore, climate models based on traits can be used not only in paleoclimate reconstruction but also to predict changes in flora.

**Keywords:** Campos de altitude, CLAMP, climate models, drought vulnerability, integrative traits, leaf teeth, foliar water uptake.

# 3.1 Introduction

Climate models based on atmospheric circulation predict an increase of temperature from 1.4 to 4.4°C until 2100 (IPCC 2021). One of the consequences is concentrated heavy rains followed by prolonged droughts (Feng et al. 2013; Lyra et al. 2018). However, such models do not explicitly estimate how climate change affects higher altitude areas, mainly due to the need for high resolution to capture fast variations in altitude. Altitude vegetation is usually exposed to low atmospheric pressure and higher solar radiation (Still et al. 1999; Leuschner 2000; Körner 2007; Assis and Mattos 2016). Those conditions result in a higher vapour pressure deficit (VPD), which promotes water loss via leaf transpiration and consequently increases plants' vulnerability to drought by hydraulic failure (see McDowell et al. 2008; Choat et al. 2018). Among the approaches able to predict how species will respond to climate change, paleoclimate models can be good tools to obtain more accurate predictions at altitude vegetations, such as highlands, páramos, punas, alps, tropical montane cloud vegetation. It because such models are based on detecting specific correspondence between plant functional traits and current climates, so they allow not only climate reconstruction but also detect which are the responsive traits to environment changes (Wolf 1990; Greenwood 1992; Wolfe 1993; Little et al. 2010; Peppe et al. 2018).

Such paleoclimatic approach has been used over the last 100 years (Royer and Wilf 2006; Royer et al. 2008). In this model type, fossil leaves are used as a proxy to climate description for a given period (Wolfe 1993; Little et al. 2010). For example, plant turnover toward the increase of leaf size and cuticle changes can suggest an increase in global temperature, followed by a cooling down, as observed in the cretaceous – tertiary period (Wolfe and Upchurch 1986; Wolf 1990). However, could leaf traits x climate relationship also describe changes in the vegetation in climate change scenarios?

There is evidence that leaf traits are good predictors of climate, regardless of the time of interest, since they are highly responsive to environmental variations (Givnish 1979; Nicotra et al. 2011; Peppe et al. 2011). In dry and warm environments, plants with smaller, narrow, and entire leaves (i.e., entire leaves refer to leaves without teeth in their margins sensu Kennedy et al. (2014) are predominant. Such traits minimize water loss due to smaller leaf transpiration surfaces (Givnish 1979; Givnish 1984) and reduce embolism risks due to higher leaf venation (Scoffoni et al. 2011)). Besides, the leaf morphological traits can describe changes in plant ecological strategies and species distribution over time, resulting in the

identification of plants more vulnerable to environmental changes. For example, leaf teeth and larger leaves are traits associated with the fast strategy of leaf economics spectrum, characterized by fast growth (Wright et al. 2004; Royer et al. 2009; Nicotra et al. 2011), higher photosynthesis and leaf transpiration (Wright et al. 2004) and lower leaf mass per area (LMA) (Press 2008, Pierce et al. 2017) and lower resistance to drought (Royer et al. 2008; Peppe et al. 2011; Oliveira et al. 2021). Such traits are predominant in resource-rich sites and/or in seasonal ecosystems (e.g. temperate forests), where the plants exhibit high stomatal conductance and photosynthesis (maximized by leaf teeth) during fast growth phase after winter (Royer and Wilf 2006). On the other hand, plants with entire leaves are associated with conservative resource use, lower photosynthesis and leaf transpiration rates, higher LMA and higher resistance to drought (Wright et al. 2004; Pierce et al. 2017; Peppe et al. 2018). Typical traits of plants from resource-poor environments (Wright et al. 2004).

Morphological leaf traits are widely used in literature and considered good predictors of resistance to drought (Nicotra et al. 2011; Pierce et al. 2017). However, they can respond to multiple environmental factors (Rosado and Mattos 2017; Paine et al. 2018; Volaire 2018) (Rosado and de Mattos 2017; Paine et al. 2018; Volaire 2018). In this sense, traits such as LMA or leaf size can be influenced by different factors simultaneously (e.g. soil nutrients, solar radiation, water available), which hamper the understanding of each response (Moles 2018). On the other hand, physiological traits (e.g. leaf water potential) are more integrative, i.e. "traits that are the result of a set of morphological traits" (Rosado and de Mattos 2017) and able to provide a plant response to drought more accurate (Volaire 2018). It means that physiological traits capture more environment fluctuations and access other mechanisms of dealing with drought, sometimes neither achieved by morphological traits (Rosado and de Mattos 2017) nor smaller scales (Volaire et al. 2020).

Unlike paleoclimate studies, in which the use of physiological traits in paleoclimate predictions is not possible, we can use physiological traits collected currently and explore their implications to the future. In this sense, the use of physiological traits may provide insights into the performance of plants, complementing results from models based on morphological traits.

Aiming to investigate the profile functional of plants based on functional x climate models, we chose a tropical montane grassland named "campos de altitude" located to 2300 m.a.s in the southeast of Brazil as a model. This ecosystem with low vegetation has a set of species with different ecological strategies (Safford 1999; Matos et al. 2020) and many rare and endemic species (Safford 1999). Moreover this vegetation is exposed to high solar radiation,

wind velocity and VPD (Leuschner 2000), conditions that contribute to water loss by leaf transpiration and make plants more vulnerable to atmospheric drought (McDowell et al. 2008; Méndez-Toribio et al. 2020). Regarding the southeast of Brazil, where the tropical montane grassland is located, climate models have indicated an increase of precipitation in 15 mm in 2100 (PBMC 2013) associated with an increase in temperature in 3°C. Such predictions, according to Lyra et al. (2018) in which is predicted an increase of rains in the driest months to 2100 in the southeast of Brazil. Moreover, Assis and Mattos (2016) also indicated a rise of rains to 2050 during the same season in tropical montane grassland. On the other hand, that increase of rains is small and could not compensate for the higher leaf transpiration in tropical montane grassland vegetation due to warming climate, mainly during the driest months when the mean precipitation is about 50 mm (ICMBio 2014). Simultaneously, atmospheric climate models have predicted a potential cloud-uplift, resulting in a lower fog-vegetation contact in mountainous areas. As fog is a complementary source of water via leaf in plants (Eller et al. 2013; Goldsmith et al. 2013; Berry et al. 2019), the tropical montane grassland may be affected by a lower water input due to cloud-uplift. In addition, higher evaporative demand can affect that vegetation simultaneously in the future, which could overlap the benefits from small rains forecast.

Here, we assessed the functional profile of tropical montane grassland in the current and future climate through predictions based on leaf size and leaf teeth and climate change previsions (we used an increase in  $3^{\circ}$ C in temperature and 15 mm in precipitation) from PBMC (2013). We chose the Climate leaf analyses multivariate program (CLAMP) as a paleoclimate model from an online platform developed (clamp.ibcas.ac.cn) based on the physiognomy of leaves of woody plants and climate variables (Wolfe 1993; Yang et al. 2015). Such models have high accuracy and a strong correlation between leaves and climate (Royer et al. 2005). Through this tool, we tested the hypothesis that species with higher resistance to drought (i.e. small and entire leaves, Scenario 2 - Fig. 1) will not be the species with morphology compatible with the prediction of precipitation increase (i.e. big and tooth leaves, Scenario 1 - Fig. 1), proposed by PBMC (2013). From this study case, we showed that paleoclimate models can be used to predict climate change impacts on vegetation. Subsequently, we investigated if physiological traits (e.g. leaf water potential, stomatal conductance, turgor loss point) in association with the presence of leaf teeth can explain changes in the proportion of mountainous plants from the current scenario.



Figure 1 - Representation of hypothesis of plant response to climate changes proposed by PBMC (2013).

Legend: Representation of hypothesis in which species with higher resistance to drought, predicted in the function of fog reduction, higher evaporative demand and increase of temperature (scenario 2), will not be the species with morphology compatible with the prediction of precipitation increase (leaves with teeth and bigger) (scenario 1), proposed by PBMC (2013) to 2100, from current scenario (2015). In scenario 1 the increase in precipitation can compensate for the increase in temperature resulting in acquisitive traits (higher leaves with teeth). In comparison, in scenario 2 the increase in temperature does not compensate for the increase in precipitation resulting in conservative traits (smaller leaves and entire leaves). Source: The author, 2022.

#### 3.2 Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1 Data collection

We used leaf morphological traits (leaf size and leaf teeth, see Table 1) of 42 woody species (except monocots) in the CLAMP models, 63 species (42 shrubs and 21 herbs) in the

FWU traits and nine species (four shrubs and five herbs), in the physiological traits (leaf water potential, stomatal conductance and turgor loss point, see Table 1) of tropical montane grassland (all 63 species used in this study are in Table S1).

Table 1 - List of morphological and physiological traits used in this study and their functional significance.

Trait	Туре	Functional significance	Functional significance in drought situation	Reference
Percentage of species with entire leaves (leaves without projections of leaf surface)	Morphological	Represents a slower cooling down by convection than species with leaf teeth	Plants may have different strategies: Reduce the water-losing through a smaller leaf surface (no teeth) or, cooling down by heat convection through (leaf teeth)	Wolfe 1993
Leaf area (cm²)	Morphological	Represents the leaf size of	Plants with smaller leaves tend to conserve	Wolfe 1993
Microphyll III		for water loss.	more water	
(Leaf area = 14.0-36.0 cm <sup>2</sup> )				
L:W-3 -4:1 (cm)				
(leaf size - 4 times the length of a leaf by 1 width)	Morphological	Describes the leaf size of surface available to water loss.	Plants with narrow leaves conserve more water.	Wolfe 1993
Leaf water potential (MPa)	Physiological	Describes the water status of plant	The water potential becomes more negative, increasing the water uptake capacity from the soil.	Scholande r et al. 1965
Stomatal conductance (Gs) (Mmol m- 2-s-1)	Physiological	Describes the gas exchanges (CO2 uptake) and transpiration in	A lower stomatal conductance decreases the leaf water loss.	Damour et al. 2010

## plants

leaf water potential at turgor loss point (TLP)	Physiological	Water potential at which plants start closing the stomata.	In the situation of drought, plants could reach the TLP faster than in favourable conditions.	Bartlett et al. 2012
Foliar water uptake FWU (%)	Physiological	Percentage of water uptake via leaf during a given period.	In the situation of drought plants can uptake more water via leaf	Limm et al. 2009
Average rate of foliar water uptake (FWU rate) (Mmol m-2-s-1)	Physiological	Velocity of water uptake via leaf during a given period	plants uptake faster water via leaf than favourable conditions.	Limm et al. 2009

Source: The author, 2022.

The leaf morphological traits were sampled from 2015 to 2016 at Itatiaia National Park (22°21'S, 44°40'W, 2400 a.s.l), Rio de Janeiro, Brazil and are available in a database at Plant Ecology laboratory at Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (UERJ). The climate is subtropical of altitude (Cwb, Köppen classification), mean temperature of 14.4°C per year and mean precipitation of 2400 mm per year (Segadas-Vianna and Dau 1965) with low precipitation during the three driest months (until 50 mm per month) (ICMBio 2014). The soils are shallow, compound mainly by litolicos neosols and wet cambisols (ICMBio 2014), where the herbs and shrubs of tropical montane grassland occur (Safford 1999) among the rocky substrate and grasses (ICMBio 2014). During the dry season (from May to August)frost events are common (about 56 days/year), as well as fires in this vegetation (Segadas-Vianna and Dau 1965; Safford 2001).

To models buiding, we selected woody dicotyledons species (lianas, shrubs, and trees), because the CLAMP database uses only woody dicotyledons species. We classified the leaves following the online CLAMP platform (Wolfe 1993; Yang et al. 2015). We chose the category of the proportion of species with entire leaves, as a descriptor of drought resistance, a trait used in many models and sensitive to climate variations (Royer et al. 2005; Kennedy et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2015). Moreover, we chose the category of leaf size that characterizes one of the highest plant proportions of tropical montane grassland currently, Microphyll III (14.0-36.0 cm<sup>2</sup>). We selected this category because it contemplates the most abundant plants

in tropical montane grassland and one of the biggest leaves in that type of vegetation. As a higher leaf causes a higher water loss, species with these leaves could become more vulnerable to drought. In addition, we chose the narrow leaf category with a high proportion of plants among other leaf width categories, in which the length is four times the leaf width (L:W-3-4:1), as a drought resistance descriptor. For example, a narrower leaf avoids water loss and contributes to cooling down in leaves by convection due to a lower boundary layer resistance (Vogel 1970). Finally, we calculated the proportion of each leaf trait in tropical montane grassland and added it to CLAMP database.

### 3.2.2 Data analyses

We accessed CLAMP database and related the morphological traits of 90 localities of Southern hemisphere flora (Table S2) with the climate variables: MAT (mean temperature per year) and Three – DRY (mean precipitation in the three driest months). So, firstly, we obtained the linear equation (interest trait = slope a \* (environmental variable a) + slope b \* (environmental variable b) + intercept), from linear regression of each morphological trait selected. Then, we added the temperature and precipitation increased, as proposed by PBMC 2013 to the southeast region of Brazil with the year of greater potential climate change – 2100 (i.e. temperature increase in up 3°C and precipitation increase in up 30% as shown in a more extreme scenario). Finally, we ran the models to verify possible changes in the leaf traits proportion of tropical montane grassland in the future scenario. The equations used in this study are available in Table 2.

Table 2 -	Equations	of models	used to	verification	of proportion	of tropical	montane	grassland
plants								

Trait (%)	Linear model
Entire margin	a = 1.78 *MAT + 0.1*PREC+ 37.22
Microphyll III	a= 1.03*MAT + 0.07*PREC+ 1.07
L:W-3-4:1	a = 0.75*MAT-0.06*PREC+7.33

Source: The author, 2022.

Subsequently, we ran a t-test to evaluate if plants of tropical montane grassland with leaf teeth and without leaf teeth (i.e. entire margin) have different values of physiological traits. In this analysis, we used only presence and absence of leaf teeth, because this trait is widely used in paleoclimate studies, as well as is strongly considered responsive to climate. Besides that, all plants of database could be used in this category (toothed leaves x entire leaves), with an N enough to runs the analysis. In addition to t-test, we ran a two-way ANOVA with post hocs Tukey's test to evaluate potentials interactions between presence of teeth in leaves and life form (shrubs or herbs) in response of physiological traits.

#### 3.3 Results

The current flora of tropical montane grassland had 38.1% of plants with an entire margin in their leaves, 33.33% of plants microphylas III and 14.29% of plants with narrow leaves with four length times higher than the width of leaf surface (L: W-3 -4:1). In the scenario for 2100, the proportion of plants with entire leaves increased with the increasing temperature and precipitation reaching 74.6 % considering all localities ( $R^2 = 0.41$ , p = 6.362e-11) (Fig. 2 A-B). Similarly, we found a decreasing proportion of plants with big leaves in the vegetation (Microphyll III) with the increase of temperature and precipitation (Fig. 2 C-D) (23.54%,  $R^2 = 0.32$ , p = 3.408e-08). We also found that the proportion of narrow leaves in the tropical montane grassland increases in 2100 ( $R^2=0.23$ , p = 8.761e-06), reaching 16.48% (Fig. 2 E-F) in tropical montane grassland. Such results indicate more plants with small, narrow, entire leaves until 2100 in the tropical montane grassland.

Figure 2 - Relationships between the mean temperature per year (MAT, °C) and precipitation during the three driest months (precipitation, mm) and proportion of species of each leaf trait analysed in 2015 and 2100.


Legend: Relationships between the mean annual temperature (°C) and precipitation of three months driest (precipitation mm)) and proportion of species with leaf entire margins in the leaves (A, B), Microphyll III (C,D) and L:W-3 -4:1 (E.F) on scenarios of 2015 and 2100 in localities of Southern hemisphere (grey circles), including a tropical montane grassland in 2015 and (green circle) and 2100 (orange circle) located in Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.  $\beta$  = Partial coefficient estimate and p = p-value. Source: The author, 2022.

Different from expected plants with toothed leaves were those with more positive leaf water potential in predawn and midday (t = -3.96, df = 7, p = 0.005; t = -3.39, df = 7, p = 0.011, Fig. 3 A-B), as well as higher stomatal conductance in the midday (t = 3.33, df = 7, p = 0.012, Fig. 3 D). However, stomatal conductance in the predawn, percentage of foliar water uptake and rate of leaf water uptake were similar between plants with entire and toothed

margin in the leaves (t = -1.11, df = 7, p = 0.30; t = 0.52, df = 63, p = 0.60; -0.36, df = 63, p = 0.71, Fig. 3 C,E-F). When considered the life form of plants, we observed that predawn and midday leaf water potential, as well as predawn and midday stomatal conductance are similar between herbs and shrubs (t = -0.45, df = 7, p = 0.66; t = -0.24, df = 7, p = 0.81; df = 1.02, df = 7, p = 0.34; t = 0.89, df = 7, p = 0.40, Fig. 4 A-D), while the percentage of foliar water uptake and the rate of foliar water uptake are higher in herbs than shrubs (t = 3.10, df = 63, p=002; t = 0.0028; t = 3.47, df = 63, p = 0.0009, Fig. 4 E-F) (more details about t-test in Table 3). There was no difference between TLP (t = 0.03, df = 7, p = 0.97) and leaf teeth and, TLP and life form (t = -0.18, df = 7, p = 0.85) (Fig. S1, Table 3).



Figure 3 - Difference of ecophysiological traits between plants with entire margin and toothed margin in the tropical montane grassland in Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Legend: Difference of predawn water potential (PD  $\Psi$ ) (A), midday water potential (MD  $\Psi$ ) (B), predawn stomatal conductance (PD Gs) (C) midday stomatal conductance (MD Gs) (D) proportion of foliar water uptake (FWU%), (E) and the rate of foliar water uptake (FWU rate) (F) in plants with entire margin and toothed margin in the tropical montane grassland, located in the Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Different letters mean p<0.05.

Source: The author, 2022.



Figure 4 - Difference of ecophysiological traits between herbs and shrubs in the tropical montane grassland, localized in Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Legend: Difference of predawn water potential (PD Ψ) (A), midday water potential (MD Ψ) (B), predawn stomatal conductance (PD Gs) (C) midday stomatal conductance (MD Gs) (D) proportion of foliar water uptake (FWU%), (E) and the rate of foliar water uptake (FWU rate) (F) between herbs and shrubs in the tropical montane grassland, located in the Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Different letters mean p<0.05. Source: The author, 2022.

Predictor	Response variable	t value	DF	P value
variable				
Leaf teeth	PDΨ	-3.96	7	0.005
	MDΨ	-3.397	7	0.011
	PD Gs	-1.114	7	0.301
	MD Gs	-3.339	7	0.012
	FWU	0.52089	63	0.6041
	FWU rate	-0.36975	63	0.7128
	TLP	0.0343	7	0.9735
Life form	PDΨ	-0.4534	7	0.6639
	MDΨ	-0.2482	7	0.8110
	PD Gs	1.0223	7	0.3406
	MD Gs	0.8943	7	0.4008
	FWU	3.1037	63	0.0028
	FWU rate	3.4709	63	0.0009
	TLP	-0.1833	7	0.8597

Table 3 - Summary of t-test between physiological traits and leaf teeth and physiological traits and life form.

Legend: PD  $\Psi$  = leaf water potential in the predawn, MD  $\Psi$  = leaf water potential in midday, PD Gs = stomatal conductance in the predawn, MD Gs = stomatal conductance in midday, FWU = percentage of foliar water uptake and FWU rate = average rate of foliar water uptake and TLP = leaf water potential at turgor loss point. t = t value, df = degree of freedom, p = p-value; p-value in bold means significance (p<0.05). FWU was transformed in log and FWU rate in sqrt to run analyses. Source: The author, 2022.

Two-way ANOVA confirmed that toothed plants have higher midday stomatal conductance (F = 13.714, p = 0.01) and higher predawn and midday leaf water potential (F = 11.94, p = 0.01, Fig. S1 a; F = 8.25, p = 0.03) than species with entire leaves. Predawn stomatal conductance and TLP did not differ between toothed and entire leaves in the plants (Table S3). These physiological traits did not change regarding life forms (shrubs or herbs) (Table S3). We observed that species with teeth and entire leaves have similar FWU and FWU rate (Table 3). However, these traits are responsive to life form, with herbs showing higher FWU than shrubs in tropical montane grassland (FWU, F=9.168, p=0.0036; FWU rate, F = 13.168, p=0.0005). After Tukey-test, we found a higher stomatal conductance in midday

in herbs with teeth and lower in shrubs with entire leaves (p=0.04, Fig. S2 D). All other ecophysiological traits were similar for other groups (Fig. S2, S3, S4). There was no interaction among the presence of teeth and life form with influence in physiological traits (All details of Two-way ANOVA are in Table S3).

#### 3.4 Discussion

Our results suggest an increase of conservative strategy in tropical montane grassland in response to the projected increased precipitation and temperature by 2100 - described by an increase in the proportion of species with entire and narrow leaves and a decrease in microphyll III (one of the biggest leaves in this vegetation) proportion. Our results corroborated the hypothesis that species with higher resistance to drought (i.e. small and entire leaves, Scenario 2- Fig. 1), predicted by temperature increasing will not be the species with morphology compatible with precipitation increasing prediction, as proposed by PBMC (2013) (big leaves with teeth, Scenario 1 - Fig.1). Besides, from plant physiological traits, we found mechanisms that explain how plants of tropical montane grassland change their proportion due to climate change effects.

According to literature, plants with large and toothed leaves often occur in a wet environment and exhibit an acquisitive strategy (Royer et al. 2009). In contrast, plants with entire and small leaves predominate in arid environments and save more water (Bailey and Sinnott 1915; Wolfe 1993). However, although we found a predominance of plants with small leaves in the current climate, we also found a higher proportion of plants with teeth in montane tropical grassland. This high proportion of toothed leaves plants can be explained by a positive leaf water potential at predawn and midday, even with higher stomatal conductance at midday than plants with entire leaves. As TLP and FWU were similar between entire and tooth leaves, one possible explanation is those plants with teeth have higher efficiency in heat transfer by convection (Vogel 1970; Gottschlich and Smith 1982). This process contributes to leaf cooling down and decreases leaf water loss through leaf transpiration and minimizes water loss in midday (Vogel 1970; Gottschlich and Smith 1982). Then, the lower water loss by leaf transpiration can minimize leaf water potential in plants with leaf teeth and hence to their higher proportion in the tropical montane grassland currently. Also, the stomatal conductance is often associated with plant water status (Martínez-Vilalta et al. 2014). Then, an additional explanation is that plants with leaf teeth only start closing stomata when leaf water potential gradually becomes more negative, which is slow because of the leaf cooling down. In the current scenario, it could explain a higher stomatal conductance simultaneously to more positive leaf water potential in plants with teeth in the leaves.

In the global warming scenario, we found that plants with entire leaves increased the proportion, while plants with toothed leaves decreased it. Similarly, plants with entire leaves increased in tropical montane grassland, even with a tendency to decrease teeth species in other localizations with an increase of rains in the Southern hemisphere. But, if currently, plants with teeth maintain leaf water potential slightly more positive than plants with entire leaves, how species with leaf teeth could decrease their proportion? Although currently, plants with teeth maintain a leaf water potential more positive, in a scenario of severe drought, these plants might lose water easily to the environment due to higher temperature and higher VPD (Grossiord et al. 2020). It is because plants with teeth often have higher leaf surface, hydathodes, stomatal conductance rate, photosynthesis, and growth rate (Canny 1990; Royer and Wilf 2006). Such traits result in higher water loss compensating the water-saving by cooling down and the water input by rains.

In contrast, plants with entire leaves could save more water in the future scenario, because they have smaller leaf surfaces, lesser stomatal conductance and rarely hydathodes (Royer and Wilf 2006). In this case, plants with teeth and bigger leaves, such as *Leptostelma maximun* D. Don (Asteraceae) may be more prone to extinction than plants with conservative traits (smaller and entire leaves), as *Baccharis uncinella* DC. (Asteraceae) (Matos et al. 2020) in this vegetation. Besides, suppose plants with big-toothed leaves are herbs and hence are more dependent on water uptake from fog via leaf (Fig 4, E-F). In that case, such plants can become more threatened in the future, since fog-uplift from vegetation is expected in high altitudes ecosystems due to warming global (Still et al. 1999). In this case, *Leptostelma maximum* would be under more mortality risk in the future for higher leaf transpiration and foliar water uptake reduction. The death of some species and permanence of other ones can cause plant turnover, which might cause changes in community structure, ecosystem services (i.e. water cycle) and the regime of fires in the environment (Nolan et al. 2020; Matos et al. 2020).

In synthesis, climate models can be used not only for paleoclimate reconstruction but also to predict future flora changes. As we showed here, an increase in the proportion of plants with conservative traits (more resistance to drought) and a decrease of acquisitive traits indicate changes in the turnover of species in tropical montane grassland. However, only morphological traits cannot provide mechanisms that explain plant community changes under drought, being needed physiological traits (i. e., more integrative traits) inclusion to understand plant vulnerability in the system better.

Acknowledgements

This paper is part of PhD thesis of BBZ. We are thankful to Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (Capes) (Finance code 88882.182450/2018-01) and Faperj nota 10 (Finance code E-26/200.368/2020) for her scholarship. BHPR was supported by Faperj (Bolsa Jovem Cientista do Nosso Estado-Faperj; E-26/202.722/2019) and Prociencia Program (UERJ). We do not have conflict of interest.

#### REFERENCES

Assis MV, Mattos EA De. 2016. Vulnerabilidade da Vegetação de Campos de Altitude às Mudanças Climáticas. Oecologia Aust. 20(02):162–174. doi:10.4257/oeco.2016.2002.03. https://revistas.ufrj.br/index.php/oa/article/view/8357.

Bailey IW, Sinnott EW. 1915. A Botanical Index of Cretaceous and Terciary Climates. Science (80-). 41(1066):831–834. doi:10.1126/science.41.1066.831. http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.41.1066.831.

Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Sack L. 2012. The determinants of leaf turgor loss point and prediction of drought tolerance of species and biomes: A global meta-analysis. Ecol Lett. 15(5):393–405. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01751.x.

Berry ZC, Emery NC, Gotsch SG, Goldsmith GR. 2019. Foliar water uptake: Processes, pathways, and integration into plant water budgets. Plant Cell Environ. 42(2):410–423. doi:10.1111/pce.13439. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/pce.13439.

Canny MJ. 1990. Tansley Review No. 22 What becomes of the transpiration stream? New Phytol. 114(3):341–368. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1990.tb00404.x.

Choat B, Brodribb T, Brodersen C, Duursma R, López R, Medlyn B. 2018. Triggers of tree

mortality under drought drought and forest mortality. Nature. 558:531–539. doi:10.1038/s41586-018-0240-x. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0240-x.

Damour G, Simonneau T, Cochard H, Urban L. 2010. An overview of models of stomatal conductance at the leaf level. Plant, Cell Environ. 33(9):1419–1438. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2010.02181.x.

Eller CB, Lima AL, Oliveira RS. 2013. Foliar uptake of fog water and transport belowground alleviates drought effects in the cloud forest tree species, Drimys brasiliensis (Winteraceae). New Phytol. 199(1):151–162. doi:10.1111/nph.12248.

Feng X, Porporato A, Rodriguez-Iturbe I. 2013. Changes in rainfall seasonality in the tropics.NatClimChang.3(9):811–815.doi:10.1038/nclimate1907.http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1907.

Givnish T. 1979. On the Adaptive Significance of Leaf Form. In: Topics in Plant Population Biology. London: Macmillan Education UK. p. 375–407. http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/283995.

Givnish TJ. 1984. Leaf and Canopy adaptations in tropical forests. In: Medina E, Mooney HA, Vázquez-Yánes C, editors. Physiological ecology of plants of the wet tropics. Vol. 12. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. (Tasks for vegetation Science). p. 256. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/978-94-009-7299-5.

Goldsmith GR, Matzke NJ, Dawson TE. 2013. The incidence and implications of clouds for cloud forest plant water relations. Ecol Lett. 16(3):307–314. doi:10.1111/ele.12039.

Gottschlich DE, Smith AP. 1982. Convective heat transfer characteristics of toothed leaves. Oecologia. 53(3):418–420. doi:10.1007/BF00389024. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF00389024.

Greenwood DR. 1992. Taphonomic constraints on foliar physiognomie interpretations of Late Cretaceous and tertiary palaeoeclimates. Rev Palaeobot Palynol. 71(1–4):149–190. doi:10.1016/0034-6667(92)90161-9.

Grossiord C, Buckley TN, Cernusak LA, Novick KA, Poulter B, Siegwolf RTW, Sperry JS, McDowell NG. 2020. Plant responses to rising vapor pressure deficit. New Phytol. 226(6):1550–1566. doi:10.1111/nph.16485.

ICMBio. 2014. Plano de Manejo do Parque Nacional do Itatiaia, Encarte 3 - Análise da Unidade de Conservação. :547.

IPCC, 2021: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.

Kennedy EM, Arens NC, Reichgelt T, Spicer RA, Spicer TEV, Stranks L, Yang J. 2014. Deriving temperature estimates from Southern Hemisphere leaves. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol. 412:80–90. doi:10.1016/j.palaeo.2014.07.015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2014.07.015.

Körner C. 2007. The use of 'altitude' in ecological research. Trends Ecol Evol. 22(11):569– 574. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2007.09.006. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0169534707002819.

Leuschner C. 2000. Are High Elevations in Tropical Mountains Arid Environments for Plants? Ecology. 81(5):1425. doi:10.2307/177219. http://www.jstor.org/stable/177219?origin=crossref.

Limm EB, Simonin KA, Bothman AG, Dawson TE. 2009. Foliar water uptake: A common water acquisition strategy for plants of the redwood forest. Oecologia. 161(3):449–459. doi:10.1007/s00442-009-1400-3.

Little SA, Kembel SW, Wilf P. 2010. Paleotemperature Proxies from Leaf Fossils Reinterpreted in Light of Evolutionary History. Farke AA, editor. PLoS One. 5(12):e15161. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015161. https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015161.

Lyra A, Tavares P, Chou SC, Sueiro G, Dereczynski C, Sondermann M, Silva A, Marengo J, Giarolla A. 2018. Climate change projections over three metropolitan regions in Southeast Brazil using the non-hydrostatic Eta regional climate model at 5-km resolution. Theor Appl Climatol. 132(1–2):663–682. doi:10.1007/s00704-017-2067-z. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00704-017-2067-z.

Martínez-Vilalta J, Poyatos R, Aguadé D, Retana J, Mencuccini M. 2014. A new look at water transport regulation in plants. New Phytol. 204(1):105–115. doi:10.1111/nph.12912. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/nph.12912.

Matos IS, Eller CB, Oliveras I, Mantuano D, Rosado BHP. 2020 Aug 10. Three eco-physiological strategies of response to drought maintain the form and function of a tropical montane grassland. J Ecol.:1365-2745.13481. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.13481. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1365-2745.13481.

McDowell N, Pockman WT, Allen CD, Breshears DD, Cobb N, Kolb T, Plaut J, Sperry J, West A, Williams DG, et al. 2008. Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? New Phytol. 178(4):719–739. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02436.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02436.x.

Méndez-Toribio M, Ibarra-Manríquez G, Paz H, Lebrija-Trejos E. 2020. Atmospheric and soil drought risks combined shape community assembly of trees in a tropical dry forest. J Ecol. 108(4):1347–1357. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.13355.

Moles AT. 2018. Being John Harper: Using evolutionary ideas to improve understanding of global patterns in plant traits. J Ecol. 106(1):1–18. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12887.

Nicotra AB, Leigh A, Boyce CK, Jones CS, Niklas KJ, Royer DL, Tsukaya H. 2011. The evolution and functional significance of leaf shape in the angiosperms. Funct Plant Biol. 38:535–552. doi:10.1071/FP11057. http://www.publish.csiro.au/?paper=FP11057.

Nolan RH, Blackman CJ, de Dios VR, Choat B, Medlyn BE, Li X, Bradstock RA, Boer MM. 2020. Linking Forest Flammability and Plant Vulnerability to Drought. Forests. 11(7):779.

doi:10.3390/f11070779.

Oliveira RS, Eller CB, Barros F de V., Hirota M, Brum M, Bittencourt P. 2021. Linking plant hydraulics and the fast–slow continuum to understand resilience to drought in tropical ecosystems. New Phytol. 230(3):904–923. doi:10.1111/nph.17266. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/nph.17266.

Paine CET, Deasey A, Duthie AB. 2018. Towards the general mechanistic prediction of community dynamics. Thompson K, editor. Funct Ecol. 32(7):1681–1692. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.13096. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1365-2435.13096.

PBMC. 2013. Contribuição do grupo de trabalho 1 ao primeiro relatório de avaliação nacional do painel brasileiro de mudanças climáticas. Sumário Executivo GT1. 1:24.

Peppe DJ, Baumgartner A, Flynn A, Blonder B. 2018. Reconstructing Paleoclimate and Paleoecology Using Fossil Leaves. In: Croft DA, Su DF, Simpson SW, editors. Methods in Paleoecology. Cham: Springer International Publishing. (Vertebrate Paleobiology and Paleoanthropology). p. 289–317. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-94265-0.

Peppe DJ, Royer DL, Cariglino B, Oliver SY, Newman S, Leight E, Enikolopov G, Fernandez-Burgos M, Herrera F, Adams JM, et al. 2011. Sensitivity of leaf size and shape to climate: global patterns and paleoclimatic applications. New Phytol. 190(3):724–739. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03615.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03615.x.

Pierce S, Negreiros D, Cerabolini BEL, Kattge J, Díaz S, Kleyer M, Shipley B, Wright SJ, Soudzilovskaia NA, Onipchenko VG, et al. 2017. A global method for calculating plant CSR ecological strategies applied across biomes world-wide. Baltzer J, editor. Funct Ecol. 31(2):444–457. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12722. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/1365-2435.12722.

Press C. 2008. The Dilemma of Plants : To Grow or Defend Author (s): Daniel A. Herms and William J. Mattson Source : The Quarterly Review of Biology, Vol. 67, No. 3 (Sep., 1992), pp. 283-335 Published by : The University of Chicago Press Stable URL : http: Rev Lit Arts Am. 67(3):283–335. doi:10.1007/sll466-009-0028-z. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2830650.

Rosado BHP, Mattos EA. 2017. On the relative importance of <scp>CSR</scp> ecological strategies and integrative traits to explain species dominance at local scales. Baltzer J, editor. Funct Ecol. 31(10):1969–1974. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12894. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1365-2435.12894.

Rosado BHP, de Mattos EA. 2017. On the relative importance of CSR ecological strategies and integrative traits to explain species dominance at local scales. Funct Ecol. 31(10):1969–1974. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12894.

Royer DL, Kooyman RM, Little SA, Wilf P. 2009. Ecology of leaf teeth: A multi-site analysis from an Australian subtropical rainforest. Am J Bot. 96(4):738–750. doi:10.3732/ajb.0800282.

Royer DL, McElwain JC, Adams JM, Wilf P. 2008. Sensitivity of leaf size and shape to climate within Acer rubrum and Quercus kelloggii. New Phytol. 179(3):808–817.

doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02496.x. 8137.2008.02496.x.

Royer DL, Wilf P. 2006. Why Do Toothed Leaves Correlate with Cold Climates? GasExchange at Leaf Margins Provides New Insights into a Classic Paleotemperature Proxy. Int JPlantSci.Sci.167(1):11–18.http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/497995.

Royer DL, Wilf P, Janesko DA, Kowalski EA, Dilcher DL. 2005. Correlations of climate and plant ecology to leaf size and shape: potential proxies for the fossil record. Am J Bot. 92(7):1141–1151. doi:10.3732/ajb.92.7.1141. http://doi.wiley.com/10.3732/ajb.92.7.1141.

Safford HD. 1999b. Brazilian Paramos I. An introduction to the physical environment and vegetation of the campos de altitude. J Biogeogr. 26(4):693–712. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2699.1999.00313.x. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1365-2699.1999.00313.x.

Safford HD. 2001. Safford\_2001\_Brazilian Paramos. 111. Patterns and Rates of Postfire Regeneration in the Campos de Altitude.pdf. 33(2):282–302.

Scholander PF, Hammel HT, Bradstreet ED, Hemmingsen EA. 1965. Sap pressure in vascular plants. Science (80-). 148(3668):339–346. doi:10.1126/science.148.3668.339.

Scoffoni C, Rawls M, Mckown A, Cochard H, Sack L. 2011. Decline of leaf hydraulic conductance with dehydration: Relationship to leaf size and venation architecture. Plant Physiol. 156(2):832–843. doi:10.1104/pp.111.173856.

Segadas-Vianna F, Dau L. 1965. Ecology of the Itatiaia range, Southeastern Brazil. II – Climates and altitudinal climatic zonation. :53, 31–53.

Still CJ, Foster PN, Schneider SH. 1999. Simulating the effects of climate change on tropical montane cloud forests. Nature. 398(6728):608–610. doi:10.1038/19293.

Vogel S. 1970. Convective cooling at low airspeeds and the shapes of broad leaves. J Exp Bot. 21(1):91–101. doi:10.1093/jxb/21.1.91.

Volaire F. 2018. A unified framework of plant adaptive strategies to drought: Crossing scales and disciplines. Glob Chang Biol. 24(7):2929–2938. doi:10.1111/gcb.14062. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ijlh.12426.

Volaire F, Gleason SM, Delzon S. 2020. What do you mean "functional" in ecology? Patterns versus processes. (August):1–11. doi:10.1002/ece3.6781.

Wolf JA. 1990. Palaeobotanical evidence for a marked temperature increase following the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary. Nature. 343(6254):153–156. doi:10.1038/343153a0. http://www.nature.com/articles/343153a0.

Wolfe J. 1993. A method of obtaining climatic parameters from leaf assemblages. https://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/b2040.

Wolfe JA, Upchurch GR. 1986. Vegetation, climatic and floral changes at the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary. Nature. 324(6093):148–152. doi:10.1038/324148a0. http://www.nature.com/articles/324148a0. Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, Cavender-Bares J, Chapin T, Cornelissen JHC, Diemer M, et al. 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature. 428(6985):821–827. doi:10.1038/nature02403. http://www.nature.com/articles/nature02403.

Yang J, Spicer RA, Spicer TE V., Arens NC, Jacques FMB, Su T, Kennedy EM, Herman AB, Steart DC, Srivastava G, et al. 2015. Leaf form-climate relationships on the global stage: an ensemble of characters. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 24(10):1113–1125. doi:10.1111/geb.12334. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/geb.12334.

Supplementary material

Table S1 - Species of plants from flora of Itatiaia (except monocots) and their life form and leaf margin type in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Family	Species	Life-form	Leaf margin
Apiaceae	Eryngium glaziovianum Urb.	Herb	Entire
A no.00000000	Oxypetalum glaziovii (E.Fourn.) Fontella	Shmb	
Apocynaceae	& Marquete	SIIIuu	Toothed
Asteracaee	Baccharis uncinella DC.	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	Achyrocline satureioides (Lam.) DC.	Herb	Entire
Asteraceae	Baccharis altimontana G.Heiden et al.	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	Baccharis brevifolia DC.	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Baccharis glaziovii Baker	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	Baccharis grandimucronata Malag.	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	Baccharis itatiaiae Wawra	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Baccharis parvidentata Malag.	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Baccharis pseudomyriochepala Malag	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Baccharis retusa DC.	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Baccharis stylosa Gardner	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Baccharis tarchonanthoides DC.	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Chaptalia runcinata Kunth	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	Chionolaena capitata (Baker) Freire	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	Gamochaeta purpurea (L.) Cabrera	Herb	Entire

Asteraceae	Graphistylis itatiaiae (Dusén) B. Nord.	Shrub	Toothed
Astornoono	Grazielia gaudichaudiana (DC) R.M.	Shruh	
Asteraceae	King & H. Rob	Sillub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Hieracium commersonii Monnier	Herb	Entire
Asteraceae	Hypochaeris lutea (Vell.) Britton	Herb	Toothed
Asteraceae	Leptostelma maximum D.Don	Herb	Toothed
Astanagaga	Leptostelma tweediei (Hook & Arn)	Hanh	
Asteraceae	DJN Hind & GL Nesom	Hero	Toothed
Asteraceae	Mikania camporum B.L. Rob.	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	<i>Mikania glaziovii</i> Baker	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Senecio adamantinus Bong	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Senecio nemoralis Dusén	Shrub	Entire
Asteraceae	Senecio oleosus Vell.	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Stevia camporum Baker	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Trixis glaziovii Baker	Shrub	Toothed
Asteraceae	Symphyopappus reitzii (Cabrera)	C11	
	R.M.King & H.Rob.	Shrub	Toothed
Campanulaceae	Lobelia camporum Pohl	Herb	Toothed
Caryophyllaceae	Cerastium dicrotrichum Fenzl ex Rohrb.	Herb	Entire
Friender	Agarista hispidula (DC.) Hook. ex.	Charach	
Ericaceae	Nied.	Shrub	Entire
Friender	Gaultheria serrata (Vell.) Sleumer ex.	Charach	
Епсасеае	KinGouv.	Shrub	Toothed
Ericaceae	Gaylussacia amoena Cham.	Shrub	Entire
Ericaceae	Gaylussacia chamissonis Meisn.	Shrub	Entire
Ericaceae	Gaylussacia fasciculata Gardner	Shrub	Toothed
Escalloniaceae	Escallonia laevis (Vell.) Sleumer	Shrub	Toothed
Fabaceae	Lupinus gilbertianus C.P.Sm	Herb	Entire
Fabaceae	Mimosa itatiaiensis Dusén	Shrub	Toothed
Fabaceae	Mimosa monticola Dusén	Shrub	Entire
Geraniaceae	Geranium brasiliense Progel	Herb	Toothed
Lamiaceae	Lepechinia speciosa (A.St.Hil.ex Benth.) Epling	Shrub	Toothed

Letribulariaceae	Utricularia reniformis A StHill	Herb	Entire			
Melastomataceae	Leandra quinquedentata (DC.) Cogn.	Shrub	Entire			
	Pleroma hospita (Schrank et Mart. ex					
Melastomataceae	DC.) Triana	Shrub	Toothed			
Melastomataceae	Tibouchina sebastianopolitana Cogn.	Shrub	Toothed			
Myrtaceae	Myrceugenia alpigena (DC.) Landrum	Shrub	Entire			
0	Fuchsia campos-portoi Pilg. & Schulze-	01 1				
Unagraceae	Menz	Shrub	Toothed			
Orobanchaceae	Esterhazya splendida J.C.Mikan	Shrub	Entire			
Oxalidaceae	Oxalis confertissima A.StHil.	Shrub	Entire			
Plantaginaceae	Plantago australis Lam.	Herb	Entire			
Plantaginaceae	Plantago guilleminiana Decne	Herb	Toothed			
Polygonaceae	Polygala brasiliensis L.	Herb	Entire			
Polygonaceae	Polygala campestres Gardner	Herb	Entire			
Primulaceae	Myrsine gardneriana A. DC.	Shrub	Entire			
Proteaceae	Roupala montana Aubl.	Shrub	Toothed			
Rosaceae	Fragaria vesca L.	Herb	Toothed			
Dubiassa	Coccocypselum cordifolium Nees. &	Hank				
Kublaceae	Mart.	neib	Entire			
Rubiaceae	Galium humile Cham. & Schltdl.	Herb	Entire			
Rubiaceae	Coccocypselum condalia Pers.	Herb	Entire			
Symplocaceae	Symplocos itatiaiae Wawra	Shrub	Toothed			

Legend: The species also used in analyses about physiological traits are in bold. Source: The author, 2022.

Samples	Country	MAT	Three_DRY
Alex Knob 5	New Zealand	9.372	67.463
Apies Bay	South Africa	16.725	4.422
Argentina 1	Argentina	7.414	14.797
Argentina 2	Argentina	7.353	14.852
Baie d'Magenta	New	22.489	16.849
	Caledonia		
Banks Peninsula	New Zealand	11.325	13.74
Bellbird Walk	New Zealand	8.161	33.693
Bilburin National Park	Australia	20.589	11.895
Binna Burra Basalt Burned	Australia	17.472	20.543
Binna Burra Basalt	Australia	17.469	20.543
Binna Burra Rhyolite	Australia	17.503	20.566
Blue Duck	New Zealand	9.126	19.437
Bowling Green Bay NP	Australia	23.289	4.431
Brunner Peninsula	New Zealand	8.123	33.897
Buffelsnek	South Africa	15.799	20.273
Camiri	Bolivia	22.419	2.911
Cape Vidal	South Africa	21.741	18.207
Clump Mountain NP	Australia	24.2	20.893
Cochabamba	Bolivia	15.288	1.008
Concepcion	Bolivia	24.404	8.959
Conondale NP	Australia	18.444	17.583
D'Aguilar NP	Australia	18.912	15.467
Daintree NP	Australia	23.972	6.538
Ella Bay NP	Australia	24.032	25.102
Eungella NP	Australia	20.551	8.706
Forest Burn	New Zealand	8.796	35.225
Giants Castle	South Africa	11.828	4.91
Girringun NP	Australia	22.394	6.466

Table S2 - Local of data extraction, country of data extraction, mean temperature per year (MAT) and precipitation in the three months driest (Three DRY) of species from Southern Hemisphere flora.

Goukamma	South Africa	16.948	18.733
Hollyford Valley	New Zealand	6.984	58.799
Hull River NP	Australia	23.936	17.426
Kaituna Track	New Zealand	11.888	53.03
Karee Kranz 1	South Africa	18.515	1.598
Karee Kranz 3	South Africa	19.811	1.187
Karee Kranz 4	South Africa	18.543	1.585
Keka	Fiji	25.198	24.12
Kuranda NP	Australia	24.044	10.231
Lady Lake	New Zealand	10.7	80.21
Lake Colenso	New Zealand	9.043	34.114
Lake Mary	New Zealand	10.795	82.402
Lake Wilkie	New Zealand	9.782	25.458
Le Chateau	New Zealand	6.54	53.615
Link Track 4	New Zealand	10.032	37.278
Long Hilly Track	New Zealand	9.172	24.707
Marloth	South Africa	16.546	11.105
Monteagudo	Bolivia	21.06	2.537
Mount Archer NP	Australia	21.959	9.458
Mount Bauple NP	Australia	19.874	13.319
Mount Fyffe	New Zealand	11.481	20.513
Mount Koghis	Fiji	22.759	15.348
Natua	Fiji	25.135	23.405
Otira Gorge 1	New Zealand	6.806	63.226
Otira Gorge 2	New Zealand	6.862	63.491
Otira Gorge 3	New Zealand	6.942	64.224
Otira Gorge 4	New Zealand	7.017	65.341
Otira Gorge 5	New Zealand	8.592	81.694
Otira Gorge 6	New Zealand	10.585	80.72
Padilla	Bolivia	17.776	1.753
Paluma Range NP	Australia	21.507	7.366
Puhipuhi	New Zealand	9.213	19.895
Punakaiki A	New Zealand	10.939	61.949

Punakaiki B	New Zealand	10.806	61.072
Rainbow Gorge	South Africa	12.927	4.038
Riv. Bleue	New	21.526	20.554
	Caledonia		
San Ignacio	Bolivia	24.509	7.378
San Jose	Bolivia	25.365	7.234
Santa Cruz	Bolivia	23.729	14.29
Seqaqa	Fiji	25.188	22.549
Shallow Bay	New Zealand	8.634	36.466
Sheoak Ridge	Australia	23.801	5.511
Sluicebox Footbridge	New Zealand	8.286	44.871
Smithy Creek	New Zealand	6.953	52.494
Sorata	Bolivia	10.296	2.461
South Mavora Lake	New Zealand	6.892	35.407
St Lucia	South Africa	21.708	24.023
Storms River	South Africa	15.565	21.488
Sucre	Bolivia	15.401	1.152
Tarabuco	Bolivia	13.066	1.123
Tautuku Coastal	New Zealand	9.785	25.406
Te Anau Downs	New Zealand	9.303	49.528
Tongariro 1	New Zealand	8.318	41.254
Tongariro 4	New Zealand	9.585	28.871
Tonteldoos	South Africa	15.513	2.194
Tronson	New Zealand	13.625	32.882
Ulva Island	New Zealand	9.723	27.513
Wonderkrater	South Africa	18.865	1.399
Wongi NP	Australia	19.955	13.401
Wooroonoran NP	Australia	23.085	18.277
Woowoonga NP	Australia	20.398	12.659
Zudanez	Bolivia	16.032	1.122
Itatiaia RJ	Brazil	14.400	50.000

Source: The author, 2022.

Table S3 - Summary of results of Two-way ANOVA between physiological traits of herbs and shrubs plants with leaf teeth and entire leaves in a tropical montane grassland, Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Responsive	Predictor	Sum sq	Mean sq	F value	DF	P value
variable	variable					
Pd Ψ	teeth	0.6244	0.6244	11.948	1	0.01
	Life form	0.0067	0.0067	0.128	1	0.73
	Teeth:life form	0.0097	0.0097	0.185	1	0.68
	Residuals	0.2613	0.0523		5	
$\mathrm{Md}\Psi$	teeth	0.8165	0.8165	8.252	1	0.03
	Life form	0.0003	0.0003	0.0003	1	0.95
	Teeth:life form	0	0	0	1	0.98
	Residuals	0.4947	0.0989		5	
Pd Gs	teeth	5137	5137	1.121	1	0.338
	Life form	5491	5491	1.198	1	0.324
	Teeth:life form	554	554	0.121	1	0.742
	Residuals	22920	4584		5	
Md Gs	teeth	17115	17115	13.714	1	0.014
	Life form	4471	4471	3.583	1	0.117
	Teeth:life form	33	33	0.027	1	0.876
	Residuals	6240	1248		5	
FWU (log)	teeth	0.25	0.255	0.306	1	0.5819
	Life form	7.63	7.627	9.168	1	0.0036
	Teeth:life form	0.80	0.803	0.965	1	0.3298
	Residuals	46.22	0.811		61	
FWUrate (sqrt)	teeth	0.0050	0.0050	0.165	1	0.6859
	Life form	0.3951	0.3951	13.168	1	0.0005
	Teeth:life form	0.0612	0.0612	2.039	1	0.1584
	Residuals	1.6157	0.0283		61	
TLP	teeth	0.0002	0.00016	0.001	1	0.976

Life form	0.0047	0.00472	0.031	1	0.868
Teeth:life	0.168	0.16707	1.091	5	0.344
Residuals	0.7702	0.15404			

Legend: PD  $\Psi$  = leaf water potential in predawn, MD  $\Psi$  = leaf water potential in midday, PD Gs = stomatal conductance in predawn, MD Gs = stomatal conductance in midday, FWU = percentage of foliar water uptake and FWU rate = average rate of foliar water uptake and TLP = leaf water potential at turgor loss point. Sum sq means sum of squares, Mean sq means the mean square value and, DF degree of freddon. Values with p<0.05 are in bold and means significance. Source: The author, 2022.

Figure S1 - Difference between leaf water potential at turgor loss point (TLP) and plants with entire or toothed leaf margin (A) and TLP and herbs and shrubs of woody angiosperms (except monocots) (B) in a tropical montane grassland, localized in the Itatiaia, Rio de



Janeiro, Brazil.

Source: The author, 2022.



Figure S2 - Boxplots with interactions between ecophysiological traits (except foliar water uptake) and life form/presence of teeth in leaves

Legend: Boxplots with interactions between predawn water potential (PD  $\Psi$ ) (A), midday water potential (MD  $\Psi$ ) (B), predawn stomatal conductance (PD Gs) (C), midday stomatal conductance (MD Gs) and plants with entire margin and toothed margin in the tropical montane grassland (D), located in the Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Different letters mean p<0.05.

Figure S3 - Boxplots with interactions between leaf wetting traits and life form/presence of teeth in leaves



Legend: Boxplots with interactions between proportion of foliar water uptake (FWU%), (A) and the rate of foliar water uptake (FWU rate) (B)and plants with entire margin and toothed margin in the tropical montane grassland, localized in the Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Different letters mean p<0.05. Source: The author, 2022.</p>

Figure S4 - Integration between leaf water potential at turgor loss point (TLP) in entire and toothed leaves of herbs and shrubs of tropical montane grassland, in Itatiaia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.



Source: The author, 2022.

### **CONCLUSÃO GERAL**

"Penso que não cegámos, penso que estamos cegos, Cegos que veem, Cegos que, vendo, não veem"

#### Trecho de Ensaio sobre a cegueira, José Saramago

Embora haja um crescente interesse a respeito dos mecanismos fisiológicos por trás do que determina a vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca predita por modelos climáticos, muitos aspectos ainda permanecem não claros na literatura. Essa tese contribuiu com esse tópico através do emprego de uma abordagem que avaliou o papel dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar na vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca entre ecossistemas e cenários climáticos contrastantes, na qual usamos características funcionais morfo-fisiológicas permitindo capturar mais flutuações no ambiente quando necessário. O ponto-chave que permeou esse estudo foi: embora a literatura sobre efeitos da seca em plantas esteja em rápido crescimento, muitas vezes essa literatura investe sua atenção na água obtida por precipitação e negligencia os efeitos que os eventos de molhabilidade foliar possam exercer no funcionamento das plantas. Dessa forma, essa tese avançou no sentido de mostrar evidências de que a molhabilidade foliar em plantas deve ser inserida no contexto de vulnerabilidade à seca de uma dada vegetação, bem como, propôs direcionamentos a respeito das principais limitações e lacunas a serem exploradas no tema.

Através de uma abordagem meta-analítica no capítulo 1, acessamos os reais benefícios dos eventos de molhabilidade em plantas, uma questão até então com respostas incongruentes na literatura. Nossos resultados mostram que esse fenômeno não deve ser negligenciado, uma vez que contribui para o melhoramento do status hídrico, como refletido pelo aumento do potencial hídrico, embora tenha efeitos nulos na fotossíntese e transpiração foliar. Também identificamos que parâmetros como a precipitação acumulada/média, a altitude são importantes mediadores de respostas ecofisiológicas em plantas sob eventos de molhabilidade e, portanto, devem ser considerados em discussões sobre esse tópico. Em seguida, evidenciamos algumas limitações e maiores lacunas a serem investigadas a partir de nossa base de dados. A maior limitação diz respeito à necessidade de padronização entre métodos, o que dificulta a comparação entre estudos mesmo numa abordagem meta-analítica. Quanto as lacunas, uma maior necessidade de estudos justamente em áreas com maiores limitações hídricas (por baixa precipitação e/ou elevada demanda evaporativa), como florestas tropicais

secas e desertos, assim como em ecossistemas com mais de 2000 m de altitude acima do nível do mar (e.g. parámos, punas e campos de altitude). Adicionalmente, sugerimos também um maior foco em estudos que buscam investigar o efeito do orvalho na vegetação (um evento de molhabilidade foliar global, mas negligenciado em relação aos demais).

Saindo de uma escala global e entrando em uma escala local, especificamente na floresta atlântica e nos campos de altitude no sudeste brasileiro, o capítulo 2 comparou respostas de plantas filogeneticamente próximas à seca ocorrentes nesses dois ambientes considerando o papel dos eventos de molhabilidade foliar em ambas as vegetações. A partir dessa proposta identificamos que mesmo que ambas as vegetações possuam maior resistência à seca quando comparadas sob similar média de precipitação por ano, elas são contrastantes entre si, uma vez que plantas de campos de altitude são mais resistentes à seca como refletido por predominância de características funcionais conservativas, além de exibir maior absorção de água pelas folhas, o que indica que FWU nem sempre é relacionado a estratégia de uso de recursos predominante entre vegetações. No entanto se considerarmos cenários de mudança climática onde é previsto uma redução do contato neblina-vegetação em elevadas altitudes, uma maior vulnerabilidade à seca é esperada em ambos os ambientes. Isso porque mesmo que as espécies da floresta tropical sejam mais sensíveis à seca atualmente, as plantas de campos serão aquelas com menor exposição a neblina nas próximas décadas, como indicado nessa tese pelos baixos números de eventos de neblina registrados durante o período de estudo. De forma geral, esse capítulo mostrou que se não incluíssemos o papel da neblina na comparação entre áreas não seriamos capazes de identificar também a potencial vulnerabilidade à seca de campos de altitude devido aos efeitos do aquecimento global na formação da neblina.

Levando em consideração que os modelos climáticos atmosféricos, apesar de abrangentes, podem ser menos precisos quanto à resposta de vegetações montanhosas e frequentemente nebulares à seca, no capítulo 3 acessamos modelos paleoclimáticos com base em características foliares x clima e o usamos para projetar o perfil funcional de uma vegetação de altitude no cenário climático de 2100. Através desse modelo identificamos que mesmo que haja aumento da precipitação até 2100, esse aumento não será capaz de compensar os efeitos do aumento de temperatura global no ambiente, como refletido pelo aumento na proporção de características foliares conservativas (e.g. plantas com folhas com margem inteira e menores). Além da redução na proporção de plantas denteadas no futuro indicar uma forma de economizar água em plantas (i.e. uma menor superfície foliar possui uma menor perda de água para o ambiente), um entendimento mais profundo sobre os mecanismos por trás da mudança na composição da flora da vegetação foi possível através de

características ecofisiológicas. Dessa forma, identificamos que embora plantas denteadas mantenham o potencial hídrico mais positivo que plantas com folhas inteiras atualmente, elas tendem a perder mais água para atmosfera por condutância estomática em situação de seca. Em um futuro no qual a demanda evaporativa é maior e os intervalos entre chuvas maiores, possuir maior superfície foliar e maior condutância estomática reflete em uma maior perda de água via folha o que pode explicar a redução na proporção de espécies com folhas maiores e/ou denteadas até 2100.

Em síntese, as mudanças climáticas são um fenômeno mundial e desdobramentos em secas (seja atmosférica ou do solo) já veem afetando ecossistemas ao redor do mundo. O aumento da velocidade com que ocorrem as mudanças climáticas podem tornar os eventos de seca ainda mais frequentes e intensos de forma acelerada, tornando difícil uma resposta no mesmo ritmo dos organismos. Esse cenário já não permite que continuemos sendo "Cegos que veem", de modo que precisamos enxergar os efeitos das mudanças climáticas para desacelerá-las. Como evidenciado aqui, mesmo que a seca afete de forma diferente comunidades vegetais de plantas, ambas estão propensas a serem afetadas negativamente e correm maiores riscos de mortalidade diante da restrição hídrica em curto ou longo prazo. Tais achados podem causar reflexos em maiores níveis de organização biológica, com desdobramentos em perda de biodiversidade e redução de recursos disponíveis para a sociedade. Por exemplo, uma maior mortalidade em plantas de floresta montanas pode desencadear a perda de produtividade e redução de água potável, já que montanhas são áreas onde se originam nascentes e riachos podendo gerar colapsos no ambiente e na sociedade.

A partir desse trabalho novas perguntas podem ser originadas para o melhor entendimento sobre como plantas lidam com a seca, como por exemplo identificar a capacidade plástica de plantas à mudanças, os efeitos da mortalidade de plantas para o ecossistema, além da capacidade de resiliência das plantas através de "refilling" por eventos de molhabilidade foliar para que assim vejamos além da resistência o quanto a vegetação poderia ser resiliente à seca. No entanto, reforçamos que as novas perguntas já não devem negligenciar os eventos de molhabilidade foliar, os quais, conforme mostramos nessa tese são capazes de contribuir para o melhoramento do status hídrico das plantas, e portanto, quando não considerados podem gerar resultados diferentes sobre quão vulneráveis as plantas realmente são à seca. Dessa forma, consideramos indispensáveis tal processo na avaliação de vulnerabilidade de plantas à seca e na construção de modelos realísticos sobre esse tópico.

# Conceito Definição Processo em que ocorre o fluxo de água na forma de vapor ou Absorção hídrica foliar água deposita na superfície foliar (mais saturada) para o interior do mesofilo da folha (menos saturado) num fluxo osmótico reverso ao sentido solo-planta-atmosfera (Berry et al. 2019). Cavitação Processo em que ocorre a formação de bolhas no interior do xilema (Tyree e Sperry 1989) CLAMP (Climate Leaf Método analítico que utiliza a relação fisionomia de folha de Analysis Multivariate plantas x clima, como base para reconstrução do clima passado Programe) com base na fisionomia de folhas fósseis. Clamp utiliza um banco de dados global atual formado a partir da proporção de fisionomias de folhas por localidade e um banco de dados de características climáticas (Wolfe 1993). Também se refere a plataforma online de mesmo nome onde estão disponíveis databases globais e demais informações sobre essa ferramenta (Yang et al. 2011) Condição Fatores abióticos que influenciam no funcionamento dos seres vivos (Begon et al. 2007) Embolismo Processo em que ocorre a ruptura do fluxo hídrico no xilema devido a formação de bolhas de ar (Tyree e Sperry 1989) Estratégia Um conjunto de características funcionais ou características genéticas similares recorrentes dentre espécies ou populações resultando em uma similar resposta ecológica (Grime 2001) Estratégia aquisitiva de uso Estratégia predominante em áreas com recursos abundantes de recursos caracterizada pela aquisição de recursos o que reflete em um rápido crescimento. Em plantas usualmente essa estratégia é caracterizada por folhas grandes, menor densidade da madeira e maior taxa fotossintética (Wright et al. 2004, Reich 2014)

## GLOSSÁRIO

Estratégia conservativa de	Estratégia predominante em áreas com recursos limitados,
uso de recursos	caracterizada pela conservação de recursos o que reflete em um lento crescimento. Em plantas usualmente essa estratégia é caracterizada por folhas pequenas, maior densidade da madeira e menor taxa fotossintética (Wright et al. 2004, Reich 2014)
Evento climático extremo	Sucessão de eventos climáticos que exibem maior intensidade e/ou magnitude do que é registrado em média numa sequência histórica de eventos (e.g. seca, inundações, ciclones em maiores frequências, intensidades ou magnitudes) (Trenberth et al. 2015).
Evento de molhabilidade/ Precipitação oculta/ Precipitação horizontal	Eventos atmosféricos que compreendem agua em suspensão (neblina névoa ou orvalho) ou chuvas fracas (Nicholson 1930; Burgess e Dawson 2004) inferiores a 5 mm (Wu et al. 2016).
Evento de Molhabilidade foliar	É caracterizado pela interceptação dos eventos de molhabilidade por folhas de plantas (Dawson and Goldsmith 2018).
Filtro ambiental	Processo em que o ambiente exerce uma pressão sobre os organismos de modo que aqueles que possuem características funcionais que os permitam lidar melhor com a alteração do ambiente permanecem no ambiente, enquanto aqueles que não as tem ficam retidos (Weiher e Keddy 2004).
Gotejamento da neblina (Fog- drip)	Água da neblina que é depositada sobre a superfície foliar e escorre em direção ao solo, o umedendo. (Baguskas et al. 2017).
Modelo de reconstrução paleoclimática	Modelos estatísticos construídos com base na morfologia de fósseis, dendrocronologia, taxa de deposição de neve ou outro tipo de dado que possa ser usado em série como proxy para reconstruir as características climáticas de um dado período (Cane et al. 2005).
Recursos	Tudo que é consumido de alguma forma por algum organismo (e.g. água, nutrientes, espaço) (Tilman 1982)
"Refilling"	Repreenchimento dos vasos condutores embolizados na planta

(Choat et al. 2018)

Seca

Fenômeno em que ocorre uma redução na entrada de água no sistema em relação a períodos anteriores na mesma localidade. A seca pode ser de quatro tipos. A) Seca meteorológica resulta de meses de estiagem acompanhadas de temperaturas acima da média registrada; B) seca agrícola onde existe redução de água no solo por baixa precipitação ou elevada evapotranspiração; C) seca hidrológica: quando estoque de águas se tornam abaixo do normal, e D) atmosférica que se refere a alta demanda evaporativa na atmosfera (Dai 2011; Novick et al. 2016).

VulnerabilidadeÉ o estágio em que uma espécie está ameaçada refletido por<br/>declinío em indivíduos. A vulnerabilidade é composta por três<br/>componentes: exposição, sensibilidade e adaptabilidade. Assim<br/>uma espécie dita vulnerável poderia ter sido exposta a um dado<br/>fator, responder a esse fator com maior sensibilidade (e.g.<br/>ecofisiologia e história de vida) e/ou possuir menor capacidade<br/>adaptativa (e.g. plasticidade adaptativa, taxas adaptativas,<br/>genética) (Dawson et al. 2011).